
 

 

 

 
To: Members of the Governance and 

Audit Committee 
Date: 

 
10 March 2022 
 

 Direct Dial: 
 

01824706204 

 e-mail: democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE to be 
held at 9.30 am on WEDNESDAY, 16 MARCH 2022  VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
G. Williams 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
PART 1 - THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE INVITED TO ATTEND THIS PART OF 
THE MEETING 
 
1 APOLOGIES   

 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  (Pages 5 - 6) 

 Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business 
identified to be considered at this meeting.   
 

3 URGENT MATTERS   

 Notice of items, which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

4 MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 14) 

 To receive the minutes of the Corporate Governance Committee meeting 
held on 26 January 2022 (copy enclosed). 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

5 REVIEW OF COMMISSIONING OLDER PEOPLE'S CARE HOME 
PLACEMENTS  (Pages 15 - 88) 

 To receive the review conducted by Audit Wales in to the Commissioning of 
Older People’s Care Home Placements by North Wales Councils and Betsi 
Cadwaladr University Health Board (copy enclosed). 
 

6 CONSTITUTION UPDATE  (Pages 89 - 126) 

 To receive a report on the updates required to the Constitution as a result of 
changes to legislation (copy enclosed). 
 

7 CONSTITUTION GUIDE  (Pages 127 - 172) 

 To receive a report on the ordinary language guide to the Constitution (copy 
enclosed). 
 

8 LAY MEMBERS OF GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE  (Pages 173 
- 176) 

 To receive a report on the need to recruit lay persons to sit on the Committee 
following the local government election in May 2022 (copy enclosed). 
 

9 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  (Pages 177 - 204) 

 To consider a report by the Head of Internal Audit (copy enclosed) updating 
members on Internal Audit progress. 
 

10 ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT 2020-21  (Pages 205 - 230) 

 To receive a report providing assurance on the complaints handling process 
(Copy enclosed). 
 

11 ANNUAL AUDIT SUMMARY  (Pages 231 - 242) 

 To receive the Annual Audit Summary for Denbighshire County Council 
produced by Audit Wales and sent to the Leader and Chief Executive of the 
Council (copy enclosed). 
 

12 GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT  COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 
243 - 248) 

 To consider the committee’s forward work programme (copy enclosed). 
 

13 FOR INFORMATION - AUDIT WALES REPORT  (Pages 249 - 260) 

 To receive a report on Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement (copy 
enclosed). 
 
 
 
 



 

PART 2 - CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 

 It is recommended in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the Press and Public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item(s) of business because it is 
likely that exempt information (as defined in paragraph 18 of Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed. 
 

14 CYBER SECURITY UPDATE  (Pages 261 - 266) 

 To consider a confidential update report on cyber resilience in the public 
sector (copy enclosed).  
 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors 
 
Ellie Chard 
Tony Flynn 
Martyn Holland 
 

Barry Mellor 
Rhys Thomas 
 

Lay Member 
 
Paul Whitham 
 

 
 

 
COPIES TO: 
 
All Councillors for information 
Press and Libraries 
Town and Community Councils 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

 

 

 
Code of Conduct for Members 
 

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
  

I, (name)   

  

a *member/co-opted member of 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Denbighshire County Council  

 
 

 

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial 
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part III 
of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the following:- 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Date of Disclosure:   

   

Committee (please specify):   

   

Agenda Item No.   

   

Subject Matter:   

   

Nature of Interest: 

(See the note below)* 

 

 
 

 

   

Signed   

   

Date   

 

 
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for 
planning permission made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which 
has made an application for financial assistance’. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee held via video conference 
on Wednesday, 26 January 2022 at 9.30 am. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillors Ellie Chard, Tony Flynn, Martyn Holland (Vice-Chair), Barry Mellor (Chair) 
and Rhys Thomas. 
 
Lay Member – Paul Whitham 
 
Cabinet Members - Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill, Lead Member for Finance, 
Performance and Strategic Assets, Councillor Brian Jones, Lead Member for Waste, 
Transport and the Environment, Councillor Tony Thomas, Lead Member for Housing and 
Communities and Councillor Bobby Feeley Lead Member for Wellbeing and 
independence.  
 
Observers – Councillor Meirick Lloyd Davies. 
 

ALSO PRESENT 
 

Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services Monitoring Officer (GW), Head of Finance 
and Property Services (Section 151 Officer) (SG), Chief Internal Auditor (LL), Chief 
Accountant (RE), Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation (AS), Climate Change 
Programme Manager (AC), Programme Manager - Housing Development (MD) and 
Committee administrators (SJ, KJ and RTJ). 
 
 
Audit Wales representatives David Wilson and Matthew Edwards were in attendance. 
 

 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
There were no apologies received. 
 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of interest were raised.  
 

3 URGENT MATTERS  
 
There were no urgent matters raised. 
 

4 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Governance and Audit committee held on 24 November 2021 
were submitted. 
 
Matters of Accuracy – None 

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
Matters arising –  
 
Agenda item 5 – Care Inspectorate Wales- Assurance Check 2021 – Page 9 – It 
was noted a follow up review to be added to the FWP had been agreed by 
members. It was noted that it had not been included on the FWP. Officers 
confirmed they would look at the FWP to include at the most appropriate meeting. 
 
Agenda item 9 – page 13 - Internal Audit Update – Confirmation that the Internal 
Auditor had been assigned to the Track and Trace service for nearly 2 years. He 
had worked well. The Chief Internal Officer was hopeful that he would return to his 
post in Internal Audit by June 2022 at the latest. 
 
Agenda item 9 – page 15 - Internal Audit Update – Members heard that CET would 
receive the updates in relation to the action plan for Contract Procedure Rules, it 
was intended to present a quarterly report to CET, any concerns from that update 
would then be raised with SLT.  
 
 
RESOLVED, subject to the above that the minutes of the Governance and Audit 
committee held on 24 November 2021 be received and approved as a correct 
record. 
 

5 DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL DELIVERING ENVIRONMENTAL 
AMBITIONS  
 
The Lead Member for Waste, Transport and the Environment introduced the report 
to members (previously circulated). The report summarised the Audit Wales Report 
of Delivering Environmental Ambitions in Denbighshire County Council and 
provided Officers’ responses to the Proposals for Improvement. The Lead Member 
stressed the importance of continuing the work post-election with the new council. 
 
The Lead Member for Housing and Communities informed members of a number of 
projects currently underway in Denbighshire. The wildfire meadow project had been 
established. It was also noted that Denbighshire had also secured a tree nursery 
that produced 5000 trees a year.  
 
The Head of Business, Improvement and Modernisation expanded on the 
introduction, proving members with further detail on some of the background and 
achievements within the report. Members were guided through the key findings that 
had been included in the Audit Wales report. Over all it was a very positive report. 
Members heard that the report had included 10 recommendations for improvement, 
the board had agreed with those recommendations and felt they were constructive 
and attention to those actions would take place.  
The Climate Change Programme Manager guided members through the 
management response to the recommendations (appendix2, previously circulated). 
The Audit Wales representative – David Wilson confirmed the conclusion of the 
findings had been excellent.  
 

Page 8



members thanked the officers for the detailed introduction and information provided. 
During the discussion the following points were raised: 

 The training course had been aimed at specific staff. An e-learning module 
was being developed for all staff to complete. 

 Investment in modernising buildings including heating, lighting and insulation 
had commenced. Investment in land for carbon sequestration involved costs. 
Officers were aware that a number of improvement and modernisation would 
be costly but beneficial to the environment. 

 The spraying of verges and hedgerow policy was under review and would be 
presented to scrutiny once completed.  

 Members were disappointed to see the lack of knowledge about the direction 
of Denbighshire policies amongst teachers. It was members opinion working 
with schools and young people would be a positive action.     

 The bio-diversity team comprised of three officers and sits within the Country 
side services team. 

 Officers confirmed that the appropriate trees would be planted across the 
county depending on locality. Officers agreed with members that in the 
coming years extra resources such as tree surgeons and skilled individuals 
would potentially be required. 

 The Head of Finance confirmed close working with the Climate Change 
Programme Manager to discuss finance and costs would continue.  

 Members suggested involving local residents to engage and help in the 
planting the wild meadow flowers.  

 Officers confirmed that modular housing had been researched and officers 
were looking into options for using modular housing in Denbighshire.  

 
Members suggested the paper or a brief summary of the findings be circulated to all 
members for information. The Head of Business, Improvement and Modernisation 
informed members that planning on how to communicate and engage with 
members following the election to maintain the work of the climate change had 
begun. 
 
RESOLVED that members note the report and the associated Proposals for 
Improvement and Officers’ responses. 

6 UPDATE ON PLANNING FOR STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021/22  
 
The Lead Member for Finance, Performance and Strategic Assets, introduced the 
report (previously circulated) to members. He informed members the report 
provided assurance to the planned programme of work for the statement of 
accounts for 2021/22. It also proposed an amendment to the FWP to reflect the 
planned work. 
Members were reminded that the previous two financial years, Welsh Government 
had granted an extension to the deadline for accounts. The delay producing the 
accounts for 2020/21 had resulted in no time to allow for misstatements to be 
corrected, those would be shown in the next financial year accounts. It was also 
noted that the extension period producing the accounts had impacted the financial 
officers to work on other areas of work.  
 
Members heard the timetable for 2021/22 accounts with statutory deadlines of 31st 
May 2022 and 31st July 2022 for completion would not be met. Members were 

Page 9



guided to the proposed timetable detailed within the report. It was stressed if no 
formal extension was granted by Welsh Government a formal notice would need to 
be issued closer to the time, setting out the timetable.  
 
The Head of Finance and Property Services expanded on the Lead Members 
introduction adding the proposed deadlines would be achievable for the finance 
officers within the authority. The Audit Wales representative stressed the impact 
and challenges both authority staff and Audit Wales staff had been under during the 
previous years. Members were informed of a number of potential risks associated 
with the delayed deadlines. Work between Denbighshire and Audit Wales would 
continue to mitigate any risks.      
 
The audit of Community Councils accounted had previously been outsourced to a 
number of firms for a number of years. They had recently been brought back in 
house with Audit Wales. The work on those accounts had taken place during the 
autumn months but had been delayed due to Covid. The Audit Wales 
representative invited members to contact him if they had any concerns regarding 
specific community council audits.   
 
The Chair thanked the Lead Member and officers for the update. 
It was 
 
RESOLVED that members note the update report and agreed to amend the 
committee’s FWP to consider the Draft Statement of Accounts at the meeting on 27 
July and to receive the Final Statement of Accounts and Audit Wales audit report at 
the meeting on 21 September.  
 

7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
 
The Lead Member for Finance Performance and Strategic Assets, introduced the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) 2022/23 Report (Appendix 
1 - previously circulated) which showed how the Council would manage its investments 
and its borrowing for the coming year and sets out the Policies within which the 
Treasury Management function operate.  
The Treasury Management Update Report (appendix 2) provided details of the 
Council’s Treasury Management activities during 2021/22. 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (the “CIPFA TM Code”) requires the Council to approve the 
TMSS and Prudential Indicators annually. The Governance and Audit Committee was 

required to review this report before it is approved by Council on 22 February 2022. 
 
Members were reminded of the three priorities considered when investing funds: 

 keep money safe (security); 

 make sure that the money comes back when it is needed (liquidity); 

 make sure a decent rate of return is achieved (yield). 
 
The Lead Member highlighted the key areas of the strategy (appendix1) and the 
annexes within the paper.  

Page 10



Appendix 2 provided the in-year update for members. Members heard under the 
borrowing strategy the authority held 6 loans from other authorities totalling about 
£30m, which were due to mature in the next 12 months. Once completed a review 
of the position would be conducted.  
It was stressed the last internal audit review of the service had received a medium 
assurance.   
 
Work was currently underway to develop a medium term strategy for 
Capital funding. This would help identify projects that were planning to develop and 
invest in over a 5 to 10 year period, but had not yet gone through the approval 
process. 
 
The Head of Finance and Property Services, thanked the Lead Member for the 
detailed introduction and stressed the level of borrowing and investment balances 
had both peaked at the end of 2019 financial year. This had been to extra 
borrowing drawn down before the funding from the revenue support grant from 
Welsh Government resulting in extra cash held. The patterns had returned to what 
officers would expect. 
Members were reassured training would be provided to all members following the 
election in May.     
 
The Chair thanked the officer for the detailed report. Members were appreciative of 
the attached glossary and found it very useful.  
 
During discussion the following points were raised – 

 The authority had to initially fund some support to businesses before Welsh 
Government funding was received. 

 Temporary borrowing from other authorities was a form of borrowing. 
Officers reviewed when it was best to lock in borrowing. 

 The Head of Finance and Property Services agreed BREXIT should be 
included as a potential risk.  

 The actions from the audit review were minor actions to implement. Internal 
Audit were happy with the response officers had offered. It was confirmed it 
would be followed up and reported back to the committee as part of the 
internal audit update.  

 Denbighshire County Council did not loan funds to other authorities. The 
option of borrowing from other authorities was low risk and often low costing. 

 It was noted that the majority of funding received by the authority was 
completed electronically. The loss of the high street banks had not impacted 
on the finance service.  

 
Members, 
 
RESOLVED, that the Committee note the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
for 2022/23, the Prudential Indicators 2022/23 to 2023/24 and 2024/25. The Committee 
note the Treasury Management Update Report and confirm it has read, understood and 
taken account of the Well-being Impact Assessment as part of its consideration. 

 
8 INTERNAL AUDIT FOLLOW UP - PROJECT MANAGEMENT OF QUEEN'S 

BUILDING  

Page 11



 
The Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) guided members through the Internal Audit follow 
up report (previously circulated). The report provided members with an update on 
the progress in implementing the action plan that accompanied the Internal Audit 
report on the Project Management of Queen’s Building which was presented to this 
committee in January 2021. 
 
The CIA presented to members the findings from the second follow up internal 
audit review. The original audit had received a low assurance and members had 
requested a follow up. It was stressed the first audit review had concluded that 
progress had been made and 8 out of the 12 actions had been implemented. The 
assurance rating had therefor been raised to a medium assurance based on the 
work completed. It was highlighted the project had not been revisited as the project 
was still live and active, the audit team reviewed solely the action plan.   
 
The second follow up review had taken place to review the remaining 4 action 
points outstanding. The CIA confirmed following the second review the four 
remaining actions were still outstanding.  
 
The review had established a delay in reconfiguring the project management 
system due to other priorities. The original project management system had been 
due to end its contract so was required to be put out to tender since then the 
authority had remained with the same system. This impacted three of the actions 
relating to project management. It was stressed the action related to general project 
management actions, not specific to Queen’s building.   
Progress had been made to the other action points and the CIA was hopeful the 
actions would be completed by the deadlines provided.  
 

Members thanked the CIA for the update and discussed the following areas: 

 The Welsh Government had provided additional funds for the additional 
costs to date. The Welsh Government was represented on the projects 
board and where aware of the status of the project.  

 When researching the acquisition of properties now, in particular the 
condition of the property a structural survey was undertaken prior to the 
purchase of the property. It provided officers additional information on the 
structural condition.  

 The tender of the project management system had been completed and 
Verto had been successful in securing the contract. An agreement had been 
made to enhance the system. The CIA confirmed a number of other 
authorities also used the Verto system.  Verto was the name of the company 
that supplied the software platform to complete project management. 

 It was confirmed that a contingency had been in place for the project but due 
to unforeseen circumstances, obstacles required the contingency funding to 
be used. To determine the amount of funding set aside for contingency plans 
was difficult to estimate.    

 A report was due to be presented to Cabinet in the next month. 

 The CIA confirmed that the actions closed under 2.1 and 2.2 had been 
completed as actions had been taken to improve the governance 
arrangements and controls. 

Page 12



 Members heard it depended on what was included in the contract, internal 
audit could access information it required from contractors. Internal Audit 
concentrated more on the contract management of projects.  

 The position of internal bodies created within the authority to oversee 
projects was they are private meetings held within the council. It would 
depend on the information provided at the meeting if the information was 
confidential before disclosing information to other members.  

 
Members thanked the officers for the detailed response to members concerns. It 
was stressed members requested the development of the project was carefully 
monitored.  
 
RESOLVED that members note the contents of the follow up report on Project 
Management of Queen’s Building and a further follow up report be included in the 
committee forward work programme as a separate agenda item, following the 
internal audit review. 
 

9 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT - IMPROVEMENT UPDATE  
 
The Chief Internal Auditor introduced the report (previously circulated). The report 
provided members with an update to the improvement actions that had been 
included in the Annual Governance Statement agreed by the Committee in July 
2021. 
 
It was confirmed it was a collective piece of work collated by the Corporate 
Governance working group. An update to the progress of the actions had been 
included as appendix 1 to the report (previously circulated). Members heard in 
relation to the Officer’s Code of Conduct action guidance and training had been 
provided to staff and members, a review of the Code of Conduct, gifts and 
hospitality, declarations of interest policy and procedures had begun. Members 
were guided through the action plan and progress made to the actions proposed. 
Further updates would be included in the Annual Governance Statement 2021/22.  
 
Part of the Implement requirements of the Local Government & Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 action had been to establish a Corporate Joint Committee, the 
Monitoring Officer confirmed the Corporate Joint Committee had held its first 
meeting and had scheduled a second meeting in January 2021 to set the budget for 
the forthcoming financial year and the level of contributions of each authorities. 
  
Members were pleased to receive the update from the Chief Internal Auditor and 
thanked her for the report.  
 
The Lead Member for Finance, Performance and Strategic Assets informed 
members officers had been informed originally they would be informed if the Vale of 
Clwyd had been successful for the Levelling up fund in the spring.  
 
It was therefore,  
RESOLVED that members note the update report.  
 

10 GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 13



 
The Governance and Audit Committee’s Forward Work Programme (FWP) 
was presented for consideration (previously circulated). 
 
The Chair confirmed the meeting scheduled for the 16March 2022 would take place 
as it fell just before the Pre-Election period. The Monitoring Officer confirmed the 
March meeting was due to start on the 18th March, the April committee meeting 
would be cancelled. 
 
It was agreed to amend the FWP as following: 
 

 Care Inspectorate Wales – Follow up review; 

 A follow up report on the Project Management of Queen’s building project - 
September 2022; 

 The Statement of accounts scheduling to be included.  

 Annual Audit Summary – March 2022; 

 Annual Governance Statement to be moved to June 2022 if April meeting is 
cancelled; 

 The Monitoring Officer confirmed he was still awaiting the final version of the 
model constitution from WLGA. He was hopeful it would be available to 
discuss at the March committee meeting.  

 
 
RESOLVED that, subject to the inclusion of the above additions the Governance 
and Audit Committee’s forward work programme be noted. 

11 AUDIT WALES PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 
The Audit Wales Performance report (previously circulated) was provided to 
members for information. 
 
RESOLVED that members note the contents of the information report. 
 

The meeting concluded at 12.15 p.m. 
 

Page 14



1 
 

 

 

Report title: Audit Wales Review of Commissioning Older People’s Care 

Home Placements by North Wales Councils and Betsi 

Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Report to: Governance and Audit Committee for Denbighshire County 

Council 

Lead Officers: Nicola Stubbins, Corporate Director Communities 

 Catrin Roberts, Head of Collaboration, North Wales Social 

Care and Wellbeing Services Improvement Collaborative 

Report author: Catrin Perry, Business Manager – Regional Commissioning 

Board, North Wales Social Care and Wellbeing Services 

Improvement Collaborative 

Date: 16 March 2022 

 

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1 To detail the review conducted by Audit Wales in to the Commissioning of 

Older People’s Care Home Placements by North Wales Councils and Betsi 

Cadwaladr University Health Board [Appendix 2]. 

1.2 To detail the Management Response [Appendix 3] actions agreed regionally 

which respond to the recommendations given in the Audit Wales report. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes the recommendations in the Audit Wales report on 

Commissioning of Older People’s Care Home Placements by North Wales 

Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board [Appendix 2] 

2.2 That the Committee notes the agreed actions in the Management Response 

[Appendix 3] to address these recommendations and receives regular updates 

on the implementation of the actions going forward.   

3. Background information 

3.1 As part of its Audit programme in August 2020 Audit Wales informed Local 

Authorities and the Health Board that it would be undertaking a review of 

Commissioning of Older People’s Care Home Placements by North Wales 

Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board.  A workshop was held 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

by AW with local authority and health board partners in September 2020 to 

work through the draft brief for this review.  The final brief for the review was 

issued to Local Authorities in November 2020.   

3.2 As given in the final brief of November 2020 [Appendix 1], the purpose of the 

Audit Wales review stated “In our Assurance and Risk Assessments for North 

Wales councils we identified strategic commissioning of residential and 

nursing care placements as a risk to both councils and the Health Board for 

the following reasons: 

a. high level of spending on these services; 

b. forecast increases in numbers of older people expected to need 

these services; 

c. limited availability of new staff to support these services and 

recruitment competition with other health and social care 

providers; and 

d. as yet untapped potential benefits of strategic commissioning across 

North Wales public sector bodies. 

Since identifying strategic commissioning of residential and nursing care 

placements as a risk, COVID-19 has highlighted the fragility and current 

capacity of the care market and the need to plan strategically and manage the 

market”  

3.3 The brief explained that the review would seek to answer the question “Are 

partners collaborating effectively to take account of demographic changes and 

other external pressures in the strategic commissioning of residential and 

nursing home care?” and focused on the following key questions: 

a) Are partners collaborating effectively to take account of demographic 

changes and other external pressures in the strategic commissioning of 

residential and nursing home care? 

b) Have partners formally committed to the strategic approach to 

commissioning residential and nursing home care? 

 Is the strategic intent underpinned by sound data and clear 

workforce plans? 

 Is the strategic approach changing in light of the COVID-19 

pandemic? 

 Is the strategic approach considering the risks to the sector (for 

example fees, workforce, sustainability of care homes, changing 

demand and service quality)? 

 Is the strategic approach considering alternative forms of care? 

c) Have partners identified and secured commitment for the resources 

needed to deliver the strategy and is there commitment to manage these 

through the pooled budget arrangement? 

 Are commitments to resourcing the strategy sustainable? 

 Is there collective accountability and responsibility to deliver a 

strategic solution? 

Page 16



 

3 
 

 How well do partners deal with barriers (e.g. structural differences, 

loss of control, individual vs partner commissioning, varying 

standards and expectations)? 

d) Does the strategy for commissioning residential and nursing home care 

align with other key strategies and meet legislative requirements? 

 Are partners considering alternatives other than residential and 

nursing home care placements? 

 Are partners working to understand and address any inappropriate 

regional variations (cost, contributions and access to a range of 

services)? 

 Can partners demonstrate consideration of key legislation as part of 

strategy design? 

e) Is change related to delivery of this strategy being managed and reported 

effectively? 

 Are partnership governance structures supporting delivery? 

 Are programme management arrangements in place to deliver the 

strategic change required? 

3.3 The Audit Wales team undertook Fieldwork, Document reviews, Meeting 

observations and Interviews with staff and service users from November 2020 

to February 2021.   

4. Report Detail 

4.1 Audit Wales issued the draft final report to Local Authorities and the Health 

Board to comment on matters of accuracy and balance in July 2021.  The 

Health Board prepared their own response and a collective response was 

prepared by the North Wales Local Authority CEOs and Directors of Social 

Care.  They felt strongly that report was not balanced, contained some factual 

inaccuracies and was not fair refection of commissioned care home 

placements for older people in North Wales.   

4.2. Following further discussion with Audit Wales regarding the feedback and key 

objections, they prepared a revised version of the report in November 2021 

which was accepted by the Local Authority Chief Executives and Directors of 

Social Care.  Audit Wales published the North Wales report on the 16th 

December 2021 as per their audit schedule [see Appendix 2].   

4.3 Audit Wales prepared a corresponding report for Welsh Government in 

relation to the legislative and policy framework for regional partnership 

working, commissioning and funding care home placements with key national 

messages and recommendations for Welsh Government to consider.  This 

report for Welsh Government was not shared but was published at the same 

time as the North Wales report and is given in Appendix 4. 

4.4 The Audit Wales report on the Commissioning of Older People’s Care Home 

Placements by North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 

Board makes 5 recommendations: 

Page 17



 

4 
 

R1  North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

need to ensure the consistent use of pre-placement agreements across 

the region. 

R2  The current approach for commissioning care home places can cause 

tensions between partners and result in poor value and poor service 

user experience. North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University 

Health Board need to work together to review local arrangements for 

commissioning care home placements to eliminate avoidable adverse 

impacts on service users, and each other. 

R3  Accountability is a cornerstone of public sector decision making. 

Governance arrangements need to scrutinise decisions and hold 

decision makers to account. North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 

University Health Board need to strengthen their partnership 

governance arrangements to ensure proper accountability and effective 

scrutiny. 

R4  North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

through the Regional Commissioning Board need to develop a 

regionally agreed care home commissioning strategy and following this, 

develop an associated delivery plan. 

R5  North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

need to review their commissioning arrangements for care home 

placements to ensure they fulfil their statutory responsibilities around 

the Welsh language, and the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 

4.5 In response to the report, each of the North Wales Local Authorities and the 

Health Board was asked to prepare an agreed collective management 

response detailing how they will work collectively to address each of the 

recommendations.  Audit Wales asked for this collective response to be 

submitted by 31st January 2022.  The Management Response submitted is in 

Appendix 3.  

5. Consultation and engagement 

5.1 Audit Wales consulted with service users and providers in the research for the 

report.  They also consulted with Local Authorities and Health Board officers 

on the circulation of the draft reports and took on board their feedback to 

inform revised drafts of the report. 

6. Resource implications 

6.1 Local and regional officer time will be required to ensure that the 

recommendations and management response actions are implemented. 

7. Key risks  
 

Page 18



 

5 
 

 

Risks 

Ref Description and mitigating action Risk score 

Risk1 Officer capacity and time to implement the actions in the Management 

Response may delay meeting the deadlines given 

Mitigation: Allocated leads with dedicated time to undertake the work 

required 

 

Risk2 Relationship between local commissioning plans and the required regionally 

agreed care home commissioning strategy and associated delivery plan. 

Mitigation: Mapping the relationship between local and regional plans and 

clarity on which aspects of the delivery plan are implemented locally and 

which regionally 

 

Risk3 Failure to ensure that we fulfil statutory responsibilities around the Welsh 

language, and the Well-being of Future Generations Act in our care home 

placement provision. 

Mitigation: Mwy na Geiriau implementation and ensuring the Local 

Wellbeing Assessments and 7 Wellbeing Goals inform our commissioning 

plan for the future as part of the Population Needs Assessment and Market 

Stability Report work 

 

 

Appendices:   

Appendix 1 – Audit Wales Project Brief for the review of the Commissioning of Older 

People’s Care Home Placements by North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 

University Health 

Appendix 2 - The Audit Wales report on the Commissioning of Older People’s Care 

Home Placements by North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 

[December 2021] 

Appendix 3 – North Wales Local Authorities and the Health Board collective 

management response  

Appendix 4 – Audit Wales report to Welsh Government on Care Home 

Commissioning [December 2021] 

Background papers: None 

Almost 

certain
A

Likely B

Possible C

Unlikely D

Rare E

5 4 3 2 1

Very low Low Medium High Very high

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d

Impact

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Project Brief – Commissioning Older 
People’s Care Home Placements – 
North Wales Councils and Betsi 
Cadwaladr University Health Board 
Audit year: 2020-21 

Date issued: November 2020 

Document reference: 1923A2020-21 

Page 21



Contents 

Page 2 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales 
Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Project brief 

Background to the review 3 

Purpose of the review 4 

Focus of the review 4 

Legislative basis for the review 5 

Method 5 

Main review questions 6 

Output 8 

Timetable 8 

Fieldwork schedule 9 

Document requests 13 

Audit Wales contacts 14 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Fair Processing Notice: Auditor General for Wales 15 

Page 22



Project brief 

Page 3 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Background to the review 
1 The COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on Health and 

Social Care Services as they work to help contain this virus and avoid the spread 
to particularly vulnerable people, such as those who are elderly, or have 
underlying health problems. North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health Board (the Health Board) have worked hard to maximise bed 
capacity in hospitals and care homes and have commissioned and equipped 
three new rainbow hospitals to accommodate the increase in demand for care 
and treatment. The impact of this virus has highlighted the critical role that care 
homes have all year round and particularly when unexpected peaks in demand 
occur.   

2 There is a cost to both human life and the sustainable financial viability of care 
home businesses. Business plans of these homes will rely on minimum 
occupancy levels and the COVID-19 virus, and other wider factors may affect 
demand for placements and numbers of residents going forward, resulting in the 
closure of some homes. 

3 Notwithstanding the pressures on care homes described above, demand for 
these services from an ageing population continues to grow, increasing 
budgetary pressures on public bodies. There is a risk that care home provision is 
not shaped to meet demand, such as specialist provision. 

4 The latest published data from StatsWales shows that North Wales councils 
spent approximately £66 million in 2018-19 on Nursing Placements and 
Residential Care Placements and NHS financial reports indicate that Betsi 
Cadwaladr is spending over £100 million per year on continuing healthcare.  
In addition to these costs, many councils have their own residential care 
provision.  

5 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires public bodies in 
Wales to think about the long-term impact of their decisions, to work better with 
people, communities and each other, and to prevent persistent problems such as 
poverty, health inequalities and climate change. All 6 councils and the Health 
Board have a statutory responsibility to meet requirements set out in the act.  

6 Any strategic approach to improve residential and nursing care should meet 
requirements of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA), 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Welsh Language (Wales) 
measure 2011 and the Equalities Act (2010). Under the SSWBA, councils and 
health boards have a statutory obligation to establish and maintain pooled fund 
arrangements in relation to the exercise of their care home accommodation 
functions. Our recent work in North Wales found that the pooled fund for older 
peoples care home placement did not provide value for money. 

7 The North Wales Social Care and Wellbeing Services Improvement Collaborative 
published a Market shaping statement – care homes for older people in North 
Wales in 2018. Its content included what partners could expect in the future and 

Page 23

https://bcuhb.nhs.wales/
https://bcuhb.nhs.wales/
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Market-shaping-statement.-Care-homes-for-older-people.-2018.pdf
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Market-shaping-statement.-Care-homes-for-older-people.-2018.pdf


 

Page 4 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

what partners would need from care homes and how partners would support 
developments. 

8 This project brief sets out why we are undertaking the review in Anglesey, Conwy, 
Denbighshire, Flintshire, Gwynedd, Wrexham Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health Board and outlines its focus, method, outputs and timing. 

Purpose of the review 
9 In our Assurance and Risk Assessments for North Wales councils we identified 

strategic commissioning of residential and nursing care placements as a risk to 
both councils and the Health Board for the following reasons: 

a. high level of spending on these services; 
b. forecast increases in numbers of older people expected to need these 

services;  

c. limited availability of new staff to support these services and 
recruitment competition with other health and social care providers; and 

d. as yet untapped potential benefits of strategic commissioning across 
North Wales public sector bodies. 

10 Since identifying strategic commissioning of residential and nursing care 
placements as a risk, COVID-19 has highlighted the fragility and current capacity of 
the care market and the need to plan strategically and manage the market. 

Focus of the review 
11 We will use the ‘Market shaping statement – care homes for older people in 

North Wales’ which was published in 2018 as a starting point for the review. We 
facilitated a scoping workshop on 29 September 2020 with representatives from 
the councils and Health Board to hear an update of progress in delivering the 
strategic aims and to inform the shape of this review. Our review will consider the 
following areas: 

a. Adjustments to the strategic commissioning plans as a result of  
COVID-19 to support short, medium and longer term sustainability of 
care homes; 

b. Sustainability of financing strategic intentions, including COVID-19 
impacts such as increased care needs for patients discharged from 
hospital, increased costs associated with Personal Protective Equipment 
(PPE) and modification of care home environment as a result of the 
pandemic and use of the Welsh Government emergency care home 
fund; 

c. Robustness of the data that underpins the strategy;  

d. Impact of this strategy on other regional and local strategies; 

e. Workforce planning for example in light of Brexit and COVID-19; 

Page 24

https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Market-shaping-statement.-Care-homes-for-older-people.-2018.pdf
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Market-shaping-statement.-Care-homes-for-older-people.-2018.pdf


 

Page 5 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

f. The extent to which councils and the Health Board are working to 
reduce demand/need for residential care such as with extra care 
housing or integrated community care packages; 

g. Partnership governance; and 

h. Change and programme management. 

    
12 The review will seek to answer the question: Are partners collaborating 

effectively to take account of demographic changes and other external 
pressures in the strategic commissioning of residential and nursing home 
care? 

Legislative basis for the review 
13 This project is being carried in line with duties set out under sections 17 and 61 of 

the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  
14 It is also being undertaken to help discharge the Auditor General’s duties under 

section 18 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 to assess whether 
improvement authorities are meeting their improvement duties and may also inform 
an examination undertaken under section 15 of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  

Method 
15 The review will involve interviews with officers and councillors, document reviews 

and meeting observations. We also anticipate running remote workshops when 
required. Our approaches will be in line with Government advice on COVID-19 at 
the point we carry out the work. Although we anticipate the majority of activities will 
be undertaken remotely. 

Exhibit 1: attendees at the scoping workshop 

The table below sets out the people who took part at the Scoping Workshop. 

Organisation Name Title 

Anglesey CBC Iola Richards Head of Adult Services 

Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health 
Board 

Grace Lewis Parry Assistant Director of Primary and 
Community Care 

Page 25



 

Page 6 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Organisation Name Title 

Conwy CBC Claire Lister Head of integrated Adult and 
Community Services 

Denbighshire CC Phil Gilroy 
 
 
Katie Newe 
 
Catrin Perry 

Head of Community Support 
Services 
 
Service Manager - Client Services 
 
Regional Collaboration Team 

Flintshire CC Jane Davies 
 
 
Neil Ayling 

Senior Manager Safeguarding and 
Commissioning 
 
Chief Officer Social Services 

Gwynedd CBC Morwena Edwards Corporate Director & Statutory 
Director of Social Services 

Wrexham CBC Mark Jones Interim Senior Head of Service - 
Older People 

Main review questions 
16 To inform the design of the work, we undertook a scoping workshop with the 

audited bodies. This helped us focus the review and also incorporate any changes, 
risks or other factors that needed to be considered as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic response. Exhibit 1 sets out the key questions we will seek to answer 
during the review. 

  

Page 26



 

Page 7 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Exhibit 1: main review questions 

The table below sets out the main questions we will seek to answer in undertaking this 
review. 

Level 1 

• Are partners collaborating effectively to take account of demographic changes 
and other external pressures in the strategic commissioning of residential and 
nursing home care? 

Level 2 

• Have partners formally committed to the strategic approach to commissioning 
residential and nursing home care? 

‒ Is the strategic intent underpinned by sound data and clear 
workforce plans? 

‒ Is the strategic approach changing in light of the COVID-19 
pandemic? 

‒ Is the strategic approach considering the risks to the sector (for 
example fees, workforce, sustainability of care homes, changing 
demand and service quality)? 

‒ Is the strategic approach considering alternative forms of care? 

• Have partners identified and secured commitment for the resources needed to 
deliver the strategy and is there commitment to manage these through the 
pooled budget arrangement? 

‒ Are commitments to resourcing the strategy sustainable? 
‒ Is there collective accountability and responsibility to deliver a 

strategic solution? 
‒ How well do partners deal with barriers (e.g. structural 

differences, loss of control, individual vs partner commissioning, 
varying standards and expectations)?  

• Does the strategy for commissioning residential and nursing home care align 
with other key strategies and meet legislative requirements? 

‒ Are partners considering alternatives other than residential and 
nursing home care placements? 

‒ Are partners working to understand and address any 
inappropriate regional variations (cost, contributions and access 
to a range of services)? 

‒ Can partners demonstrate consideration of key legislation as part 
of strategy design? 

Page 27



 

Page 8 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

• Is change related to delivery of this strategy being managed and reported 
effectively? 

‒ Are partnership governance structures supporting delivery? 
‒ Are programme management arrangements in place to deliver 

the strategic change required? 

Output 
17 The findings from this review will be set out in a report that will also include 

recommendations where relevant. 

Timetable 

Exhibit 2: timetable 

The table below sets out a proposed timetable for the review at the Council. 

Proposed timetable 

Scoping workshop 29 September 2020 

Sign off of the final project brief with 
scoping session representatives 

October 2020 

Set up meetings October- December 2020 

Project brief issued November 2020 

Fieldwork 
• Document reviews 
• Meeting observations  
• Interviews 

 
November/December 2020 
November 2020 – January 2021 
January/February 2021 (unless 
requested earlier) 

Report issued April 2021 

 

Page 28



 

Page 9 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Fieldwork schedule 

Interviews 

Exhibit 3: interviewees 

The table below sets out the initial list of people we would like to interview as part  
of this review. 

Name Title 

Iwan Davies Chief Executive – Conwy (selected to 
give a Chief Executive perspective as 
Accountable Officer) 

Anglesey – Fôn Roberts 
Conwy – Jenny Williams * 
Denbighshire – Nicola Stubbins 
Flintshire – Neil Ayling 
Gwynedd – Morwena Edwards 
Wrexham – Alwyn Jones 

Director of Social Services (Chief 
officers)  
 
We will also speak to Jenny Williams 
about Regional Workforce 
perspectives 

Anglesey – Iola Richards 
Conwy – Claire Lister 
Denbighshire – Phil Gilroy 
Flintshire – Jane Davies 
Gwynedd – Aled Davies 
Wrexham – Mark Jones 

Heads of Adult Social Care 

Betsi Cadwaladr: 
Chris Stockport 
 
Ffion Johnstone 
Bethan Jones 
Rob Smith 
Kathryn Titchen 
Jane Trowman  

 
Executive Director for primary and 
community care 
Area Director  
Area Director 
Area Director 
Head of CHC 
Lead for Care Homes 

Betsi Cadwaladr – Sue Hill/Rob Nolan 
Anglesey – Marc Jones 

Director/Assistant Director of finance 
Section 151 officers 

Page 29



 

Page 10 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Name Title 

Conwy – Andrew Kirkham 
Denbighshire – Steve Gadd 
Flintshire – Gary Ferguson 
Gwynedd – Dafydd Edwards 
Wrexham – Mark Owen 

Betsi Cadwaladr – Sue Green 
Anglesey – Carys Edwards 
Conwy – Phil Davies 
Denbighshire – Gary Williams 
Flintshire – Sharon Carney 
Gwynedd – Geraint Owen 
Wrexham – Sue Robin 

Head of Human Resources/workforce 
planning 
 
 

Denbighshire – Bethan Jones-Edwards 
 

Regional Head of Collaboration 

Anglesey – Cllr Llinos Medi 
Conwy – Cllr Louise Gail Emery 
Denbighshire – Cllr Bobby Feeley 
Flintshire – Cllr Christine Jones 
Gwynedd – Cllr Dafydd Meurig 
Wrexham Cllr Joan Lowe 

Lead Member for portfolio covering 
Adult Social Care 
 
 
 

Anglesey – Cllr Aled Morris Jones 
Conwy – Cllr Penny Andow 
Denbighshire – Cllr Jeanette 
Chamberlain-Jones 
Flintshire – Cllr Hilary McGuill 
Gwynedd – Cllr Dewi Wyn Roberts 
Wrexham – Cllr Derek Wright 

Chairs of Scrutiny Committees 
covering Adult Social Care 
 
 
 
 
 

Teresa Owen Chair of the Regional Partnership 
Board 

Judith Greenhalgh Chair of the North Wales Health and 
Social Care Recovery Group; 
and Chief Executive of Denbighshire 

Page 30



 

Page 11 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Name Title 

Morwena Edwards 
 
 
Catrin Perry  
 
Grace Lewis-Parry 

Chair of the NW Regional 
Commissioning Board 
 
Business Manager – Commissioning 
 
Vice Chair of the NW Regional 
Commissioning Board 

Betsi Cadwaladr – Jonathan Lloyd 
Anglesey – Emma Edwards 
Conwy – Fran Lewis 
Denbighshire – Nicola Kneale 
Flintshire – Jay Davies 
Gwynedd – Rhion Glyn  
Wrexham – Suzanne Price 

Lead officers – performance 
management and data analysis 
 
 
 

Anglesey – Sandra Thomas 
Conwy – Fran Lewis and Emma Roberts 
Denbighshire – Alan Smith 
Flintshire – TBC 
Gwynedd – Hawis Jones 
Wrexham – TBC 

Change and programme managers 

Betsi Cadwaladr – Kamala Williams 
Anglesey – Fôn Roberts & Iola Richards 
Conwy – Fran Lewis and Emma Roberts 
Denbighshire – Phil Gilroy & David Soley 
Flintshire – TBC 
Gwynedd – Morwena Edwards & Aled 
Davies 
Wrexham - TBC 

Key health board and council 
managers responsible for the 
strategic planning of services 
 
 
 

Heléna Herklots CBE Older People’s Commissioner for 
Wales 

Mary Wimbury 
Clare Budden 

Care Forum Wales 
ClwydAlyn Housing Association 

Page 31



 

Page 12 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Name Title 

Carer representative on Regional 
Partnership Board  
Community Health Council 

Voice of the People 

 

Workshops and focus groups  

Exhibit 4: focus groups and workshops 

The table below sets out the list of workshops and focus groups we would like to run with 
officers and councillors as part of this review. 

Focus groups and workshops 

Focus group with selection of Regional Partnership Board Members – to 
explore the RPB’s actual and potential involvement in the strategic commissioning of 
residential and nursing home placements. 

Focus group with members of the NW Regional Commissioning Board – to 
explore the RCB’s actual and potential involvement in the strategic commissioning of 
residential and nursing home placements. 

Focus group with Chair of Care Forum Wales and up to 6 local care home 
providers – one from each council area to explore the potential benefits or 
disbenefits of strategic commissioning from a care home perspective. 

Focus group with strategic commissioners at North Wales councils and the 
Health Board – to understand the current approach to strategic commissioning of 
residential and nursing home placements and future plans. 

Action planning workshop with the Regional Commissioning Board – to 
consider the review findings and potential way forward.    

Feedback workshop with the Regional Partnership Board – to outline the key 
findings and enable challenge and discussion about the evidence captured during 
the review. 

Page 32



 

Page 13 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Meeting observations 

Exhibit 5: meeting observations 

The table below sets out the list of meetings that we would like to observe during our 
review.  

NW Regional Partnership Board 

NW Regional Commissioning Board 

Health and Social Care recovery Group 

Document request 
Prior to on-site interviews and observations, we will undertake a review of the documents 
identified below. However, we would be grateful if you could supply us with any additional 
documents which you feel may be relevant to our work in this area. The list is not 
exhaustive and requests for additional documents may be made during the course of the 
review. Where documents in the list below are publicly available on the Health Boards or 
Council’s website, we would be grateful if you could please direct us to where we can find 
them. 

We will also review the findings and evidence relating to councils from our previous local 
government study undertaken during 2013-14. 

Exhibit 5: the table below sets out the documents we would like to request initially 
as part of this review 

Document Title 

• Relevant and recent Welsh Government reports covering care homes. 
• Relevant and recent Care Inspectorate wales reports covering care homes. 
• Progress reports related to the ‘Market shaping statement – care homes for 

older people in North Wales’. 
• Council/Health Board/RPB reports demonstrating commitment to and progress 

in acting on ‘Market shaping statement – care homes for older people in North 
Wales’. 

• Agenda and minutes of RCG, RPB and Health and Social Care recovery group. 

Page 33



 

Page 14 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Audit Wales contacts 

Exhibit 6: Audit Wales contacts 

The table below sets out the Audit Wales team that will be working on this review at the 
councils and Health Board. 

Title Contact details 

Performance Audit 
Director 

Huw Rees: Huw.Rees@audit.wales   
Dave Thomas: Dave.Thomas@audit.wales  

Performance Audit 
Manager 

Jeremy Evans: Jeremy.Evans@audit.wales 

Audit Leads Dave Wilson: David.Wilson@audit.wales  
Andrew Doughton: Andrew.Doughton@audit.wales  
Gwilym Bury: Gwilym.Bury@audit.wales  
Alan Hughes: Alan.Hughes@audit.wales  

 

Page 34

mailto:Huw.Rees@audit.wales
mailto:Dave.Thomas@audit.wales
mailto:Jeremy.Evans@audit.wales
mailto:David.Wilson@audit.wales
mailto:Andrew.Doughton@audit.wales
mailto:Gwilym.Bury@audit.wales
mailto:Alan.Hughes@audit.wales


Appendix 1 

Page 15 of 16 - Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North 
Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Fair Processing Notice: Auditor General for Wales 
 
Who we are: The Auditor General for Wales examines how public bodies manage and 
spend public money, and Audit Wales provides staff and resources to enable him to 
carry out his work. 
Data Protection Officer (DPO): Our DPO is Martin Peters, who can be contacted by 
telephone on 029 2032 0500 or by email at: infoofficer@audit.wales 
Purpose of processing: We are collecting your personal information for our work, which 
includes audit and other professional, technical or administrative work 

The relevant laws (legal basis): We process personal data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 (DPA) and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Our 
lawful basis for processing is the statutory powers and duties under legislation including 
Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004, Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013, Government of Wales Act 
1998, Government of Wales Act 2006, Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009; Well- 
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Who will see the data? The Auditor General and the WAO study team will have access to 
the information you provide. We may share some information with senior management at 
the audited body(ies) and our published report may include some information. For our 
local government work, we may share some data with other public service regulators, 
such as CIW and Estyn, where the law permits this. 
How long we keep the data? We will keep your data for 7 years (or 25 years if it is 
included in a published report). 
Our rights: The Auditor General has rights to information, explanation and assistance 
under paragraph 17 of schedule 8 Government of Wales Act 2006 and/or section 52 
Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and/or section 26 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2009. It may be a criminal offence, punishable by a fine, for a person to fail to 
provide information. 
Your rights: You have rights to ask for a copy of the current personal information held 
about you or to object to data processing that causes unwarranted and substantial 
damage and distress. Contact the Information Officer, Wales Audit Office, 24 Cathedral 
Road, Cardiff, CF11 9LJ or email infoofficer@audit.wales. 
The ICO: To obtain further information about data protection law or to complain to 
complain about how we are handling your personal data, you may contact the Information 
Commissioner at: Information Commissioner’s Office, Wycliffe House, Water Lane, 
Wilmslow, Cheshire, SK9 5AF, or by email at casework@ico.gsi.gov.uk or by telephone 
01625 545745.

Page 35

http://www.audit.wales/


 

 

 Audit Wales 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 
Textphone: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 
We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 
galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. 

Page 36

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/


 

Commissioning Older People’s Care 
Home Placements – North Wales 
Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health Board  
Audit year: 2020-21 

Date issued: December 2021 

Document reference: 2467A2021-22 

 

Page 37



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  
The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 
General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to Audit Wales at infoofficer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.  

 

Page 38

mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Partners are working individually and collectively to provide care home placements for 
vulnerable service users, this is made more difficult by complex national processes, 
resulting in a significant focus on costs, which causes division amongst partners and has 
the potential to impact adversely on service users and their families. Strengthening 
accountability and developing a regional strategy and delivery plan has the potential to 
drive positive change and better partnership working, especially in relation to complex 
and more specialist care. 

Summary report 

Background 4 

About this report 5 

Key messages and overall conclusions 5 

Partners are working together to provide care for vulnerable service users but are 
carrying significant risks associated with market stability, workforce, and  
pre-placement agreements, along with a reliance on spot purchasing 6 

The Regional Partnership Board’s 2018 Market Shaping Statement set out some 
aspirations for care home commissioning which were added to by the RPB’s response  
to ‘A Heathier Wales’ in 2019, however, neither of these have driven the development  
of a clear regional strategy for commissioning care home placements for older people  
in North Wales or a delivery plan to take forward the aspirations that have been  
identified 9 

Whilst the RPB network brings partners together to ‘think regionally’, its structures,  
largely set out by the Welsh Government, are extensive and complex, and lines of 
accountability need to be strengthened 12 

Nationally set fee structures are complex and result in a significant focus on cost  
which causes division amongst partners and has the potential to impact adversely on 
service users and their families 14 

Partners need to do more to demonstrate they are meeting their statutory  
responsibilities around the Welsh language, and the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act, when commissioning care homes provision and making individual placements 17 

Recommendations  

Appendix 1 – Regional Partnership Board structure chart 21 

 

Page 39



Summary report 

Page 4 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Background 
1 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (the Act) came into force on 

6 April 2016. The Act provides the legal framework for improving the wellbeing of 
people who need care and support and for transforming social services in Wales. 

2 Across Wales, the costs of care home commissioning for older people run into 
several hundreds of millions of pounds each year and many thousands of people 
are affected.  

Exhibit 1: key facts about care home commissioning  

The exhibit sets out some key facts about adult care home services in North Wales. 

4,353 
People aged over 65 receiving adult care home services in North Wales from local 

authorities in 2018-19. 

Of these, 1,034 are also receiving nursing services. 

2016 data1 indicates 6,048 care home residential places 
in North Wales, made up of: 

2,636 residential places 

1,194 residential Elderly Mentally Ill (EMI) places 

1,555 general nursing places 

   663 EMI nursing places 

£74.2 million 
North Wales Local Authority spend on 

nursing and residential placements 
aged 65 and over in Wales in 2019-20. 

(Stats Wales) 

£98.8 million 
Health Board continuing healthcare and 
funded nursing care costs in 2019-20. 

(Annual Accounts)2 

  

 
1 Market Shaping Statement: Care homes for older people in North Wales 
2 Data sourced from Health Board Annual Accounts. The majority but not all Continuing 
Healthcare costs relate to care home placements. 

Page 40

https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Market-shaping-statement.-Care-homes-for-older-people.-2018.pdf


 

Page 5 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

3 The Act requires councils and health boards to work together to assess the care 
and support needs of the population in their area. Partners are to identify what 
services are needed and to use their resources effectively; for example, by 
establishing and maintaining pooled fund arrangements in relation to the exercise 
of their care home accommodation functions.  

4 The Act established Regional Partnership Boards (RPBs) to prioritise the 
integration of services including for older people with complex needs and long-term 
conditions, including dementia. In North Wales, the RPB includes the statutory 
partners – Isle of Anglesey, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Gwynedd and 
Wrexham Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board. 

5 In early 2020, we identified strategic commissioning of care home placements for 
older people was a risk to both councils and the Health Board for the following 
reasons: 
• high level of spending on these services; 
• forecast increases in numbers of older people expected to need support;  
• recruitment and retention competition between health, social care providers 

and parts of the independent sector as well as retail and hospitality 
employers; and 

• potential untapped benefits of strategic commissioning across North Wales 
public sector bodies. 

6 During 2020-21, the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the fragility and issues 
around capacity of the care market and the need to plan strategically on a regional 
level. 

About this report 
7 This report sets out the findings from the Auditor General’s review of care home 

commissioning arrangements across North Wales. The work has been 
undertaken as a part of our statutory programme of local audit work at each of 
the local authorities in North Wales and the Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 
Board. Reflecting the cross-sector focus of this review we have presented our 
findings as a single report that includes recommendations for strengthening the 
pan-North-Wales approach to care home commissioning and associated 
partnership working. We have used the term care homes to reflect all types of 
residential and nursing care homes in a generic sense although where we 
specifically refer to one type we have noted that in the text. 

Key messages and overall conclusions  
8 Care home commissioning requires collaboration between councils, the Health 

Board, and providers to ensure that service users are accommodated in suitable 
placements.  

Page 41



 

Page 6 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

9 In overall terms, our review found that partners are working individually and 
collectively to provide care home placements for vulnerable service users; 
this is made more difficult by complex national processes, resulting in a 
significant focus on costs, which causes division amongst partners and has 
the potential to impact adversely on service users and their families. 
Strengthening accountability and developing a regional strategy and delivery 
plan has the potential to drive positive change and better partnership 
working, especially in relation to complex and more specialist care.  

10 Whilst some of the significant issues and challenges for care home commissioning 
that we identify in this report may be unique to North Wales, many exist because of 
the frameworks, policy and legislation which are nationally set out. While there is 
need for regional improvement, there is real opportunity to consider both the extent 
of these issues in other regions, and how national reform may help provide a 
platform for sustainable services. We have reported separately to the Welsh 
Government, recommending action that they should take to improve the framework 
within which regional partners operate. Private sector care home providers are not 
audited by the Auditor General per se, but public money paid to such providers is 
subject to the Auditor General’s examination as part of the audit of public bodies. 
As part of commissioning and procurement activities, the Welsh Government and 
local authorities should consider how private sector providers can be encouraged 
further to support public bodies to improve care home provision. The findings that 
underpin the above conclusions are considered in the following sections.  

Partners are working together to provide care for 
vulnerable service users but are carrying 
significant risks associated with market stability, 
workforce, and pre-placement agreements, along 
with a reliance on spot purchasing 
11 At an operational level, officers continue to work through and around the 

complexities of the national funding structure to get the best they can from the care 
home market. When commissioning care home placements, operational managers 
work hard to ensure service users receive the best care to meet their needs, but 
those with budget responsibilities must also balance this against costs.  

12 Sustainability of the care home market is a key issue for North Wales. There are 
publicly and privately owned care homes and income is dependent on demand and 
fee rates. The funding approach is short term in nature and does not address the 
longer-term financial viability of the market. Nor does it properly anticipate long-
term changes in need and how to adapt the market to meet that need. 

13 In business it is essential that supply and demand are closely aligned, and in North 
Wales, care home provision does not reflect demand. Managers told us that there 
is a lack of some specialist provision such as for people with dementia and some 

Page 42



 

Page 7 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

parts of the region have an oversupply of care homes that are not specialist in 
focus. Where there is an under supply of suitable care homes in an area, a person 
may be placed some way from their home and local community, or it could result in 
a delayed discharge from hospital. If a placement was made, this could be in other 
parts of Wales or sometimes outside Wales altogether. Placement outside of 
Wales may well be sensible for residents of more easterly counties and at times, a 
placement away from where the resident lived is the correct decision: for example, 
to be nearer to relatives or to ensure that the resident can live in a home where the 
staff are predominantly Welsh speaking. However, this can also lead to relatives 
having long journeys to visit their relatives. 

14 The care home market in North Wales also has some vulnerabilities. Some care-
home owners are nearing retirement and will want to sell their businesses. Some 
homes do not currently meet the environmental standards required under the 
regulations3. Once sold, the new owners may need to comply if the homes are 
unoccupied at the point of sale. This will affect the marketability of their 
businesses, and the cost of building work to comply with the standards may not be 
reflected sufficiently in the fee toolkit methodology. Officers continue to contract 
with these care homes even though they do not fully meet the environmental 
standards, as without using them capacity would be too limited. 

15 Partners, through the Care Home Operational Group, have supported care homes 
to improve quality standards such as practice development nursing support, 
monitoring officer support in development processes and improvement action plans 
and business continuity plans, recruitment and advertising vacancies, 
environmental health support with food hygiene, health and safety officers and 
Welsh learning courses for care home staff. 

16 In addition, partners provide support to help people to stay well, be self-caring and 
to prevent escalation to managed care. This support includes falls prevention 
services and community wellbeing programmes. 

17 Commissioners and providers continue to work together despite the obvious 
challenges posed by the current complexities of the market. Managers meet 
regularly with providers, and the Chief Executive of Care Forum Wales which 
represents providers is now the chair of the RPB. Frustrations are mainly around 
the process and fee structure, but providers and commissioners continue to work 
through this imperfect arrangement. 

18 The social care workforce is another vulnerability and one that has been clearly 
documented in the North Wales Social Care and Community Health Workforce 
Strategy 2018-2021, developed by the North Wales Workforce Board (NWWB), 
which sets out its priorities as: 
• stabilising the workforce – recruitment and retention;  

 
3 The Regulated Services (Service Providers and Responsible Individuals) (Wales) 
Regulations 2017 

Page 43



 

Page 8 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

• learning and development – develop a workforce across the sector that has 
the skills, knowledge, and competencies to deliver high quality personalised 
services; and 

• workforce planning and development in the care home sector. 
Whilst the NWWB reports to the RPB and has undertaken work to begin delivery of 
these priorities, these are not part of a comprehensive regional delivery plan.  

19 In line with other regions in Wales, the challenges that currently exist include a high 
turnover of staff, vacancies in both the health and social care sectors, variable pay 
in identical posts within the Health Board and councils, the impact of BREXIT, 
qualification requirements and the large sums paid out for agency staff by 
providers. The NWWB is working on the Foundation Economy Challenge Fund 
project which is developing a business model for a not-for-profit staffing agency to 
help tackle the workforce challenges across North Wales around recruitment, 
retention and training of the region’s social care and health workers.  

20 The Social Care Workforce Development Partnership circulates information on 
training and recruitment which informs and encourages staff and potential recruits 
to get involved across North Wales. And Flintshire is working on value-based 
recruitment to attract people who want to work in the care sector.  

21 The region is currently in the process of agreeing a new North Wales pre-
placement agreement (PPA) and has extended the current version where these 
are in place, until the new version can be introduced. However, some placements 
are not covered by a PPA because those providers have decided not to sign the 
agreement. PPAs cover things like registration requirements, quality monitoring, 
reference to payment processes and payments after death. Service specifications 
are also not in place across the region. In working to introduce a new version of the 
PPA, partners should be aiming to limit and ideally eliminate instances where 
providers refuse to sign the new PPA. Not having these agreements and 
specifications in place poses a significant risk to the service users’ placement 
especially where disputes arise.  

22 Councils and the Health Board commission on a spot purchase basis, generally 
within a pricing framework. Whilst this means that they only pay for the services 
they use, it also means that if there are potential financial benefits from block 
contracts or cost and volume contracts, they are not realised. As a result, service 
users and partners could be paying more than they should. 

  

Page 44



 

Page 9 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

The Regional Partnership Board’s 2018 Market 
Shaping Statement set out some aspirations for 
care home commissioning which were added to 
by the RPB’s response to ‘A Heathier Wales’ in 
2019, however, neither of these have driven the 
development of a clear regional strategy for 
commissioning care home placements for older 
people in North Wales or a delivery plan to take 
forward the aspirations that have been identified 
23 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 ‘codes and guidance’ state 

that local health boards and councils should, in relation to care homes, agree an 
appropriate integrated regional market position statement and regional 
commissioning strategy. These should specify the outcomes required of care 
homes, including the range of services required. There should also be an 
agreement on the methods of commissioning (for example, some services may 
require a block contract, step up, step down intermediate care services, respite 
care, etc).  

24 Partners in North Wales hold considerable data locally on their service users, the 
range of services across the region such as service users in care homes, those 
receiving domiciliary care support, extra care housing provision and other support 
services. Whilst the Statement projects potential increased care home placements 
based on current numbers and population forecasts, it does not provide any data 
or projections of the impact of preventative services on care home placements. 

25 In North Wales, partners’ preferred model of care home provision for older people 
differs. The demographics across the region vary considerably, which means that 
demand and commissioning needs vary. Some councils have retained their in-
house care homes whilst others rely on the independent sector for care home 
placements. Those remaining councils have a mix of in-house and independent 
provision. Some parts of the region have an oversupply of some types of care 
home places although others lack capacity in specialist areas such as dementia 
care. Whilst some partners may prefer larger, newer care homes others prefer 
smaller care homes, but choice is largely down to what is actually available, or 
what could be supported in the locality. Most see extra care housing replacing 
some of the current care home capacity. 

26 Despite these differences, to comply with the Act, North Wales regional partners 
developed their Market Shaping Statement – Care homes for older people in 
North Wales (the Statement) in 2018 based on its population assessment. The 
statement commits to tackling a range of issues including workforce skills, the 
Welsh language, and the fee methodology. The Market Shaping Statement stated 

Page 45



 

Page 10 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

that: ‘There may need to be a rationalisation of provision across North Wales; for 
example, in some areas there is a shortage of residential care provision and in 
others there is an over-supply – this will require joined-up strategic development to 
ensure that home owners are aware of projected future demand and that 
commissioners and owners work together to develop the workforce to meet the 
anticipated needs (dementia and complex physical health conditions).’ Whilst it set 
out some of the issues, and aspirations for care, it did not provide a clear regional 
strategy or delivery plan for care for older people in care homes in the future. 

27 Of course, a regional strategy does not mean that everything must be done on a 
regional footing. A regional approach may be appropriate where there is an explicit 
need for services to be commissioned and delivered consistently or where demand 
is low for very specialised services. A regional approach may also provide the 
platform for a North Wales solution and prevent costly and sometimes poor 
service-user experiences from out of area placements. There may also be 
opportunities to create economies of scale through regional commissioning and 
delivery. On the other hand, a sub-regional approach could be achieved where 
partners want to work together to shape and adapt services to meet local 
circumstances. A local approach could continue where things work well, but could 
benefit by alignment with regionally agreed standards, processes, and fee 
structures. Whilst national policy assumes a regional approach, partners will need 
to agree how a regional approach can benefit North Wales and what remains best 
managed locally. In North Wales, partners operate with a mix of regional, sub-
regional and local arrangements but the merits and limitations of each have not 
been formally considered by the RPB. 

28 Partners will need to be bold if they are to shape the care home market. This starts 
with an agreed vision, an understanding of the shape of the care market in the 
future and transparency in how they will deliver the transition, engaging 
meaningfully with providers.  

29 Although the Market Shaping Statement committed to publishing a delivery plan to 
underpin it, this work has not been completed. Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic had 
major capacity implications for social care and health partners during 2020 and to 
date, it should be noted that the Statement was approved in 2018. Partners could 
therefore have been developing a delivery plan during 2018 and 2019 to set out 
how the important issues it raised would be addressed.  

30 While the RPB through its response to ‘A Healthier Wales’, in 2019, talks about the 
potential changes needed in the volume and type of care home placements 
needed for older people, it did not capture this in an overall care home 
commissioning strategy or a delivery plan to explain how it will get from where it is 
now to where it needs to be. 

31 We observed the North Wales Commissioning Board meeting on 24 February 2021 
as part of this review. At this meeting attendees agreed the Board’s priorities for 
2020-2022 in respect of planning for the next iteration of the Market Shaping 
Statement. This gives the RPB an opportunity to update the Statement and 

Page 46



 

Page 11 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

develop a clear strategy and delivery plan, to shape the market and pattern of care 
home provision especially in relation to the more complex and specialist care, 
which for some users is currently provided out of region. 

As previously reported, the current pooled fund 
arrangement does not provide value for money or 
any of the intended benefits associated with the 
pooled fund model 
32 As referred to earlier in this report, partners are required under the Act to establish 

and maintain a pooled fund arrangement to support the delivery of their care home 
accommodation functions. In 2020, Audit Wales raised concerns about how the six 
North Wales councils and Health Board had sought to meet these obligations. We 
concluded that whilst the current pooled fund arrangement meets the minimum 
technical compliance, as agreed by the Welsh Government, it does not provide 
value for money. The Auditor General wrote to each North Wales council and the 
Health Board in September 2020, proposing that they should review the current 
pooled fund arrangement for residential care for older people, to ensure that 
transfers of funds between public bodies have a tangible benefit such as better, 
more integrated commissioning of residential and nursing home care. The Auditor 
General also wrote to the Welsh Government raising his concerns. 

33 The RPB was also advised about recommendations made in a separate Welsh 
Government commissioned report4 on pooled budget arrangements for older 
people’s residential care across Wales. All RPB chairs have been asked by the 
Welsh Government for their improvement plans detailing how they will address the 
nine recommendations set out in that report, including how they will use the 
Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru toolkit, which has been available 
since summer 2019, to support the development of pooled funds. These plans 
were expected to strengthen pooled fund arrangements and identify the steps 
which can be taken at an all-Wales level to share learning. To support this 
approach, the Welsh Government asked the National Commissioning Board to 
work with RPBs to develop regional commissioning and pooling of resources.  

34 The RPB chair replied to the Welsh Government on 1 March 2021 setting out 
partners’ reasons for delaying any progress with the pooled fund arrangement until 
the Welsh Government had considered responses to the White Paper – 
Rebalancing Care and Support because of its potential impact on the role and 
function of the RPB. The RPB has clearly stated its view that pooled budgets 
should be based locally and not on a larger regional footprint. It is understood that 

 
4 Welsh Government, Welsh Government Pooled Budgets Evaluation Framework 
focusing on the use of pooled budgets relating to care home accommodation for people 
aged over 65, June 2020.  

Page 47

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-11/welsh-government-pooled-budgets-evaluation-framework_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-11/welsh-government-pooled-budgets-evaluation-framework_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-11/welsh-government-pooled-budgets-evaluation-framework_0.pdf


 

Page 12 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

the RPB is in ongoing dialogue with the Welsh Government on the best way to 
implement the Act more broadly, and not just in relation to the use of pooled 
budgets.  

35 Whilst the stance of partners on pooled budgets at the regional level up to this 
point is noted, there has been a recent Ministerial Statement setting out the next 
steps following the consultation on the White Paper. The Statement sets out an 
expectation of effective partnership working at all levels, including regionally. It also 
highlights the benefits of a regional approach in providing care to service users 
with complex needs. With that as context, the existing recommendation we made 
to all North Wales RPB partners in respect of pooled budgets remains in place. 
This stated that RPB partners should review the current pooled budget 
arrangement for residential care for older people, to ensure that transfers of funds 
between public bodies have a tangible benefit such as better, more integrated 
commissioning of residential and nursing home care.  

Whilst the RPB network brings partners together 
to ‘think regionally’, its structures, largely set out 
by the Welsh Government, are extensive and 
complex, and lines of accountability need to be 
strengthened 
36 The Act sets out RPB membership; it can comprise a councillor from one council in 

the region, Directors of Social Services, a Local Health Board member, a council 
housing and an education representative, a registered social landlord, a member of 
the public and a carer. Additional members can be co-opted as necessary such as 
members from the Wales Ambulance Service, Fire Service and Police. With the 
North Wales RPB comprising six councils and the Health Board, this routinely 
results in over 30 people attending each meeting. 

37 The RPB structure has evolved over time; whilst it is subject to local context, much 
is as set out by the Welsh Government. The North Wales RPB is supported by a 
Regional Leadership Group and Regional Collaboration Team. Four 
Transformation Boards covering Learning Disabilities, Community Services and 
Children and Young People and the Together for Mental Health Board underpin the 
work of the RPB. There are three Local Implementation Teams, specific to mental 
health and three Area Integrated Service Boards operating sub regionally, covering 
Wrexham and Flintshire, Gwynedd and Anglesey, and Conwy and Denbighshire. 
The establishment of these boards and Local Implementation Teams shows that 
partners recognise the benefits of sub-regional working and have developed 
arrangements that cover local differences whilst supporting the regional approach. 
The RPB is further supported by groups, boards and networks as follows: 
• Carers Operational Group 
• Commissioning Board 

Page 48



 

Page 13 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

• Workforce Board 
• Mwy na Geiriau Forum 
• Dewis Cymru network 
• Pooled Budgets Group 
• Welsh Community Care Information System Board 
• Social Value Steering Group 
• Integrated Care Fund Operational Group 
• Research Innovation and Improvement Hub 
• Integrated Autism Service Strategic Group 
Appendix 1 sets out these groups in an organisation chart.  

38 The establishment of these groups shows that partners come together to address 
some of the detailed aspects of RPB business. Attendance at these meetings can 
be considerably time consuming but demonstrates commitment to partnership 
working across the region. Although this shows that the RPB is maturing in the way 
it conducts its business, the scale of the RPB structure and operation makes it 
quite unwieldy and presents challenges for the way it operates. 

39 The Welsh Government has set out its expectations for integrated services clearly 
in legislation and supplementary guidance, which includes the role of the RPB in 
delivering this change. We identified barriers to more regional integration in North 
Wales as follows: 
• organisational difference – priorities, approaches, and accountability; 
• perceived reduction in accountability presented by the additional layer of 

governance; 
• funding source and additional costs; 
• local control versus regional control; 
• scale and diversity of the region;  
• lack of willingness to share resources; and 
• lack of trust amongst some partners. 

40 When taking part in RPB meetings, officers, and councillors, may not have 
delegated authority to commit their own organisation’s resources or decide on 
policy and strategic direction. Whilst RPB members are accountable within their 
own organisational governance arrangements, there is no evidence to demonstrate 
decisions are taken back for approval, or that the RPB business is subject to formal 
scrutiny to hold it to account or challenge its proposals.  

41 The Regional Leadership Board is briefed by members of the RPB on the activities 
and proposals made. However, this Board does not have the delegated authority to 
commit individual councils’ resources or decide on policy and strategic direction. In 
addition, the RPB is not held to account for delivering impact or meeting legislative 
requirements by partners or the Welsh Government. 

Page 49



 

Page 14 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Nationally set fee structures are complex and 
result in a significant focus on cost which causes 
division amongst partners and has the potential 
to impact adversely on service users and their 
families 

The fees paid for care home placements fluctuate 
depending on the service user’s own resources, which 
public body makes the placement and contractual 
arrangements with providers, and fee rates do not 
necessarily reflect the complexity of residents’ care needs 
42 The funding arrangements for care homes are complex. At a high level, 

responsibility for care home fees is straightforward. A person can choose to move 
to a care home at their own expense if they have the resources to pay. If a person 
has primary health needs, then the health board is responsible for meeting the full 
costs. If a person has social care needs, the council is responsible for meeting 
these costs, but the service user will be assessed to determine how much they 
should pay towards their care. And if a person has a combination of health and 
care needs then the council and health board will share the costs. However, the 
detail that sits behind how this works in practice is complex and confusing. 

43 For example, if a council contracts for the placement, the maximum amount a 
service user pays for their care per week varies depending on where they live. For 
example, a person with over £50,000 capital, living in Anglesey or Gwynedd, 
receiving the lowest level of care in a care home would pay £586.32 per week if 
they were placed in Anglesey or Gwynedd. However, if the same person were 
placed in Conwy, they would pay £611 per week, a difference of £1,283 per year. 
Alternatively, if placed in Wrexham, they would pay £608.72 per week, a difference 
of £1,164 per year. Some people may choose to move into a care home outside 
their area; but if the decision is made because of limited local care home capacity, 
service users are directly affected financially by market capacity. 

44 Councils and the Health Board negotiate with providers each year to agree fees for 
residential care and nursing home placements. Councils pay an enhanced rate in 
each category for people with mental health problems. 

45 The fees are calculated using a toolkit originally adapted in 2013 for North Wales. 
This toolkit is designed to set out the costs that have been considered in the 
calculation of the care home fees. It provides transparency in the process and 
should provide a fair fee structure, although some providers do not routinely share 
their business accounts to support the process. We were told during the review 
that over a third of providers consider that their costs are not covered by the toolkit 

Page 50



 

Page 15 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

assumptions, so they renegotiate their fees separately with each council. One 
council told us that a provider in their area had six homes all with different fee rates 
and around 20% of providers in that area had renegotiated their fees in 2019-20. If 
a council places one of its residents into the home in a neighbouring council, it will 
pay the rate set by that council, whether it be higher or lower, not the rate it has 
agreed with that provider for in-county placements. 

46 Where councils commission the placement, these should be at the agreed rates or 
the individually renegotiated weekly rate. Service users will be financially assessed 
in line with Welsh Government guidance to determine how much they should pay 
per week towards their care costs, and if they are able to pay the full cost 
themselves then they will pay the rate agreed by the council. Under the Welsh 
Government’s COVID-19 hardship fund, a £50 per week per resident temporary 
fee uplift was awarded for council commissioned residential care and in-house 
residential care provision; this is in addition to the care home fees. 

47 If a service user chooses a care home where the provider will not accept the prices 
agreed with the councils, another person, normally a relative or a friend may agree 
to pay a third-party top up which is the difference between the care home fees and 
the amount the Council would normally pay. If the third-party ceases to pay the top 
up amount there are three choices: 
• the care home accepts the lower agreed rate;  
• the service user moves to a care home that accepts the agreed fees; or  
• the Council agrees to pay the top up in addition to the fees it has agreed to 

pay.  
We understand that often councils agree to pay the top up to avoid disruption to 
the service user. 

48 If the service user is entitled to Funded Nursing Care5, the Health Board pays 
£179.79 per week in addition to the Council’s agreed fees. And if the Health Board 
makes a placement under its Continuing Health Care (CHC) arrangements, it will 
pay different fees again. 

49 In 2019, the Health Board had started to review its fees and the method used to set 
the CHC rate. The review of fees is set to take up to three years. If the service user 
has higher than average complex care needs, the Health Board will assess the 
additional costs and agree a rate above the standard CHC rates.  

50 In some cases, councils and the Health Board will agree to jointly fund a 
placement. This sometimes increases the complexity of the placement process. In 
such cases this may require a separate agreement with a different fee.  

51 In some cases, the Health Board may place a person in a nursing home and their 
health might improve, resulting in the Health Board no longer being liable for the 

 
5 NHS-funded Nursing Care (FNC) is funding provided by the NHS to cover the cost of 
care by a registered nurse in a care home or nursing home. The rate is set nationally. 

Page 51



 

Page 16 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

costs. In these cases, councils may come under pressure to pay the same rates as 
agreed with the Health Board, which may exceed the agreed standard rate.  

52 The Health Board has also been allocated additional COVID-19 hardship funding 
and has been able to use some of this funding to speed up discharge from 
hospital. Having another funding stream adds further complexity to the care home 
fee structures. However, it may in turn add further pressures to councils where they 
take over responsibility for the placement for which providers have been receiving 
a higher weekly rate but now need to drop to agreed rates.  

53 When a service user’s needs change, this can result in changes in funding 
packages, at which stage responsibility for funding may change from council to 
health board. In line with national policy, care funded by a health board is free to 
the service user. The Health Board is planning work to support care homes to help 
the homes better identify and evaluate when changes to care packages are 
needed. 

Providers consider the fees paid to be unfair and 
inequitable 
54 The public sector in Wales has been dealing with the consequences of financial 

austerity for many years. The emphasis has therefore been on providing and 
commissioning services at the lowest possible cost. For care homes this has 
resulted in scrutiny of their fees to set affordable rates balanced against the need 
for providers to remain viable as businesses. In North Wales, this is done using the 
fee setting toolkit. 

55 Providers we spoke to during this review raised concerns about the toolkit used to 
calculate the fee levels. The size of the homes differs considerably, therefore 
economies of scale may vary. Providers accepted that there needs to be a 
transparent process to agree fees but questioned the extent to which the toolkit 
satisfies this need, and we noted that many providers do not share their accounts. 
The need for change is recognised within the Statement where in 2018, partners 
committed to ‘Reviewing the true (full) cost of council homes & cost of care at 
home in relation to value for money comparisons and to develop an urgent 
response procedure to react to changes in the cost of running homes or when the 
providers identify a financial problem.’ The Unit Cost and Financial Modelling 
Subgroup which includes providers’ representatives has begun work to assess the 
true cost of care in line with the Welsh Government’s ‘Let’s Agree to Agree’ 
Framework. 

56 Some providers have several homes in different parts of North Wales where the 
agreed fees are different for what they see as the same service level and 
infrastructure costs. And some providers may have homes in other parts of Wales 
where fees are higher than in North Wales. While in many cases this will be 
because of local differences in costs, in some cases these variations could 

Page 52



 

Page 17 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

potentially result in other councils effectively cross subsidising the lower care home 
fees paid by North Wales councils and the Health Board.  

57 Providers recognise that they compete when recruiting staff but raised the 
perceived inequalities in the toolkit calculation. The toolkit includes carer costs 
based on the minimum wage6 whereas councils and the Health Board pay their 
own staff the living wage7 or above.  

Commissioners consider they have little control over the 
fees they pay 
58 Care home costs are considerable. For example, basic care in a Denbighshire or 

Gwynedd care home would cost £30,489 per year, increasing to £48,776 for 
nursing home care with continuing health care in Conwy or Denbighshire. In some 
cases, councils are sometimes left with no choice other than to accept 
responsibility for commitments made by the Health Board or relatives or friends 
who discontinue third-party top up payments at higher rates than those described 
here. This is a symptom of two separate national funding models across Health 
and Social Care as well as an interface between partners that is not truly 
integrated. It is unsurprising therefore that public sector bodies have such a keen 
focus on managing cost. 

Partners need to do more to demonstrate they 
are meeting their statutory responsibilities around 
the Welsh language, and the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act, when commissioning care 
homes provision and making individual 
placements 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is 
not fully embedded in practice  
59 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG Act) places a  

well-being duty on public bodies. To do this, they need to consider the sustainable 
development principle, acting in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of 
the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs. The WFG Act requires public bodies to implement five ways of 

 
6 A 23-year-old and over would be entitled to £8.91 per hour living wage. 
7 The UK Living Wage is £9.50 per hour for 2021-22. 

Page 53



 

Page 18 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

working in respect of their future decision making. Our observations on the five 
ways of working in respect of care home commissioning is as follows: 
• Long-term. Partners are facing considerable growth in the North Wales 

older population as referred to in the Shaping the Market Statement, but 
partners have not yet set out their plans for meeting the consequential 
increasing care home needs.  

• Prevention. Under the WFG Act, public bodies are required to deploy 
resources to prevent problems occurring or getting worse. In the case of 
older people’s need for care home placements, partners face a clear 
challenge with the forecast increases in the older population in North Wales. 
The Market Shaping Statement lacks detail about how partners plan to 
reduce the demand for care home placements by investment in preventative 
services, although preventative action is evident through the RPB 
demonstrating that partners are meeting the prevention obligations under the 
Act. 

• Integration. Whilst the precise wording of well-being objectives varies 
across public sector bodies in North Wales, there is commonality around 
care for vulnerable people, suitability of where people live and addressing 
inequalities. North Wales partners have developed a Dementia Strategy and 
a Carers Strategy, which demonstrates integrated planning in these areas, 
however, the lack of a strategy or delivery plan linked to the Shaping the 
Market Statement indicates that integrated planning to meet the needs of 
older people requiring care home accommodation is in its early stages. 

• Collaboration. The WFG Act states that a public body must take account of 
how acting in collaboration with others could assist the body to meet its well-
being objectives or assist another body to meet its objectives. Partners meet 
in a range of settings to consider the challenges they face in relation to the 
increasing older population, however, what is less clear is how partners are 
‘acting’ collaboratively to address the challenges within the commissioning 
process. 

• Involvement. In North Wales, the RPB includes a carer, and they can 
contribute to the business based on their experiences. However, in practice 
many discussions take place outside the RPB meetings between statutory 
partners or in sub-groups, forums or boards which will not generally involve 
the carer representative. North Wales partners have processes in place to 
seek the views of people living in the care home. Whilst those involved in the 
commissioning of care home placements are aware of service users’ 
experiences, such as the costs they bear through third-party top ups, 
partners do not collate, report, or quantify these experiences and have not 
acted effectively as partners to learn from this feedback. 

  

Page 54



 

Page 19 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Service user language requirements are sometimes not 
protected, leading to communication difficulties 
60 The Welsh Language Act 1993 put the Welsh language on an equal footing with 

the English language in Wales, and the Welsh Government has subsequently set 
legally binding standards8 to improve the bilingual service that the people of Wales 
can expect to receive from certain public and statutory bodies. The Language 
Standards are divided into five different categories that include service delivery and 
policy making. Partners are working with providers to improve access to care 
services in the service user’s language of choice.  

61 The North Wales More Than Just Words Regional Forum was awarded a special 
commendation for their work which promotes collaboration, to fulfil the 
requirements of the Welsh Government’s strategic framework relating to the quality 
and availability of the Welsh Language in social care and health settings. 

62 However, as described earlier in this report, the shape of the care home market in 
North Wales sometimes results in service users being placed in other parts of 
Wales or in England, because the specialist nature of the care is not available 
locally or to accommodate family links elsewhere. For relatives and friends this can 
mean long journeys to visit the service user and for people whose preferred 
language is Welsh, this makes communication difficult if the home does not employ 
Welsh-speaking staff, with potential consequences for the quality of care for the 
individual. This also represents a break in culture and a sense of place. 

  

 
8 www.welshlanguagecommissioner.wales/public-organisations/welsh-language-
standards 

Page 55

https://www.welshlanguagecommissioner.wales/public-organisations/welsh-language-standards
https://www.welshlanguagecommissioner.wales/public-organisations/welsh-language-standards


 

Page 20 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Recommendations 

Exhibit 2: recommendations  

Exhibit 2 sets out recommendations for North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health Board arising from this review. 

Recommendations 

R1 North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board need to 
ensure the consistent use of pre-placement agreements across the region. 

R2  The current approach for commissioning care home places can cause tensions 
between partners and result in poor value and poor service user experience. 
North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board need to 
work together to review local arrangements for commissioning care home 
placements to eliminate avoidable adverse impacts on service users, and each 
other. 

R3 Accountability is a cornerstone of public sector decision making. Governance 
arrangements need to scrutinise decisions and hold decision makers to 
account. North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 
need to strengthen their partnership governance arrangements to ensure 
proper accountability and effective scrutiny. 

R4 North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board through the 
Regional Commissioning Board need to develop a regionally agreed care home 
commissioning strategy and following this, develop an associated delivery plan. 

R5 North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board need to 
review their commissioning arrangements for care home placements to ensure 
they fulfil their statutory responsibilities around the Welsh language, and the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act. 

Page 56



Appendix 1 

Page 21 of 22 - Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Regional Partnership Board structure chart 

 
 

P
age 57



 

 

Audit Wales 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 
Textphone: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 
We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 
galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. 

 

Page 58

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/


 

Page 1 of 8 - Management response 

Management response 

Report title: Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board  

Completion date: December 2021 

Document reference: 2467A2021-22 

P
age 61



Page 2 of 8 - Management response 

Ref Recommendation Intended 

outcome/ 

benefit 

High 

priority 

(yes/no)  

Management response Compl

etion 

date 

Responsible 

officer 

R1 North Wales councils and 

Betsi Cadwaladr University 

Health Board need to 

ensure the consistent use 

of pre-placement 

agreements across the 

region. 

Increased 

transparency of 

roles and 

responsibilities to 

support the 

contracting 

process. 

Additional level of 

service user 

protection. 

Yes We are currently finalising the 

review of the North Wales PPA.  A 

new PPA agreed with CFW will be 

in place by April 2022. 

Following this LA and HB 

commissioners will issue the new 

PPA to their providers and track 

providers who have signed and 

returned the PPA.  

We will also develop an agreed 

consistent approach and process 

for dealing with those providers 

who refuse to sign the PPA.   

Sept 

2022 

Lead:  

Joint Chairs of 

Regional 

Commissioning 

Board  

 

Operational:  

Local Authority 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

Health Board 

Commissioning 

Managers Regional  

 

Supported by: 

Business Manager 

– Commissioning & 

Workforce 

 

P
age 62



Page 3 of 8 - Management response 

Ref Recommendation Intended 

outcome/ 

benefit 

High 

priority 

(yes/no)  

Management response Compl

etion 

date 

Responsible 

officer 

R2 The current approach for 

commissioning care home 

places can cause tensions 

between partners and 

result in poor value and 

poor service user 

experience. North Wales 

councils and Betsi 

Cadwaladr University 

Health Board need to work 

together to review local 

arrangements for 

commissioning care home 

placements to eliminate 

avoidable adverse impacts 

on service users, and each 

other. 

Identification of 

organisational 

blockages within 

the process to aid 

resolution 

Yes We will hold workshops with all 

Local Authority and Health board 

commissioners to review their 

current care home commissioning 

arrangements in order to: 

- ensure all commissioners are 

aware of each other’s processes 

- to identify and share process 

improvement ideas and learning 

- to identify common practice and 

why / where different 

commissioning practice and 

processes occur. 

 

Sept 

2022 

Lead:  

Local Authority 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

Health Board 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

Supported by: 

Regional Business 

Manager – 

Commissioning & 

Workforce 

 

P
age 63



Page 4 of 8 - Management response 

Ref Recommendation Intended 

outcome/ 

benefit 

High 

priority 

(yes/no)  

Management response Compl

etion 

date 

Responsible 

officer 

R3 Accountability is a 

cornerstone of public sector 

decision making. 

Governance arrangements 

need to scrutinise decisions 

and hold decision makers 

to account. North Wales 

councils and Betsi 

Cadwaladr University 

Health Board need to 

review and strengthen their 

partnership governance 

arrangements to ensure 

proper accountability and 

effective scrutiny. 

Better 

accountability of 

people working in 

partnership by 

increasing 

transparency and 

opportunity for 

robust challenge 

and scrutiny of 

decisions by 

sponsoring 

organisations. 

This will also 

reduce the 

potential for 

external challenge 

and/or judicial 

review. 

Yes Review of RPB membership, 

terms of reference, accountability 

and decision making scope is 

currently underway.   

This will look at the link between 

local decision making and RPB 

decision making with a focus on 

how to ensure and evidence local 

decision making input in to the 

RPB’s decisions and also how the 

RPB is accountable to local 

democratic structures in the Local 

Authorities and the Health Board. 

Dec 

2022 

Lead:  

Chair of Regional 

Partnership Board 

 

Operational: 

Head of Regional 

Collaboration 

 

Advice from: 

Regional Legal 

Service & 

Local Authority 

Governance leads 

P
age 64



Page 5 of 8 - Management response 

R4 North Wales councils and 

Betsi Cadwaladr University 

Health Board through the 

Regional Commissioning 

Board need to develop a 

regionally agreed care 

home commissioning 

strategy and associated 

delivery plan. 

A clear, agreed 

and approved 

approach for 

public sector 

partners in North 

Wales to address 

the major strategic 

challenges 

experienced both 

currently and 

projected in the 

longer term in 

relation to care 

home 

commissioning. 

Together with an 

approved plan 

detailing how they 

intend to get from 

where they are 

today to where 

they want to be in 

the future. 

Yes We will build on work undertaken 

to develop the Regional PNA and 

MSR documents and the Steering 

Group will remain in place to move 

forward with the themes from the 

PNA-MSR in to the Regional 

Commissioning Strategy for Care 

Home Commissioning.  They will 

also be responsible for developing 

the delivery plan which will cover 

regional, sub-regional and local 

actions and link in to the local 

MSR and PNA documents / 

analysis.   

 

March 

2023 

Lead:  

Joint Chairs of 

Regional 

Commissioning 

Board  

 

Operational:  

MSR-PNA Steering 

Group Members 

 

Regional Business 

Manager – 

Commissioning & 

Workforce 

 

Local Authority 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

Health Board 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

P
age 65



Page 6 of 8 - Management response 

R5 North Wales councils and 

Betsi Cadwaladr University 

Health Board need to 

review their commissioning 

arrangements for care 

home placements to ensure 

they fulfil their statutory 

responsibilities around the 

Welsh language, and the 

Well-being of Future 

Generations Act. 

Clear and upfront 

consideration of 

statutory 

responsibilities 

around the Welsh 

language, and the 

Well-being of 

Future 

Generations Act in 

strategic planning 

of care home 

placements. 

Yes The Mwy Na Geiriau Steering 

Group are already looking at way 

to improve staff confidence and 

capabilities in providing services in 

Welsh.  Recruitment of Welsh 

speaking staff is a priority and a 

focus in the Regional We Care 

campaign. 

 

The Regional PNA-MSR Steering 

Group will build on their existing 

links with the Wellbeing 

Assessments and embed the 

delivery of the WFGA wellbeing 

goals in to their commissioning of 

care home placements and wider 

social care and community health 

provision.   

March 

2023 

Lead:  

LA Directors of 

Social Care and 

Health Board Welsh 

Language Lead 

 

WFGA Goals = 

PNA_MSR Steering 

Group members  

 

Operational:  

Local Authority 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

Health Board 

Commissioning 

Managers 

 

LA and Health 

Board Workforce 

Managers  

 

Supported by: 

Regional Business 

Manager – 

P
age 66



Page 7 of 8 - Management response 

Ref Recommendation Intended 

outcome/ 

benefit 

High 

priority 

(yes/no)  

Management response Compl

etion 

date 

Responsible 

officer 

Commissioning & 

Workforce 

 

 

 

P
age 67



 

Page 8 of 8 - Management response 

Responsible Officer / Key Leads 

 

Regional Partnership Board 

RPB Chair Mary Wimbury 

Regional Commissioning Board  

Joint Chair of Regional Commissioning Board Morwena Edwards and Clare Darlington 

Local Authority Commissioning Managers  

Mon Local Authority Bethan Williams / Iola Richards 

Gwynedd Local Authority Rhion Glyn / Hawis Jones 

Conwy Mark Bowler 

Denbighshire Lianna Duffy 

Flintshire Jane Davies and Dawn Holt 

Wrexham Victoria Bishop and Angharad Owen 

Health Board Commissioning Managers  

Contracts and Commissioning  Tracy Pope 

CHC Commissioning Kath Titchen 

Regional Collaboration Team  

Head of Regional Collaboration Catrin Roberts 

Regional Business Manager Catrin Perry 

Regional Legal Support lead ?? 

PNA-MSR Steering Group leads  

Mon Emma Edwards 

Gwynedd Hawis Jones 

Conwy Mark Bowler 

Denbighshire Sue Hudson 

Flintshire Emma Murphy 

Wrexham  Victoria Bishop 

BCUHB Wendy Hooson 

Mwy Na Geiriau Steering Group members   

TBC ?? 

 

P
age 68



Care Home Commissioning 
for Older People
Report of the Auditor General for Wales

December 2021

Page 69



page 2 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance 
with statutory functions.

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may 
be relevant, attention is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 
of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is 
expected of public authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. 
In relation to this document, the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit 
Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding disclosure or re-use of 
this document should be sent to Audit Wales at infoofficer@audit.wales.

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. 
Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth 
a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain 
at oedi.

This document is also available in Welsh. 

 

Page 70

mailto:infoofficer%40audit.wales?subject=


page 3 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Contents

Summary report 4
Current arrangements for commissioning older people’s care-home  
placements are not resolving some long-standing issues; the Welsh 
Government must assure itself that proposed policy reforms go  
far enough  4

About this report 4

Across Wales, the costs of care-home commissioning for older  
people run into several hundreds of millions of pounds each  
year and many thousands of people are affected 5

The Welsh Government expects local authorities and health  
boards to collaborate effectively as they deliver their care-home 
commissioning duties  7

The Auditor General has raised concerns previously with the  
Welsh Government about whether regional pooled funds in  
relation to care homes for older people are delivering  
value for money 9

Our work on commissioning older people’s care-home  
placements across North Wales identified some fundamental  
issues that are likely to be reflected throughout Wales to  
some degree  11

There is a timely opportunity for the Welsh Government to  
ensure planned reform resolves some of the long-standing  
and challenging issues around care-home commissioning  
and integrated care 13

Recommendations 15

Appendices 16
1 Spending on commissioned care-home placements across   
 Wales 17

Page 71



page 4 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Summary report

Current arrangements for commissioning older 
people’s care-home placements are not resolving some 
long-standing issues; the Welsh Government must 
assure itself that proposed policy reforms go far enough 

About this report

1 We have recently completed a review of the commissioning of care-home 
placements for older people in North Wales. Our work involved a range of 
commissioning partners but focused primarily on the six local authorities1 
and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board. We have prepared 
a detailed report for these organisations to help drive improvement 
specifically in North Wales: Commissioning Older People’s Care Home 
Placements – North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board. Our review enabled us to consider in more detail, across the 
region, issues raised in previous audit work on social services budgetary 
pressures in two of the local authorities2.

2 We have prepared this short report to draw out from our work in 
North Wales some issues of wider national significance and to make 
recommendations for the Welsh Government to consider. Our aim is to 
highlight challenges that should be considered as part of planned policy 
reform and to secure meaningful change and better outcomes for people 
across Wales. The report is rooted in evidence from our work in North 
Wales, but we have also drawn on our wider audit intelligence such as 
from our all-Wales review of the Integrated Care Fund in July 2019 and 
publicly available data on spending and activity.

1 The councils involved are Isle of Anglesey, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Gwynedd and 
Wrexham.

2 In 2020, we reported on social services budgetary pressures in Conwy County Borough 
Council and Denbighshire County Council. Page 72

https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/2021-12/north_wales_councils_older_people_care_home_placements_english.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/2021-12/north_wales_councils_older_people_care_home_placements_english.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/2021-12/north_wales_councils_older_people_care_home_placements_english.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/publication/integrated-care-fund
https://www.audit.wales/publication/conwy-county-borough-council-social-services-budgetary-and-cost-pressures
https://www.audit.wales/publication/conwy-county-borough-council-social-services-budgetary-and-cost-pressures
https://www.audit.wales/publication/denbighshire-county-council-social-services-budgetary-and-cost-pressures


page 5 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Across Wales, the costs of care-home commissioning for older 
people run into several hundreds of millions of pounds each year 
and many thousands of people are affected

3 Care-home commissioning is the result of assessing population need, 
planning, shaping, procuring, and sometimes providing care-home 
services. It involves monitoring and managing service quality. It should be 
undertaken with the aim of delivering sufficient good-quality care-home 
capacity to meet current and expected future need. It should focus on 
value for the taxpayer and outcomes for service users. It is much more 
than the spot purchasing of care-home placements.

4 The public funds involved with care-home commissioning flow from local-
authority and health-board budgets. Care-home commissioning also draws 
on large parts of individuals’ life savings. At a high level, responsibility for 
care-home fees is straightforward:
• a person can choose to move to a care home at their own expense;
• if a person has continuing healthcare needs, then the health board is 

responsible for meeting the full costs;
• if a person has social care needs only, the local authority is responsible 

for meeting these costs, but the service user will be assessed to 
determine how much they should pay towards their care; and

• if a person has a combination of health and care needs then the council 
and health board will share the costs.

Complexity can arise when health boards and local authorities need to 
agree on eligibility for funding. 

5 Exhibit 1 provides some key facts and figures relevant to care-home 
commissioning across Wales. The figures are for different years 
depending on the latest available published data, as at the end of June 
2021. We have reported 2019-20 costs for health boards for the purpose 
of comparison with local authorities. Appendix 1 includes an additional 
breakdown of certain costs for individual local authorities and health 
boards relative to their populations. The data used in this report is the 
latest information available from before the pandemic; to use more recent 
data would not reflect normal activity levels.

Page 73



page 6 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Exhibit 1: some key facts relevant to care-home commissioning

Sources:
• Social Care Wales – workforce profile 2018 
• The future of care in Wales, Wales Fiscal Analysis 
• Health Board Annual Accounts. The majority but not all continuing healthcare 

costs relate to care-home placements
• Competitions and Market Authority (CMA) – Care-homes market study 2017
• StatsWales

6.24 million days
Total number of days adults aged 65 or 
over were supported in residential care 

homes in 2018-19 (StatsWales) 

16,144
Aged over-65 receiving adult  
care-home services from local 

authorities in 2018-19.

Of these, 5,534 are also receiving 
nursing services.

833 days
Average period that 
adults over 65 were 

supported in residential 
care homes as recorded 
in 2018-19 (StatsWales)

£297 million
Local authority spending on 

nursing and residential placements 
aged 65 and over in Wales in  

2019-20 (StatsWales)

£415 million
Health Board continuing healthcare and 

funded nursing-care costs in  2019-20 
(Annual Accounts)

Latest data indicates:
677 care homes in Wales

263 of these provide nursing care

96 Welsh local-authority-run care homes

22,706 care-home beds in Wales  
(CMA 2017)

25,500 residential care staff

Page 74

https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/SCWWDP_commissioned-services_2018_eng_Final.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/2427400/social_care_final2_aug20.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a1fdf30e5274a750b82533a/care-homes-market-study-final-report.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue


page 7 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

The Welsh Government expects local authorities and health 
boards to collaborate effectively as they deliver their care-home 
commissioning duties 

6 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWB Act) came 
into force on 6 April 2016. The Act provides the legal framework for 
improving the wellbeing of people who need care and support and for 
transforming social services in Wales. It includes some key requirements 
around care-home commissioning. The SSWB Act requires local 
authorities and health boards to work together to assess the care and 
support needs of the population in their area3. Local authorities and 
health boards were required to publish their first combined population 
assessments as required by April 2017. Thereafter, local authorities and 
local health boards are required to prepare one combined population 
assessment report per local government electoral cycle. 

7 As well as existing specific public-sector equality duties4 for public 
authorities in Wales, the socio-economic duty which commenced on 30 
March 2021 in Wales places a legal responsibility on relevant bodies. 
These include certain local authorities and local health boards5, when they 
are taking ‘strategic decisions’ to have due regard to the need to reduce 
the inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage. 
Welsh Government guidance states strategic decisions are those which 
help a relevant body fulfil its intended statutory purpose. There is not an 
exhaustive list of decisions that will engage the duty, although examples 
include strategic policy development, major commissioning decisions 
such as those for care home commissioning and the setting of well-being 
objectives6. 

8 The SSWB Act requires local authorities to undertake market stability 
reviews but did not set a commencement date for these. Regulations 
introduced in April 2021 have set specific requirements to publish 
the stability report by 1 June 2022, six years after the Act came into 
force. Therefore, the impact of these requirements on the care-home 
commissioning for older people remains to be seen. 

3 Code of Practice in relation to measuring social services performance issued under section 
145 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

4 The Public Sector Equality Duty Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010; The Equality Act 2010 
(Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 

5 Section 2(6) of the Equality Act 2010; The Equality Act (Authorities subject to the Socio-
economic Inequality Duty) (Wales) Regulations 2021, relevant bodies include Local Health 
Boards and a County Council or County Borough Council

6 Welsh Government Guidance – A More Equal Wales – The Socio-economic Duty Equality 
Act 2010 Page 75

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
https://gov.wales/more-equal-wales-socio-economic-duty
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2021/198/part/2/chapter/1/made
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/code-of-practice-in-relation-to-measuring-social-services-performance.pdf


page 8 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

9 The SSWB Act Statutory Guidance relating to partnerships arrangements7 
states that local health boards and local authorities should in relation 
to care homes undertake a population needs assessment and market 
analysis to incorporate the needs of self-funders. They should also agree 
an appropriate integrated regional market position statement and regional 
commissioning strategy. These should specify the outcomes required of 
care homes, including the range of services required, and consensus on 
the methods of commissioning. In addition, the guidance states that local 
authorities and health boards should:
• agree a common contract and specification. 
• agree common contract monitoring criteria and processes that include 

service user feedback. 
• develop an integrated approach to agreeing fees with providers. 
• develop an integrated approach to quality assurance. 
• adopt a transparent use of resources. Budgets must be aligned with 

overall expenditure identified, together with the financial commitments 
of both agencies to the commissioning of care homes. These 
arrangements will need to be subject to a written agreement.

10 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires bodies 
covered by the Act – including health boards and local authorities – to 
work differently. They must show they are applying the sustainable 
development principle. This includes balancing short and long-term 
needs, considering how their objectives integrate with other partners, 
working in collaboration, involving stakeholders, and seeking preventative 
approaches. As mentioned above, when carrying out existing duties which 
could be strategic, such as the setting of well-being objectives, relevant 
bodies are also now required to demonstrate paying due regard to the 
socio-economic duty in their decision making.

11 In our recent regional report on Commissioning Older People’s Care 
Home Placements, we recommended that North Wales Councils and 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board review their commissioning 
arrangements for care-home placements to ensure they fulfil their statutory 
responsibilities around the Welsh language, and the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act in particular. 

7 Welsh Government ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014’ Codes and guidance: 
Part 9 Statutory Guidance (Partnership Arrangements) Issued under Section 169 of the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014Page 76

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents


page 9 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

The Auditor General has raised concerns previously with the Welsh 
Government about whether regional pooled funds in relation to 
care homes for older people are delivering value for money

12 Our July 2019 report on the Welsh Government’s Integrated Care Fund 
noted that before the SSWB Act and the introduction of the fund in 2014, 
health and social care partnerships had explored the potential to pool 
funds to develop integrated services. However, there had been only a 
handful of practical examples and the willingness of key public bodies to 
release funds into joint arrangements was a key barrier.

13 The SSWB Act led to statutory Regional Partnership Boards (RPBs) 
being established and with an expectation that they would develop pooled 
funds. Our report on the Integrated Care Fund noted that pooled funds 
for the commissioning of adult care-home provision had been in place 
across Wales since April 2018. The report reflected the view of Welsh 
Government officials that the maturing of partnership arrangements 
because of the Integrated Care Fund had provided a solid basis for taking 
pooled funding arrangements forward. However, it also found that there 
was little evidence of successful projects being mainstreamed and funded 
as part of public bodies’ core service delivery.

14 In September 2020, the Auditor General wrote to the Welsh Government 
and copied the letter to all local-authority and health-board chief 
executives in Wales, raising concerns about regional pooled funds in 
relation to care homes for older people. These concerns emerged from 
audit work at two of the local authorities in North Wales earlier that 
year (paragraph 1). We had found that while funding from the relevant 
organisations was initially deposited into a pooled fund administered by 
Denbighshire County Council, each contributor got their funding returned 
to them 24 hours later.

15 Our findings raised some significant concerns around the practical 
application of pooled budgets for care-home provision in North Wales, 
and potentially more widely in Wales. While we had not tested the 
arrangements in other regions, we believed that they were of a similar 
nature. From speaking to Welsh Government officials at the time, 
we understood that the arrangement in North Wales met the minimal 
technical requirements under the SSWB Act. However, we concluded 
that the arrangement neither offered value for money, nor any of the 
intended wider benefits of a pooled fund. Welsh Government officials also 
emphasised to us that they did not regard this type of arrangement as a 
satisfactory response to the policy intention of enabling closer co-operation 
between care-home commissioners to benefit care and support recipients.

Page 77



page 10 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

16 In response to the Auditor General’s letter, he was informed that the [then] 
Deputy Minister for Health and Social Services had already discussed 
these matters with RPB chairs and had challenged regional partners to 
step up delivery. 

17 In November 2020, the Welsh Government published a Pooled Budgets 
Evaluation Framework report (the Framework). The Welsh Government 
had commissioned the report to assess the progress each of the seven 
RPBs had made in developing pooled funds. The review focused on the 
use of pooled budgets relating to care-home accommodation for older 
people (aged 65 or over). 

18 The review concluded that RPBs were predominantly meeting the 
minimum requirement in relation to the pooled funds for care homes for 
older people, but many RPBs did not physically pool the budgets or share 
risks for care homes for older people. Only two of the seven regions in 
Wales physically pool funds for older people’s care homes, and most 
RPBs highlighted care homes for older people as a challenging first area 
to pool funds, under the legislation which demonstrates different levels 
of maturity across the RPBs. Some of the key challenges that were 
highlighted in the Framework were around managing a diverse cohort 
of need across localities as opposed to specialist services, which they 
deemed to be more suited to a pooled-fund approach, and the risk of 
cross-subsidisation across local-authority boundaries.

19 We found through our regional work in North Wales that the response to 
the Deputy Minister by the North Wales RPB provided no assurance that 
partners intended to act in the short term to address the Auditor General’s 
concern. The response indicated that the RPB did not intend to make any 
changes to its pooled-budget arrangements until the Welsh Government 
had progressed further its White Paper proposals on Rebalancing care 
and support. We understand that the RPB is in ongoing dialogue with the 
Welsh Government on the best way to implement the Act more broadly, 
and not just in relation to pooled funds.

20 In 2020-21, we have seen many examples of partners effectively 
coming together in incredibly complex and challenging environments. 
For example, to develop the new COVID-19 test, trace and protect, and 
vaccination services. Goodwill and commitment of partners have led to 
improvement.

21 This, and some of our earlier work on the Integrated Care Fund, suggests 
that where partners come together to jointly manage additional funding, 
they have had some success but when they come together to share 
their own core resources, they have had much less success. Although 
the Welsh Government has directed local authorities and health boards 
to work collaboratively and pool funds for older people’s care homes, 
progress is limited with little if any benefit seen by the service user.  

Page 78

https://gov.wales/regional-partnership-boards-use-pooled-budgets-care-home-accommodation
https://gov.wales/regional-partnership-boards-use-pooled-budgets-care-home-accommodation
https://gov.wales/improving-social-care-arrangements-and-partnership-working
https://gov.wales/improving-social-care-arrangements-and-partnership-working


page 11 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Our work on commissioning older people’s care-home placements 
across North Wales identified some fundamental issues that are 
likely to be reflected throughout Wales to some degree 

22 Based on the findings from our previous Integrated Care Fund review 
and the Welsh Government’s Pooled Budgets Evaluation Framework 
report, we anticipate that the findings from our North Wales review will be 
reflected throughout Wales to some degree. In our most recent work in 
North Wales, we concluded that partners are working individually and 
collectively to provide care home placements for vulnerable service 
users; this is made more difficult by complex national processes, 
resulting in a significant focus on costs, which causes division 
amongst partners and has the potential to impact adversely on 
service users and their families. Strengthening accountability and 
developing a regional strategy and delivery plan has the potential to 
drive positive change and better partnership working, especially in 
relation to complex and more specialist care.

23 While there is room for improvement in North Wales, where regional 
partners are responsible for the way that national legislation, frameworks 
and policy are implemented, some of the underpinning issues arise 
because of long-standing national legislative frameworks and policy and 
funding arrangements.

Page 79



page 12 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

24 The findings from our regional work and our additional all-Wales analysis 
are summarised as follows:
• Access to care homes by older people is complex and hard to 

navigate. Commissioners are aware of the impact on service users 
but have not been able to simplify the process; the overall policy and 
guidance is set out by the Welsh Government.

• Public-sector funding approaches for different aspects of care 
can create division among partners. Care-home placements are 
costly which can encourage an overemphasis on cost; while the 
implementation of the approach at a local level can increase tensions, 
the basis of the funding responsibilities is set out by the Welsh 
Government.

• The intended benefits and actual achievement have not been 
quantified. Performance information collected and reported relating 
to health and social-care commissioning is fragmented across sectors 
and does not provide a good indicator of whether policy aims are 
being achieved, well-being goals delivered and there is no evidence 
of changes to service-user outcomes. Welsh Government officials and 
the Deputy Minister for Social Services meet RPB chairs and partners 
regularly to assess progress in implementing national policy but 
neither the Welsh Government nor regional partners have developed a 
performance framework to assess outcomes. 

• Minimum technical compliance with the pooled-fund requirement 
fails to deliver any tangible benefit. To comply with the law without 
achieving any benefits from the arrangement is a poor use of public 
money and poor value for money. The Welsh Government is aware of 
the overall progress in the implementation of pooled fund arrangements 
for older people’s care home placements. It has developed a tool kit 
launched through the Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru 
to help tackle the challenges. However, this has had little impact and 
pooled fund arrangements are in general not being strengthened while 
the rebalancing care and support white paper is developed.

• The governance and operation of RPBs is maturing but, in line with 
legislation, structures are extensive and complex, and there are 
still issues about their accountability. Following our Integrated Care 
Fund work, RPBs were expected (in line with 2020-21 ICF Guidance) 
to have been putting in place arrangements to support effective scrutiny 
of their decisions. In addition, our work in North Wales has challenged 
governance and accountability more widely. The Welsh Government 
has a role in setting out how they should be held to account and to hold 
them to account for delivering on Welsh Government policy. However, 
RPB partners also have a responsibility to ensure suitable scrutiny and 
approval of key agreements takes place using their own organisations’ 
governance arrangements.

Page 80

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/integrated-care-fund-revenue-capital-and-dementia-guidance-2021-2022.pdf


page 13 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

• There is inexplicable variation in expenditure on residential 
care and continuing healthcare costs, suggesting inequitable 
application of policy across Wales. Factors such as local decision 
making and availability of preventative services to support people to live 
in the community will affect local spending on care-home placements. 
Appendix 1 shows these variations in more detail. 

• The charging cap on service user contributions is different 
for care-home placements compared to people supported in 
the community. This provides a potential perverse incentive for 
commissioners to place a person in a care home, or for a person to 
choose to remain at home, as many would prefer. 

25 While most local-authority and health-board officers we spoke to during 
our North Wales review were able to describe the problems from their 
experiences, none felt able to have any influence or impact on the scale 
of changes needed within the national policy framework. As a result, they 
collectively accepted the need to make the best of the current situation 
and hope for change.

There is a timely opportunity for the Welsh Government to 
ensure planned reform resolves some of the long-standing 
and challenging issues around care-home commissioning and 
integrated care

26 In April 2021, the Welsh Government completed the consultation on its 
white paper Rebalancing care and support (paragraph 20). The white 
paper proposed a national framework, regional organisation and more 
powers for the RPBs. We responded to the Welsh Government as part of 
its consultation, drawing on relevant evidence from our audit work.

27 The issues highlighted from our most recent work on care-home 
commissioning in North Wales indicate that current legislation and policy 
are not having the desired positive effect. However, they also point 
to some practical issues and cultural reluctance that might question 
whether the proposals in the white paper go far enough to address these 
fundamental issues. At the heart of our findings, discrete and separate 
budgetary responsibilities and accountabilities create division, result in 
a focus on cost, require complex pathways to navigate and can have 
a negative impact on the wellbeing of service users and their families. 
We acknowledge that the Welsh Government is proposing reform to the 
foundation of legislation and policy that causes these issues, but it needs 
to assure itself that the changes go far enough to resolve them.

Page 81



page 14 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

28 The pandemic has exposed the fragility of care services across Wales, 
but most of the issues now faced were there before to some degree. 
The issues include the capacity and capability of RPBs to facilitate 
regional working and, for example, concerns around fee levels, which are 
considered by councils to be local issues rather than regional or national. 
We were told during our review that a regional approach does not always 
suit commissioning of care homes. It is unclear whether the solutions 
proposed by the rebalancing care and support white paper around regional 
working are practical and will deliver the required change.

29 There is now an opportunity to build consensus amongst providers, 
commissioners, service users and the public, about the changes that are 
necessary to deliver much needed improvements, ensuring these fully 
address all the issues that remain in the sector. 

Page 82



page 15 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Exhibit 2: recommendations

Recommendations

We recommend that the Welsh Government:
R1 considers what the findings from our work in North Wales 

mean for planned policy reform and whether these 
reforms will go far enough to tackle the root causes of the 
issues; and

R2 more specifically that it:
• should reduce the complexity of the funding 

responsibilities across partners to streamline 
arrangements;

• clearly describes and communicates how it expects 
pooled funds to operate across health and social care 
partners;

• takes measures to require strengthened scrutiny 
arrangements and accountability of Regional 
Partnership Boards (following through with further 
action in response to a recommendation in our 
previous report on the Integrated Care Fund); and

• develops a framework for outcome-based performance 
reporting, which links to policy ambition and the seven 
well-being goals for Wales.

Recommendations

Page 83



page 16 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

1 Spending on commissioned 
care-home placements across 
Wales

Appendices

Page 84



page 17 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Exhibit 3: net expenditure (£) on residential-care placements (excluding 
nursing care) for those aged 65 years and over per 1,000 population  
(2019-20)

1 Spending on commissioned  
 care-home placements across   
 Wales

Source: StatsWales – Social services revenue outturn expenditure by client group (Older 
People, residential care placements) and 2019 mid-year population estimates (latest available 
information as at 31 August 2021)

0 20000 40000 60000 80000 100000 120000

Cardiff
Newport

Vale of Glamorgan
Torfaen

Flintshire
Merthyr Tydfil

Caerphilly
Monmouthshire
Wales average

Bridgend
Blaenau Gwent

Neath Port Talbot
Pembrokeshire

Rhondda Cynon Taf
Powys

Swansea
Isle of Anglesey

Wrexham
Conwy

Gwynedd
Denbighshire

Carmarthenshire
Ceredigion

Page 85



page 18 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Exhibit 4: continuing healthcare expenditure (£) per 1,000 population,  
2019-20

Source: Health Board Annual Accounts and Stats Wales population statistics

0 20000 40000 60000 80000 100000 120000 140000

Powys

Cwm Taf Morgannwg

Hywel Dda

Swansea Bay

Cardiff & Vale

Aneurin Bevan

Betsi Cadwaladr

Page 86



page 19 Care Home Commissioning for Older People

Page 87



Audit Wales

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Page 88



 

 

Report to Governance and Audit Committee 

Date of meeting 16 March 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer 

Report author Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer 

Title Constitution Update 

 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. The report is about updates required to the Constitution as a result of changes 

to legislation. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. To inform the Committee of changes required to the Constitution as a result of 

various provisions of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the Committee notes the changes required to the Constitution as set out in 

the appendices to the report. 

4. Report details 

4.1. The Council is required to have a Constitution by virtue of s37 Local 

Government Act 2000, and to keep it up to date. 

4.2. The Constitution provides at sections 2.6.2 and 2.6.3 authority for the 

Monitoring Officer to make changes where they are required to comply with any 

legislative provision. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



 
 

4.3. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 has introduced a 

number of changes that require amendments to the Constitution. The 

Monitoring Officer has therefore made changes to the Constitution to reflect the 

new legislative provisions. 

4.4. The main changes that have been made relate to:  

 the change to the term of office of elected members from four years to 

five (section 1) 

 the requirement to allow remote attendance at meetings of the authority 

(section 4) 

 the requirement to webcast Council meetings (section 4) 

  the possibility of job sharing Cabinet roles, (section 5) 

 the possibility of the role of Leader being occupied by Joint leaders 

(section 6) 

 new statutory functions for the Chief Executive and the removal of the 

role of Head of Paid Service, (section 11) 

 the requirement to have a Constitution Guide, (section 2) 

 the requirement to have a Petition Scheme, (section 3) 

 changes to the functions of the Standards Committee (section 8)  

 changes to the functions, composition and name of the Governance and 

Audit Committee, (section 13) 

 to recognise the existence of Corporate Joint Committees (section 10) 

4.5. The various changes that have been made are set out in the appendices to this 

report. Where changes have been made, they are shown in red in order that 

members may be able to identify the respective changes.  

4.6. The Monitoring Officer has previously briefed members in respect of these 

changes as part of the consultation process in which the Council participated in 

respect of this legislation. The Monitoring Officer will explain the changes 

contained within the appendices in greater detail at the meeting. 

4.7. In addition to the changes required by the Local Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act 2021 there is a change required to section 1 of the Constitution by 

the County of Denbighshire (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021 which 

Page 90



 
 

increases the number of Councillors to 48 from 47 following the forthcoming 

local government elections. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. This report has no direct impact on the corporate priorities. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. The changes to the Constitution itself do not have any direct cost associated 

with them, however, some of the changes that are described within it will have a 

cost such as the increase in the number of councillors and the increase in the 

number of lay persons required to be members of the Governance and Audit 

Committee. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. An assessment is not required for this report. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. There have been no consultations with Scrutiny, however, there were a number 

of workshops with members during the course of the development of the 

proposals contained within the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 

2021. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. There are no direct financial consequences of this report. However, it is 

important that the Council has an up to date, fit for purpose Constitution which 

forms a key element of the council’s governance framework.” 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. There is a risk that if the necessary changes are not made that the Constitution 

will not accurately reflect legislative requirements. 

Page 91



 
 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. s37 Local Government Act 2000 

Page 92



Appendix 1 

1.1 How the Council Operates 

1.1.1 The Council is comprised of 487 Councillors elected every fivefour 
years or such time as the Welsh Government legislates.  Each 
Councillor is democratically accountable to the residents of their 
electoral division as well as all of those who live in Denbighshire.  
The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but 
they have a special duty to their constituents, including those that 
did not vote for them. 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

2.2 Definitions in the Constitution 

2.2.1 The Constitution of the Council is this document (Sections 1 to 23). 

2.2.2 Within the Constitution the following words and phrases have the 
meaning set out below: 

“Budget” the overall revenue and capital budget 
approved by Full Council (Section 4); 

 

“Chief Executive” 

 

 

 

“Chief Officer” 

The most senior officer of the Council who 
must be appointed by law and has a duty to 
keep under review certain matters listed more 
particularly in Section 11 of the Constitution 

 

any Officer (other than a person whose duties 
are solely secretarial or administrative or 
whose duties are otherwise in the nature of 
support services) who: 

 reports directly to the Head of Paid Service 
in respect of all or most of his/her duties; 
or 

 the Head of Paid Service is directly 
responsible for; 

Constitution guide 

 

 

 

“Corporate 
Executive Team” 

a document which explains, in ordinary 
language, the content of this constitution, 
published by the Council in accordance with 
section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 

 

the senior management body for Officers 
(Section 11).  It includes those Officers 
designated by the Chief ExecutiveHead of 
Paid Service from time to time as Members of 
the Corporate Executive  Team; 

“Councillor” a person elected to the Council to represent 
an area (called an electoral division) within 
Denbighshire County Council; 

“Executive” the Cabinet or a Member or Members of the 
Cabinet when exercising Executive Functions; 

“Executive 
Decision” 

any decision taken by the Cabinet to exercise 
or refrain from exercising an Executive 
Function.  It also includes decisions made by 
persons or Member bodies to whom the 

Page 95



Appendix 2 

Cabinet has delegated Executive Functions to 
exercise or refrain exercising those functions; 

“Executive 
Function” 

(a)  Executive Functions are defined by the 
Local Government Act 2000, subsidiary 
legislation and associated guidance.  Any 
function that is not exercisable only by Full 
Council or delegated to another Member 
body is an Executive Function. 

(b)  Contractual matters, the acquisition and 
disposal of land and financial support to 
organisations and individuals are also 
Executive Functions. 

It should be noted that Regulatory functions 
such as planning licensing and building 
control, are not Executive Functions; 

“Forward Work 
Programme” 

the Forward Work Programme is a document 
which lists all of the decisions that the Council 
and the Cabinet intend to take and what 
business the Head of Legal, HR and 
Democratic Services will be considering and 
when those matters will be discussed.  This 
does not prevent urgent or unforeseen matters 
being considered; 

“Full Council” the body where all Councillors act to exercise 
functions of the Council; 

“Head of Paid 
Service” 

an Officer who must be appointed by law to 
carry out certain functions.  See Section 11 for 
more details.  The Officer will usually have 
other duties and a different job title.  See 
Section 11 for which Officer is the Head of 
Paid Service; 

“Local Choice 
Functions” 

there are some functions which the Council 
may treat as being the responsibility of the 
Cabinet (in whole or in part) or as being non-
executive, at its discretion; 

“Local 
Government 
(Wales) Measure 
2011” 

referred to as “The Measure”.  Legislation 
introduced, inter alia, to strengthen local 
democracy, deal with changes to executive 
arrangements, scrutiny, county councils and 
Member payments; 

“Member” either a Councillor or a person chosen by the 
Council to serve on one of its Member Bodies 
(called “a Co-Opted Member”); 

“Member Body” any of the following: 

Page 96



Appendix 2 

 Full Council; 

 Cabinet; 

 a Scrutiny Committee; 

 Licensing Committee; 

 Standards Committee (or one of its sub-
committees); 

 Planning Committee; 

 Appeals Panel; 

 Governance and Audit Committee; 

 Democratic Services Committee;  

 Welsh Language Steering Committee 

Note - references to Committee also includes 
Sub-Committee; 

“Monitoring 
Officer” 

an Officer who must be appointed by law to 
carry out certain functions.  See Section 11 for 
a description of those functions.  The Officer 
will usually have other duties and a different 
job title.  See Section 11 for which Officer is 
the Monitoring Officer; 

“Non-Executive 
Functions” 

any function which may only be exercised by 
Full Council (whether by local choice or as a 
matter of law) or which is delegated to a 
Member body other than the Cabinet; 

 

“Petition Scheme” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

a scheme prepared and published pursuant to 
section 42 of the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (and reviewed 
from time to time) for the purpose of setting 
out: - 

• how a petition may be submitted to the 
Council; 

 

• how and when the Council will 
acknowledge receipt of a petition; 

 

• the steps the Council will take in 
response to a petition received by it; 

 

Page 97



Appendix 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Planning 
Application” 

• the circumstances (in any) in which the 
Council may take no further action in response 
to a petition; and  

 

• how any by when the Council will make 
available its response to a petition to the 
person who submitted the petition and to the 
public 

 

 

any of the following: 

 application for planning permission 
(including renewal); 

 application for approval of reserved 
matters; 

 application for listed building consent; 

 application relating to trees; 

 proposal to serve an urgent works notice 
or acquire a listed building in need of 
repair; 

 application for conservation area consent; 

 application for advertisement consent; 

 application to vary or remove conditions on 
a planning condition; 

“Policy 
Framework” 

See Section 4; 

“Section 151 
Officer” 

an Officer who must be appointed by law to 
carry out certain functions in relation to 
financial administration.  See Section 11 for a 
description of those functions.  The Officer will 
usually have other duties and a different job 
title.  See Section 11 for which Officer is the 
Section 151 Officer; 

“Service” one of the services provided by the Council; 

Page 98



Appendix 2 

“Single Integrated 
Plan (SIP)” 

this is the single plan for the area that reflects 
the needs of the local population.  The SIP 
builds on and brings together in one document 
the joint work previously developed through 
the Community Plan, as well as the 
Community Safety, Children and Young 
Peoples and the Health Social Core and 
Wellbeing Partnership Plan. 

 

 

2.3 Interpretation of the Constitution 

2.3.1 We have tried to make the Constitution as clear and as easy to 
understand as possible.  Inevitably, people will have different views 
about what certain passages mean. You may wish to read the 
Constitution in conjunction with the Constitution Guide which can be 
found at (insert link) 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

3.2   Getting Involved 

3.2.1 Members of the Public 

Members of the public can get involved in the following ways: 

3.2.1.1 Voting for Councillors 

If they are over 1618 years old and registered as a local elector 
for the areawith the Council. 

3.2.1.2 Suggesting Items of Business for Meetings 

There is provision for a member of the public to seek to get a 
matter included in a Scrutiny Committee agenda (see section 
7.18 of this Constitution)  

3.2.1.3 Taking Part in Meetings 

3.2.1.3.1 Members of the public can come to and speak at any 
meeting which the Council has resolved should 
include participation by members of the public.  The 
rules on when you may speak and for how long are 
contained in Section 4. 

3.2.1.3.2 Members of the Public may not currently speak at Full 
Council or Cabinet.  

3.2.1.4 Views of the Public 

Under the arrangements put in place by the Authority under 
section 62 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011, to 
bring to the attention of the relevant Scrutiny Committee their 
views on any matter under consideration by the relevant 
Scrutiny Committee, the relevant Scrutiny Committee must take 
into account any views brought to their attention under these 
arrangements. 

3.2.1.5 When are Meetings Open to the Public? 

Meetings will be open to the public wherever possible.  The 
public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely that 
confidential information will be disclosed.  The public may be 
excluded from meetings where it is likely that exempt 
information will be disclosed.  (See section 14 for definition of 
exempt information and section for definition of public interest.) 

3.2.1.6 Making Comments/Complaints 

3.2.1.6.1 A member of the public may comment or complain 
about Council services by: 

Page 101



Appendix 3 

3.2.1.6.1.1 contacting their local councillor; 

3.2.1.6.1.2 contacting the Member of the Cabinet 
responsible for the service; 

3.2.1.6.1.3 contacting the Officer responsible for 
delivering the service or their manager; 

3.2.1.6.1.4 using the Council’s complaints procedure; 

3.2.1.6.1.5 contacting the Public Services Ombudsman 
for Works at 1 Ffordd Yr Hen Gae, Pencoed, 
CF35 5LJ.  Telephone: 0845 601 0987 or via 
the website www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk. 

3.2.1.6.2 Comments or complaints can be made about an 
Officer or Member by: 

3.2.1.6.2.1 Officer 

Contacting the Officer or the Officers manager or 
using the Council’s Complaints Procedure.  

3.2.1.6.2.2 Members 

If the complaint is against a Member, then the 
complaint should be referred to the Monitoring 
Officer or the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales (contact details above). 

3.2.1.7 Engage with Scrutiny 

All members of the public who live or work in the area of the 
Council may bring to the attention of a Scrutiny Committee their 
views on any matter under consideration by that Scrutiny 
Committee.  The Scrutiny Committee must take into account 
any views brought to its attention by a member of the public. 

 

3.2.1.8 A member of the public can seek to raise a matter with the 
Council by submitting a petition in accordance with the 
Council’s Petition Scheme. 

 

 

3.3 Getting Involved – Members 

Members can get involved by: 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Level 4, Space After:  0 pt, Outline
numbered + Level: 4 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  3.01 cm +
Indent at:  4.91 cm

Page 102



Appendix 3 

3.3.1 Suggesting Items of Business for the Agenda 

As a Member of the Council, you have the same rights as members 
of the public.  In addition to these rights you also have the following 
rights: 

(a) Member bodies in Column A can request that Member bodies in 
Column B consider or reconsider an issue. 

Column A Column B 

Democratic Services 
Committee 

Council 

Scrutiny Committee  Cabinet or Council 

 

Corporate 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

Any relevant Scrutiny Committee, 
Cabinet or Council.  

  

(b) Any Member can submit a Notice of Motion to Council (Section 4) 
and also ask questions (Section 4). 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 

4. FULL COUNCIL 

4.2 The Policy Framework 

The Policy Framework means the following plans and strategies: 

Corporate Plan 

Well-Being Plan 

Denbighshire Self Assessment Report 

Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 

Plans and alterations which together comprise the Local Development Plan 

Welsh Language Scheme 

Local Housing Strategy 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan 

Pay Policy Statement 

 

4.6 Functions of the Full Council 

 

4.6.7 making or confirming the appointment of the Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid 
Services; s151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer.  

4.7 Membership 

 

4.7.4 Role and Function of the Chair 

The Chair of the Council and in his/her absence, the Vice Chair will have the 
following roles and functions: 

(a) Ceremonial Role 

The Chair of the Council: 

(i) is the civic leader of Denbighshire County Council; 

(ii) promotes the interests and reputation of the Council and Denbighshire County 
Council as a whole and acts as an ambassador for both; and 

(iii) undertakes civic, community and ceremonial activities and fosters community 
identity and pride. 

(iv) the role of the Chair and the Vice Chair is non- political. The Chair will not be a 
formal member of any Committee (other than the Corporate Governance and 
Audit Committee when it is undertaking review of the Constitution) and will not 

Page 105



Appendix 4 

have voting rights at any meeting other than County Council and the Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee. 

 

 

4.10 Council Procedure Rules - Annual Meeting of the Council 

4.10.1 Timing and Business 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the 
annual meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of 
the outgoing councillors.  In any other year, the annual meeting will 
take place in May.  The annual meeting will: 

(b) elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Council is not present; 

(c) elect the Chair of the Council; 

(d) elect the Vice Chair of the Council; 

(e) approve the minutes of the last meeting;    

(f) receive any announcements from the Chair and/or the Head of 
Paid Service; 

(g) elect the Leader of the Council, except where the Leader was 
appointed for a period of fivefour years at the initial annual 
meeting of the Council; 

(h) be informed by the Leader of the number of Members to be 
appointed to the Cabinet; 

(i) appoint the Scrutiny Committees, a Standards Committee and 
such other committees and sub-committees as the Council 
considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither 
reserved to the Council nor are Executive Functions (as set out 
in Section 13 of this Constitution); 

(j) receive from the Leader the scheme of delegations (as set out 
in Section 13 of this Constitution); 

(k) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for 
the year; and 

(l) consider any business set out in the notice convening the 
meeting.  

 

Page 106



Appendix 4 

4.13 Time, Place and Duration of Meetings 

4.13.1 Time and Place of Meetings 

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Head of 
Legal, HR and Democratic Services and notified in the summons. 
The place of a meeting will include provision for meetings to be 
attended remotely by persons who are not in the same physical 
location. 

 

4.17 Remote Attendance  

A meeting may be attended remotely by persons who are not in the same 
physical location.Remote attendance is not allowed at any meeting, 
committee or sub-committee at the present time. 

 

4.18 Broadcasting of meetings 

Council meetings shall be webcast as they take place by the Council so 
that members of the public not in attendance at the meeting can see and 
hear the proceedings. The webcast shall be available electronically on the 
Council’s website for a period of 6 months after the meeting. 

 

 

4.26 Voting 

4.26.1 Majority 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be 
decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and present 
in the meeting the room at the time the question was put. 

 

4.27 Record of Attendance 

All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their 
names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to 
assist with the record of attendance. 

 

4.29 Members’ Conduct 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Level 2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm,
Space After:  0 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 107



Appendix 4 

4.29.1 Speaking at Meetings 

When a Member speaks at Full Council he/she must stand (if 
present at the physical location of the meeting and address the 
meeting through the Chair.  If more than one Member signifies their 
intention to speak, the Chair will ask one to speak.  Other Members 
must remain silent whilst a Member is speaking unless they wish to 
make a point of order or a point of personal explanation. 

 

4.30 Disturbance by Public 

4.30.1 Removal of Member of the Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn 
the person concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will 
order their removal from the meeting room. 

 

Page 108



Appendix 5  

 

5. THE CABINET 

5.2 Form and Composition of the Cabinet 

5.2.1 5.2.1 Subject to 5.2.2 below,Tthe Cabinet will consist of the Leader together 
with at least two butat least two but not more than nineseven other Councillors 
appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader. The total number of Cabinet members may 
be no more than ten 

5.2.2 If two or more members are elected to share office as Leader, or are appointed 
to share the office of Cabinet Member (Cabinet Job Sharers) the total number 
of members of the Cabinet may be  

(a) eleven or twelve where at least two of those are elected or appointed to 
share office, and, 

(b) thirteen, where at least three of those are elected or appointed to share 
office. 

 

 

5.3 Leader 

5.3.1 Election 

The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the 
Council in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 of this Constitution. 
Two or more Councillors may be elected as Joint Leader where they have 
made an arrangement to stand for election as Leader on the basis of a Job 
Sharing arrangement. 

 

5.4 Deputy Leader 

5.4.1 The Leader will appoint a Deputy Leader to act as Leader in the 
Leader’s absence and may also if he/she thinks fit remove the Deputy 
Leader from Office at any time. Two or more Councillors may be appointed 
to share the role of Deputy Leader. 

 

5.5 Other Cabinet Members 

Other Cabinet Members will be Councillors appointed to the position of 
Cabinet Member by the Leader.Two or more Councillors may be appointed 
to share the office of Cabinet Member.  Each Cabinet Member shall hold 
office until: 

5.5.1 he/she resigns from that office; or 

5.5.2 he/she is removed from that office by the Leader upon such notice 
(if any) as the Leader considers appropriate; or 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.1 cm, First line:  0 cm, Space
Before:  6 pt, After:  6 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 109



Appendix 5  

5.8 Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 

5.8.2 Quorum 

(a) The quorum at any meeting of the Cabinet shall be 50% of the 
whole number of members, rounded down.  For the avoidance 
of doubt the whole number of Members does not include 
vacancies. Cabinet Members will be regarded as present if they 
are in attendance either at the physical location of the meeting 
or by remote means. 

(b) Where any meeting is attended by more than one Cabinet Job 
Sharer who share the same role (members of the Cabinet who 
have been elected or appointed to share the same office), they 
together count only as one person for the purpose of 
determining whether the meeting is quorate. 

 

 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  6 pt, Outline numbered +
Level: 4 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  3.43 cm + Tab after:  4.19
cm + Indent at:  4.19 cm, Adjust space between Latin
and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and
numbers

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 110



Appendix 6  

SECTION 6 

6. THE LEADER 

6.1 Election 

6.1.1 The Leader will be elected by Full Council. Two or more Councillors 
may be elected as Joint Leader where they have made an arrangement 
to stand for election as Leader on the basis of a Job Sharing 
arrangement. 

6.1.2 The Leader will usually be elected at the first Council meeting following 
the ordinary election of councillors.  However, where the post of Leader 
becomes vacant between Council elections the Leader will be elected 
at the next meeting of the Full Council. 

 

6.5 Functions and Delegated Authority 

6.5.1 Membership of the Cabinet 

The Leader appoints and dismisses the Members of the Cabinet, 
subject only to there being a minimum of two   subject only to there 
being a minimum of two, and a maximum of seven, Members of the 
Cabinet (not counting the Leader) at any time. 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7  

SECTION 7 

1. SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  

7.13 Joint Scrutiny Committees  

Under section 58 of The Measure, regulations may be made to permit two 
or more local authorities to appoint a joint Scrutiny Committee.  This is set 
out in the Local Authority (Joint Scrutiny) (Wales) Regulations 2012.  If the 
Authority wishes to appoint a joint committee, it shall do so in accordance 
with these regulations.Two or more local authorities may agree, or be 
required, to appoint a joint Scrutiny Committee by arrangements made 
under section 58 of The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 and 
regulations made thereunder. 

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 8  

SECTION 8 

8. THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

8.2  Term of Office 

8.2.1 Independent Members are appointed for a period of not less than 
four and not more than six years and may be reappointed for a 
consecutive term not exceeding four years. 

8.2.2 Members of local authorities who are Members of the Standards 
Committee will have a term of office of no more than fivefour years 
or until the next ordinary local government election following their 
appointment, whichever is the shorter.  They may be reappointed for 
one further consecutive term. 

 

 

8.6.12  (a)  monitoring compliance by leaders of political groups on the 
council with their duties under section 52A(1) Local Government 
and Elections Act 2021, and 

            (b)  advising, training or arranging to train leaders of political 
groups on the council about matters relating to those duties. 

 

 

8.6.132 any member of the Standards Committee may attend proceedings 
of the Council, the Cabinet and standing committees from which 
the press and public have been excluded, as long as he or she has 
signed the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

8.7 Work Programme 

 The Committee will prepare a work programme, which will be 
reviewed and approved at each Committee meeting. 

8.8 Annual Report 

 As soon as possible after the end of each financial year, the 
Standards and Ethics Committee shall make an annual report to the 
Council, in accordance with the requirements of section 63 of the 
Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

1.1 Work Programme 

The Committee will prepare a work programme, which will be reviewed and 
approved at each Committee meeting. 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.14 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.14 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.9 cm,  No bullets or
numbering
Formatted: Font: 12 pt
Formatted: Level 2 Heading, Indent: Left:  1 cm

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 9  

SECTION 9 

9. (A) REGULATORY AND OTHER COMMITTEES 

9.2 The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee  

9.2.1 The Council will appoint the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee to 
be the Audit Committee to discharge the functions described in Section 13 
of this Constitution and in accordance with sections 81- 87 of The Measure. 

9.2.2 The Committee shall comprise of Councillor Members (being at least two 
thirds of the Membership) and at least oneLay Persons(being on ethird of 
the Membership) Member who is not a Member of the Council (lay Member) 
and no more than one Member of the Cabinet (which Cabinet Member must 
not be the Leader). 

9.2.39.2.2 The Chair of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee is 
appointed by it and must be a lay personthey cannot be a Member of the 
Cabinet but can be a lay Member and can only be a Member of an executive 
group if there are no opposition groups. 

9.2.49.2.3 Members of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee may vote 
on any matter before the Committee. 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 10 

SECTION 10 

10. JOINT COMMITTEES 

10.3.3 The Council currently has the following joint committees in place:  

NMWTRA (North and Mid Wales Trunk Road Agency)  

NWRWP (North Wales Residual Waste Partnership)  

GwE (Regional School Effectiveness Service for North Wales)  

Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. (CRDV AONB) 

North Wales  Economic Ambition Board 

 

 

10.6 Contracting Out 

  

 The Council (in respect of Non-Executive Functions) and the 
Cabinet (in respect of Executive Functions) may contract out to 
another body or organisation functions: 

(a) which may be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to 
an order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting 
Out Act 1994; or 

(b) under contracting arrangements where the Contractor acts as 
the Council’s Agent under usual contracting principles, provided 
there is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision 
making. 

10.7 Corporate Joint Committees 

 The Council may, with one or more other principal councils, make 
an application to the Welsh Ministers asking them to consider 
establishing, by regulations made under section 72 of the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, a corporate joint 
committee to exercise a function or functions of those councils in 
relation to their areas if they consider there would be advantages in 
collaboratively exercising their function/s through a corporate body. 
A corporate joint committee may also be established by regulations 
issued by the Welsh Government without an application from the 
Council. The procedure and conditions which apply in each case are 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt
Formatted: Level 2
Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.14 cm,  No bullets or
numbering
Formatted: Font: 12 pt
Formatted: Level 4, Outline numbered + Level: 4 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:
Left + Aligned at:  3.43 cm + Tab after:  4.19 cm +
Indent at:  4.19 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.14 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Page 119



Appendix 10 

set out in Chapters 3, 4 and 5 of Part 5 of the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 and regulations made thereunder 

10.6 Contracting Out 

The Council (in respect of Non-Executive Functions) and the Cabinet (in 
respect of Executive Functions) may contract out to another body or 
organisation functions: 

10.6.1 which may be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an 
order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 
1994; or 

10.6.2 under contracting arrangements where the Contractor acts as the 
Council’s Agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is 
no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making. 

 

Page 120



Appendix 11  

SECTION 11 

11. OFFICERS 

11.1 Management Structure 

11.1.1 General 

The Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers) as it 
considers necessary to carry out its functions. 

11.1.2 Statutory Officers 

Certain posts are required under either the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 or the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
and the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  

The Council will designate the following posts as shown: 

Post Designation 

Chief Executive Chief ExecutiveHead of 
Paid Service 

Head of Legal HR and Democratic 
Services 

Monitoring Officer 

Head of Finance and Property Chief Finance Officer 
(s.151)  

Democratic Services Manager Head of Democratic 
Services 

Statutory Director of Education  Head of Education and 
Children’s Services.  

Statutory Director of Social 
Services  

Corporate Director: 
Communities  

  

Such posts will have the functions described in Sections 11.2 to 11. 

11.2 Constitutional Functions of the Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid 
Service 

11.2.1 Discharge of Functions by the Council 

Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 imposes 
a duty on authorities to designate one of their officers as Head of 
Paid Service.  The Head of Paid Service will report to Full Council 
on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is 

Page 121



Appendix 11  

co-ordinated, the number and grade of Staff required for the 
discharge of functions, the organisation of the authority’s staff and 
the appointment and proper management of the authority’s staff. 

The Chief Executive must keep the following matters under review: 

(i) the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is 
co-ordinated; 

(ii) , the Council’s arrangements in relation to financial planning, 
asset management and risk management; 

(iii) the number and grade of staff required for the discharge of 
functions; and 

(iv) the organisation, appointment and arrangements for 
management of the Council’s staff (including arrangements for 
training and development). 

Where the Chief Executive considers it appropriate to do so, he/she 
must make a report to the Council setting out his/her proposals in 
respect of any of the above matters; which must be considered by 
a meeting of the full Council held within 3 months from receipt of the 
report. 

11.2.2 Restrictions on Functions 

The Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring 
Officer or the Head of Democratic Services but may hold the post 
of Chief Finance Officer (s.151 Officer) if a qualified accountant as 
per s6 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

11.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

These are set out in section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
as amended. 

11.3.1 Maintaining the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the 
Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by 
Members, staff and the public. 

11.3.2 Ensuring Lawfulness and Fairness of Decision Making 

After consulting with the Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service and Chief 
Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the Full Council or to 
the Cabinet in relation to any Function if he or she considers that any 
proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any 
decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such a report 
will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being 
implemented until the report has been considered. 

Page 122



Appendix 11  

11.3.9 Restrictions on Posts 

The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer, the Chief 
ExecutiveHead of Paid Service or the Head of Democratic Services. 

11.4 Functions of the s.151 Officer  

These are set out in section 6 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

11.4.1 Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence of Decision Making 

After consulting with the Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service and the 
Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the Full 
Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an Executive Function and the 
Council’s external auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, 
decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful 
expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency 
or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 

11.4.7 Restrictions on Posts 

The Chief Finance Officer cannot be the Mmonitoring Oofficer or 
the Head of Democratic Services. 

 

11.6 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Chief ExecutiveHead of 
Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Head of 
Democratic Services 

The Council will provide the Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service, the 
Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Democratic 
Services with such Officers, accommodation and other resources as are in 
their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

 

11.9.2 Recruitment of Chief Officers 

Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief ExecutiveHead of 
Paid Service, a Corporate Director, Monitoring Officer, Chief 
Finance Officer or other statutory or non statutory Chief Officer as 
defined in Section 2(6) and (7) of the Local Government Act 1989 
(Chief Officers) and it is not proposed that the appointment be made 
exclusively from among their existing officers, the Council will: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying: 

(i) the duties of the Officer concerned; and 

Page 123



Appendix 11  

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person 
to be appointed; 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way 
as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are 
qualified to apply for it; and make arrangements for a copy of 
the statement mentioned in paragraph (a) to be sent to any 
person on request. 

(c) where the post has been advertised as provided in paragraph 
(b):- 

(i) interview all qualified applicants for the post or 

(ii) select a short list of such qualified applicants and 
interview those included on the short list 

(e) where no qualified person has applied, or if the Council decides 
to re-advertise the appointment, the Council will make further 
arrangements for advertisement in accordance with paragraph 
(b) 

 

11.9.3 Appointment of Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service, Corporate 
Directors, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance officer 

 

11.9.4 Other Appointments 

(a) Subject to paragraph 3 and sub-paragraph (c), appointment of 
statutory and non-statutory chief officers as defined in Section 
2(6) and (7) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
shall be made by an appointments panel consisting of not more 
than 5 councillors (at least one of, but not more than two of 
whom shall be Cabinet members), the Chief ExecutiveHead of 
Paid Service (or his/her nominee) and the relevant Corporate 
Director.   

 

11.9.6Disciplinary Action 

The Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service or an officer nominated 
by him will, subject to paragraphs 7 and 8 below, discharge the 
Council’s functions in respect of dismissal of, and taking disciplinary 
action (as defined in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(Wales) Regulations 2006) against a member of staff other than a 
Chief Officer, an assistant for a political group or person to whom 
regulations made under Section 35(4) and (5) of the Education Act 
2002 apply.  Subject to this, the Council’s disciplinary, capability, 

Page 124



Appendix 11  

redundancy and grievance procedures, as adopted from time to 
time, set out councillors’ and officers’ involvement in such 
procedures, and may allow a right of appeal or representation in 
respect of action which has been taken. 

11.9.7 Disciplinary Action – Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid Service,    
Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Head of Democratic Services 

(a) No disciplinary action (other than action to which para (2) below 
applies) in respect of the Council’s Chief ExecutiveHead of 
Paid Service, its Monitoring Officer, its Chief Finance Officer or 
Head of Democratic Services, may be taken by the Council, or 
by a Committee, a Sub-Committee, a Joint Committee on which 
the Council is represented or any other person acting on behalf 
of the Council, other than in accordance with a 
recommendation in a report made by a designated 
independent person under Regulation 9 of the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (investigation of 
alleged misconduct), as amended by The Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders)(Wales)(Amendment) Regulations 2014. The 
detailed rules appear in Section 8 below. 

(b) The action to which this paragraph applies is suspension of the 
Officer for the purpose of investigating the alleged misconduct 
occasioning the action; provided such suspension is on full pay 
and terminates no later than the expiry of two months beginning 
on the day on which the suspension takes effect. 

11.9.8 Investigation of alleged misconduct – Chief ExecutiveHead of Paid 
Service, Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer and Head of 
Democratic Services 

(1) Where it appears to the Council that an allegation of 
misconduct which may lead to disciplinary action has been 
made against – 

(a) the Chief ExecutiveHead of the Council’s Paid Service; 

(b) its Monitoring Officer;  

(c) its Chief Finance Officer  

or 

(d) The Head of Democratic Services. 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Governance and Audit Committee 

Date of meeting 16th March 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer 

Report author Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer 

Title Constitution Guide 

 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. The report is about an ordinary language guide to the Constitution. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 requires that a local 

authority publishes an ordinary language guide to the Constitution. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the Committee considers the contents of the Guide to the Constitution 

attached as Appendix 1 and recommends to Council that it be adopted. 

4. Report details 

4.1. s37 Local Government Act 2000 requires that the Council has a Constitution 

that contains certain information and that it keeps it updated. s45 Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 amends s37 to require, in addition, 

that the Council produces an ordinary language guide to the Constitution and 

keeps it updated. 

4.2. Councils are required to have regard to statutory guidance in the production of 

their constitution guide. Draft statutory guidance suggests that Councils should 

consider the types of interactions that members of the public may have with the 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Council, such as how to access meetings and minutes, public speaking rights 

etc., and an explanation of how the Council works.  

4.3. The Welsh Local Government Association have, with Lawyers in Local 

Government, produced a model constitution guide which the draft statutory 

guidance suggests is a useful starting point. 

4.4. Attached as Appendix 1 is a draft Constitution Guide which is based upon the 

model guide produced by the WLGA. The model guide allows for adaptation to 

recognise local variations in council constitutions. The draft attached as 

Appendix 1 has been adapted to be read in conjunction with the Council’s 

Constitution. 

4.5. Members will see that the guide seeks to identify the types of questions that a 

person may wish to find the answer to in the Constitution. The guide tries to 

give a brief answer to those questions and to refer the reader to the relevant 

part of the Constitution for further detail. 

4.6. If members are satisfied with the content of the guide, it will be presented to 

Council for approval. 

 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. The decision has no direct impact on the corporate priorities 

  

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. There are no direct costs associated with the adoption of the guide. 

 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. An assessment is not required for this report. 

 

Page 128



 
 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. There have been no consultations with Scrutiny, however, there were a number of 

workshops with members during the course of the development of the proposals 

contained within the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. There are no direct financial implications of this report. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. There is a risk that if a constitution guide is not adopted that the Council will not 

be complying with the provisions of the relevant legislation. 

11. Power to make the decision 

 S37 Local Government Act 2000 as prospectively amended by s45 Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021  

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
 

Draft Guide to the Denbighshire 

County Council constitution  

 
 

 

 

Produced pursuant to section 45 of the  

Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 131



1 
 

Introduction  

The constitution 

The Council is made up of different individuals and bodies, who work together to 

deliver the Council’s functions. The Council’s constitution describes the different 

people and bodies that make up the Council, their functions, and the procedure 

rules that govern how those bodies work together to deliver services.  

It is intended to: - 

 enable the Council to make decisions efficiently and effectively;  

 support you to participate in decisions that affect you; 

 help Councillors to represent their constituents more effectively; and 

 enable you to hold the Council to account.    

One of the main aims of the constitution is to set out clearly what you can expect 

from the Council, and what you can do if your expectations are not met.  

This guide  

This guide is designed to help you to understand how the Council works to deliver 

services in your area. It provides an overview of the Council’s constitution and 

explains key sections of the constitution in clear and simple language.  

It may also be of use to those organisations that work with the Council to deliver 

services in the Council’s area.   

The first part of this guide explains why the constitution is important and how it is 

reviewed and updated.  

It aims to answer questions such as: - 

 Why does the Council have a constitution?  p.5 

 How can I get a copy of the constitution?  p.5 

 Who is responsible for keeping the constitution up to date?  p.5 

The second part of this guide explains how the Council is structured. It describes the 

Council’s democratic bodies as well as how decisions are made and by whom.  

Page 132



2 
 

It explains the functions of the Council, its [Executive] [Cabinet] and its committees, 

and which body of the Council is responsible for particular policies and decisions.    

It aims to answer questions such as: - 

 What does my local Councillor do?  p.8 

 What does the Council do?  p.10 

 What happens at Council meetings?  p.11 

 How does the Council make decisions?  p.11 

 How can I find out what the Council decided about an issue that 

affects me?  
p.12 

 What does the Cabinet do?  p.14 

 How does the Cabinet make decisions?   p.14 

 What do the Council’s committees do?   p.16 

 Who is responsible for governance, audit and risk management?   p.16 

 Who is responsible for upholding local democracy?   p.16 

 What does the licensing committee do?   p.17 

 What does the planning committee do?   p.17 

 How are decisions scrutinised?   p.18 

 Who is responsible for upholding standards and holding Councillors 

to account for their conduct?   

p.18 

The third part of this guide explains the roles and responsibilities of elected 

members and paid officers of the Council. It describes the jobs they do, and how 

they work together to deliver the Council’s functions and priorities. It also explains 

the codes of conduct that govern councillors’ and officers’ conduct and the 

standards of behaviour that you can expect from them.  

It aims to answer questions such as: - 

 What does the Chair do?  p.23  

    

Page 133



3 
 

 What does the Leader do?  p.24 

 What happens if the Leader is unable to perform their duties?  p.24  

 My Councillor is a member of the Cabinet, what does this 

mean?  
p.24  

 

How are members of the Cabinet supported?  p.Error! 

Bookmark 

not 

defined.  

 What does the Chief Executive do? p.25 

 What responsibilities does the Monitoring Officer have? p.25 

 Who is responsible for ensuring that the Council’s democratic 

policies and procedures are complied with?  

p.26  

 How should Councillors behave? p.27  

 How should Officers behave? p.29  

 Are there any special requirements when Councillors of 

Officers decide planning applications?  

p.29  

 How can I complain about the behaviour of a Councillor?  p.29  

 How do I report concerns about the conduct of a paid Officer 

of the Council?  

p.30  

The fourth part of this guide provides a summary of the key policies and procedures 

that govern how the Council carries out certain functions.  

It aims to answer questions such as: - 

 Where can I find the Council’s key plans and strategies? p.31  

 How is the Council’s policy framework decided? p.31  

 How does the Council set its budget? p.31 

 Can decisions be taken that do not comply with the budget or policy 

framework? 
p.32  

 Can money be moved from one budget head to another once the 

budget has been adopted? 
p.32  

Page 134



4 
 

 
What other policies and procedures govern how the Council manages 

its budget? 

p.33  

 
Are there any restrictions on how the Council buys in goods and 

services? 

p.33  

 How does the Council enter into contracts and agreements? p.33  

The final part of this guide explains how you can engage with, and get involved in, 

your Council and local democracy. It explains how your councillors are elected, how 

you can contact your councillor, raise questions and speak at meetings, and how you 

can use petitions to raise issues that are important to you with the Council.   

It aims to answer questions such as: - 

 
How can I find out when meetings of the Council and its committees 

and bodies are taking place? 
p.34  

 How can I find out what will be discussed at a particular meeting? p.34  

 How can I find out when an issue I am concerned about will be 

decided? 
p.34  

 Can I ask a committee or body of the Council to look into a particular 

issue? 
p.34  

 Can I attend meetings of the Full Council? p.35  

 Can I attend other meetings? p.36  

 Can I speak at a meeting? p.36  

 Can I ask a question at a meeting? p.36  

 How can I find out what the Council decided? p.37 

 Can I view the Council’s accounts to understand how my council tax 

is spent? 

p.37 

Signposts to the most relevant sections of the constitution and to additional 

resources available on the Council’s website are provided throughout this guide to 

enable you to read more on a particular topic if you wish.  

There is also a detailed index on the last page of this guide to allow you to quickly 

look up specific topics and issues of interest to you.  

Page 135



5 
 

If there is anything in this guide which is unclear, or anything is missing, please let 

us know so we can improve it.  

You can get in touch by [DN: insert contact details].  

Page 136



  

Part 1  The constitution  

The constitution governs the way in which the Council, Councillors and officers 

working at the Council work together to deliver the Council’s functions. It ensures 

that everyone at the Council acts lawfully, fairly and appropriately and that the 

Council’s functions are performed properly and effectively.  

 
Section 2.1 of the constitution explains the purpose of the constitution. 

You can obtain a copy of the constitution from the Council’s offices and view it on 

the Council’s website. A copy of the constitution must also be provided to each 

Councillor when they are elected to the Council.  

 

You can access the Council’s constitution on the Council’s website <insert 

hyperlink>.   

 

Section 2.8 of the constitution explains where, when and how the 

constitution must be published. 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the constitution. 

The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for deciding how the constitution should 

be understood and applied. You can read more about the Monitoring Officer’s role 

in Part 4 of this guide.  

The Full Council is responsible for agreeing the constitution. Once the constitution 

has been agreed, it can only be changed by the Full Council. Usually, changes to the 

constitution are recommended to the Full Council by the Monitoring Officer.  

In some circumstances, the Monitoring Officer may make changes to the 

constitution. For example, where there is a change in the law that affects the 

constitution, or where a minor change is needed to clarify a provision in the 

constitution that is unclear.  

 

Sections 2.4 to 2.6 of the constitution explain how the constitution is agreed 

and how it can be changed. 

The constitution also governs how meetings of the Council and its committees should 

be conducted. The person chairing a meeting will be responsible for ensuring that 

the constitution is followed during that meeting.  

 

Key words and phrases are defined and explained in section 2.2 of the 

constitution. 

 

Page 137



7 
 

Part 2  The Council’s democratic structures 

The Council is made up of Councillors who are elected every four years to represent 

people living in different parts of the Council’s area (referred to in the constitution 

as ‘electoral divisions’, but commonly known as ‘wards’).  

Councillors are responsible for everyone living in the Council’s area, but they have 

a special duty to people living in their ward.  

 

Section 1.2 of the constitution provides an overview of how individual 

Councillors work together as the Council. 

All Councillors meet together regularly as the Full Council. The Full Council is 

responsible for setting the Council’s budget, policy priorities and overall policy 

framework.  

At the start of every year, the Full Council will elect one Councillor as its Chair. The 

Chair is responsible for chairing meetings of the Full Council and ensuring that 

decisions are taken properly and in accordance with the rules. The Chair is also 

responsible for carrying out certain ceremonial functions. 

You can read more about these roles in Part 3 of this guide.  

Individual councillors may also be appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader. Members 

of the Cabinet are responsible for specific policy areas, commonly referred to as 

portfolios. Where responsibility for a particular work area or function is given to a 

member of the Cabinet, it is described in the constitution as being delegated to that 

person.  

The Cabinet meets regularly to take collective decisions on those aspects of the 

Council’s work which the Cabinet is responsible for.  

Some of the Council’s functions are carried out by committees. Committees are 

small groups of Councillors that meet together to carry out certain of the Council’s 

regulatory and scrutiny functions.  

The Full Council may engage such paid staff (referred to as officers) as it considers 

necessary. The Cabinet, Full Council and committees may delegate functions to 

officers. Further information on delegations can be found in the officers’ scheme of 

delegations [insert hyperlink].   

You can read more about all of these structures in the following sections of this Part 

of the guide.   

Page 138



  

 

 

 

 

Structure diagram to be inserted here. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 139



  

Councillors 

Councillors are elected by the people living in a particular ward to represent them 

on the Council. However, Councillors are also accountable to the wider community 

and must act in the best interests of everyone living in the Council’s area.  

If you want to raise an issue with the Council and are not sure who to contact, you 

may wish to contact your Councillor to ask for help. 

 

You can find out who your local Councillor is and their contact details on 

the Council’s website <insert hyperlink>.  

All Councillors are members of the Full Council, and they may also be members of 

one or more of the Council’s members’ bodies (such as the Cabinet or a committee). 

Where Councillors act as a member of a particular Council body, they are referred 

to in the constitution as ‘Members’.   

 

This is explained more fully in the list of definitions in section 2.2.2 of the 

constitution. 

Councillors have certain rights that are set out in the constitution, which enable 

them to raise issues and make representations on your behalf. 

For example, Councillors may: - 

 see any information which they need in order to fulfil their role as a member 

of the Council;  

 attend any meeting of the Council, its committees or the Cabinet;  

 speak at any meeting of any Council body which they are a member of; 

 with the permission of the chair, speak at any meeting of any Council body 

(even if they are not a member of that body); 

 talk to the Leader, or members of the Cabinet or Council officers about any 

aspect of Council business; and 

 raise complaints. 

 

Councillors’ rights to information are set out in section 3.1.2 of the 

constitution. 

 

Councillors’ rights to participate in Council proceedings are set out in 

section 3.3 of the constitution. 

Page 140



10 
 

Councillors may also raise questions at meetings of the Full Council and the Council’s 

committees and sub-committees, submit motions to the Full Council and call-in 

decisions. 

 

The rules surrounding how these rights are exercised are set out in sections 

4.20 to 4.22 and 7.25 of the constitution. 

 

You can read more about the role of elected Councillors and the qualities 

that make a good Councillor in the role description in section 19 of the 

constitution. 

  

Page 141



11 
 

Full Council   

 
Section 4 of the constitution governs the Full Council. 

What does the Full Council do? 

The law requires that certain important decisions are taken by all Councillors 

meeting together as the Full Council. These are referred to in the constitution as 

functions of the Full Council. The Council may decide that other non-executive 

functions should be carried out by the Full Council too. These are referred to in the 

constitution as local choice functions because the Council has a choice about which 

person or body should carry them out.  

 

Section 13 of the constitution explains the different types of functions that 

are carried out by the Council and which part of the Council is responsible 

for carrying them out. 

The Full Council is responsible for, amongst other things: - 

 agreeing the constitution, and any changes to the constitution; 

 setting the Council’s budget; 

 developing the Council’s single integrated plan (which explains how the 

Council will deliver its legal duties in areas such as health and social care, 

children and young people and community safety);  

 agreeing key plans and strategies (referred to in the constitution as the 

‘policy framework’); 

 reviewing and reporting on the Council’s performance; 

 electing the Leader and the Chair and Vice Chair; and 

 appointing the Chief Executive and other Chief Officers. 

 

All of the functions of the Full Council are listed in section 4.6 of the 

constitution. 

Meetings of the Full Council are chaired by the Chair. They are responsible for 

ensuring that meetings are conducted in accordance with the constitution and that 

decisions are made properly, fairly and lawfully.  

You can read more about the role of the Chair in Part 3 of this guide.  

What happens at meetings of the Full Council? 

Page 142



12 
 

The Full Council will meet at the start of each financial year. This is known as the 

annual meeting.  

 

The timing of the annual meeting and the issues to be decided at that 

meeting are described in the council procedure rules in section 4.10 of the 

constitution. 

At the annual meeting, the Council will also decide how often all Councillors should 

meet together as the Full Council. These regular meetings of the Full Meetings are 

known as ordinary meetings.  

 

Ordinary meetings are carried out in accordance with the council procedure 

rules in section 4.11 of the constitution. 

In some circumstances, it may be necessary for the Full Council to meet before its 

next scheduled meeting to discuss an issue that is particularly urgent or important. 

This is known as an extraordinary meeting of the Council. 

 

 

The process by which an extraordinary meeting may be called and the issues 

that may be discussed there are set out in section 4.12 of the constitution. 

The Head of Democratic Services is responsible for deciding when and where 

meetings of the Full Council will be held. They must notify Councillors of this by 

issuing them with a summons.  

The Head of Democratic Services is also responsible for ensuring that the public are 

told about meetings of the Full Council, by publishing a notice in advance of each 

meeting. The notice must include certain information such as the date and time of 

the meeting, where it will be held and how you can access the meeting remotely 

using video conferencing.  

You can read more about participating in meetings of the Council in part 4 of this 

guide.  

 

Section 4.13 and 4.14 of the constitution govern meeting arrangements and 

notice requirements. 

How does the Full Council make decisions?  

Meetings of the Full Council are carried out in accordance with an agreed set of rules 

that are designed to ensure that debates are conducted fairly and efficiently, and 

that every Councillor has the ability to raise questions and to make comments on 

the public’s behalf. 

Page 143



13 
 

 
The rules of debate are set out in section 4.23 of the constitution. 

Decisions are made by Councillors casting votes for or against a particular decision 

(referred to in the constitution as a motion). Councillors may also propose 

amendments (changes) to a particular motion, which must then be voted on.  

Usually, votes will be conducted by a show of hands, with Councillors asked to raise 

their hand to indicate whether they vote for or against a particular motion, or 

whether they wish to abstain (i.e. to vote neither for nor against the motion). The 

Council also uses voting software that allows Councillors to cast their votes 

electronically. 

Decisions will usually require a simple majority of those present voting for a 

particular motion. In other words, more Councillors must vote for a motion than 

against it. Where a vote is tied once all Councillors have voted, the Chair will have 

a second, casting vote.  

Councillors may request a recorded vote on a particular issue. In a recorded vote, 

the Councillors voting for and against a particular motion, and those abstaining, will 

be written down and recorded in the minutes of the meeting. Councillors may also 

request that their individual vote on a particular motion is recorded in the minutes.  

 

The Council’s voting arrangements are set out in section 4.26 of the 

constitution. 

Does every Councillor need to be present before a decision can be taken? 

Not every Councillor needs to vote on every decision. In fact, in some circumstances 

it may not be appropriate for a Councillor to vote on a particular issue (for example, 

where they have a personal and prejudicial interest in a decision). You can read 

more about this in part three of this guide.   

However, in order for the Council to make a lawful decision a minimum number of 

Councillors must be present at a meeting. The minimum number of Councillors that 

must be present at a meeting is referred to in the constitution as the quorum for 

that meeting.  

 

Section 4.16 of the constitution sets out the minimum number of Councillors 

that must be present so the Full Council can make a decision. 

Are meetings recorded? 

Page 144



14 
 

A record of each meeting will be kept in the form of minutes. The minutes will 

contain a record of the motions that were put to the meeting, and the decisions that 

were taken. They will also record who was present at the meeting.  

The minutes of a meeting of the Full Council will be agreed by the next meeting of 

the Council and published on the Council’s website in accordance with the Council’s 

access to information procedure rules. 

If you want to find out what the Council decided about an issue that affects you, 

you can read the minutes of the meeting where that issue was discussed.  

 
Information on minutes can be found in section 4.27 of the constitution.  

 

The access to information procedure rules can be found in section 14 of the 

constitution. 

 

Minutes of meetings are available on the Council’s website <insert 

hyperlink>.  

 

  

Page 145



15 
 

The Cabinet 

The Cabinet is made up of the Leader and individual Councillors appointed to the 

Cabinet by the Leader.  

 

Sections 5.2 and 5.5 of the constitution explain the composition of the 

Cabinet and how Councillors are appointed to the Cabinet. 

The role of Leader and any role on the Cabinet may be carried out by two or more 

Councillors on a job-share basis.  

What does the Cabinet do?  

The Leader is responsible for carrying out the Council’s executive functions. 

However, in practice the Leader cannot personally carry out every one of these 

functions, so the Leader delegates responsibility for certain functions to the 

Cabinet, to members of the Cabinet to officers of the Council or to other bodies.  

Each year, the Cabinet agrees which functions the Leader will delegate to whom. 

This is known as the Council’s scheme of delegation.  

 

Sections 5.6 and 6.5 of the constitution explain how functions are delegated 

by the Leader. 

 

The Council’s scheme of delegation can be found in section 13 of the 

constitution. 

Meetings of the Cabinet 

The Leader will decide when the Cabinet will meet, and for how long. They will also 

chair meetings of the Cabinet.  

The constitution prescribes certain matters that must be considered at every 

meeting of the Cabinet. Additionally, the Leader, members of the Cabinet and 

certain Chief Officers may require that an item of business is added to the meeting 

agenda.  

Meetings of the Cabinet are carried out in accordance with the rules of procedure 

and debate set down in the constitution.  

 

The rules of procedure and debate of the Cabinet are set out in sections 5.8 

of the constitution.  

   

How does the Cabinet make decisions?  

Page 146



16 
 

The Cabinet is obliged to consult with individual Councillors and with certain 

committees before it makes a decision on matters that are not urgent.  

 

These consultation requirements are explained in section 5.8.10 of the 

consultation.  

The Cabinet must keep a record of every decision it makes, including every decision 

made by an individual member of the Cabinet and the Cabinet’s committees.  

 

Section 14.13 of the constitution sets down the requirements for the 

Cabinet’s record of decisions.   

 

You can read the minutes of meetings of the Cabinet on the Council’s 

website <insert hyperlink>. 

 

  

Page 147



17 
 

Why does the Council have committees and what do they do? 

The law requires the Council to establish committees for the purpose of carrying out 

certain legal functions of the Council.  

The Council may also decide to establish other committees and working groups for 

the purpose of assisting the Council to conduct its business efficiently and 

effectively.  

What do the Council’s regulatory committees do? 

Governance and Audit Committee 

The Governance and Audit Committee advises the Full Council, the Cabinet and their 

respective committees and members on matters relating to good governance, 

financial oversight, risk management and complaints.  

The Governance and Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of the Council’s 

rules and procedures for ensuring that the Council acts lawfully, responsibly and that 

it is accountable to the public (referred to in the constitution as the Council’s 

governance systems and internal controls). The committee is also responsible for 

ensuring that the Council’s decisions and finances are audited in accordance with 

agreed procedures. 

The Governance and Audit Committee comprises a mixture of Councillors and lay 

members (who are not members of the Council). Councillors are appointed to the 

Committee in accordance with the political balance rules (which ensure that the 

political make-up of the committee reflects the political make-up of the Council).  

 

Section 9.2 of the constitution explains the Council’s arrangements for the 

Governance and Audit Committee.   

 

The terms of reference in section 13 of the constitution explains the 

functions of the Governance and Audit Committee.   

Democratic Services Committee  

The Democratic Services Committee is responsible for appointing the Head of 

Democratic Services, keeping under review the provision of resources to the Head 

of Democratic Services and supporting non-executive members of the Council.  

The Democratic Services Committee is made up of Councillors, though there are 

limits to the number of Cabinet members who can sit on the Democratic Services 

Committee. Councillors are appointed to the Committee in accordance with the 

political balance rules (which ensure that the political make-up of the committee 

reflects the political make-up of the Council). 

Page 148



18 
 

 

Section 9.3 of the constitution explains the Council’s arrangements for the 

Democratic Services Committee.   

 

The terms of reference in section 13 of the constitution explains the 

functions of the Democratic Services Committee.   

Licensing Committee 

The Council is responsible for deciding whether to grant licences for a wide range of 

different businesses, services and activities in its area. The Council’s licensing 

functions are delegated to the Council’s Licensing Committee.  

The Council will appoint individual Councillors to the Licensing Committee and agree 

terms of reference for, and the delegation of powers to, the Licensing Committee 

to enable it to discharge those functions.  

 

You can read more about the Council’s Licensing Committee in section 9.3 

and section 13 of the constitution.   

 

You can also read more about the Council’s licensing functions on the 

Council’s website <insert hyperlink>.   

Planning Committee 

The Council is responsible for operating the planning system in its area. This involves 

preparing local development plans and local planning policies (which govern 

development in the Council’s area) and managing development (by granting or 

refusing permission for new development).  

The Council will appoint individual Councillors to the Planning Committee and agree 

terms of reference for, and the delegation of powers to, the Planning Committee to 

enable it to discharge those functions.  

 

You can read more about the Council’s Planning Committee in section 9.4 

and section 13 of the constitution.   

 

You can also read more about the Council’s planning functions on the 

Council’s website <insert hyperlink>.   

 

  

Page 149



19 
 

What do the Council’s scrutiny committees do? 

 Scrutiny Committees  

The Scrutiny Committees are responsible for holding the Cabinet and other bodies 

of the Council to account.  

The Scrutiny Committees can: - 

 review and scrutinise decisions made by the Cabinet and other parts of the 

Council; 

 make reports and recommendations to the Council or to the Cabinet; and  

 make proposals regarding changes to the Council’s policies and procedures.  

 

The functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are set out in 

sections 7.2, 7.4, 7.10 and 7.19 of the constitution.   

Members of the Scrutiny Committees must be told about meetings of other Council 

bodies. They have special rights to see Council documents.  

The Scrutiny Committees may also require any member of the Cabinet or any senior 

paid officer of the Council to attend a meeting of the committee to explain a 

decision that they have taken or their performance.  

 

The Scrutiny Committees’ rights and powers are described in sections 7.22 

to 7.25 of the constitution. 

 

The rules around membership of the Scrutiny Committees, the conduct of 

committee meetings and the carrying out of the functions of the committee 

are set out in section 7 of the constitution.  

Standards Committee  

The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting high standards of conduct by 

Councillors, including by advising and training Councillors on the councillor code of 

conduct and advising the Council on changes to that code.  

 

The functions of the Standards Committee are set out in sections 8.6 to 8.8 

of the constitution.   

The Standards Committee is also responsible for investigating alleged breaches of 

the councillor code of conduct and censuring members who are found to have failed 

to comply with that code. 

Page 150



20 
 

 

The procedure for dealing with allegations made against Councillors is set 

out in Section 18 of the constitution.   

The Standards Committee comprises a mixture of Councillors and independent 

members (who cannot be members or paid officers of the Council or related to 

members or paid officers of the Council).  

 

You can read more about the Standards Committee in section 8 of the 

constitution.   

 

 

  

Page 151



21 
 

What are joint committees?  

The Council may carry out some of its functions jointly with one or more other local 

authorities in Wales, and with other public bodies. The Council may decide to do 

this where, for example, the Council considers that it could better promote the 

economic, social or environmental wellbeing of people living in its area by 

coordinating its activities with other local authorities, bodies or people.   

The Council can establish a joint committee with other local authorities, bodies or 

people and delegate decisions and functions to that joint committee. By allowing 

decisions to be taken by a joint committee, the Council can ensure that decisions 

can be coordinated between all authorities and bodies represented on the 

committee. 

The Cabinet may also establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities 

in Wales for the purpose of jointly exercising executive functions together with those 

authorities.  

 

Section 10.3 of the constitution governs the circumstances in which the 

Council or Cabinet may enter into joint arrangements with other authorities 

and bodies.    

The Council and the Cabinet may also delegate or contract out particular functions 

to another local authority or to another body or organisation.  

 

Sections 10.5 to 10.6 of the constitution explain the Council’s delegations 

and contracting out arrangements.    

 

  

Page 152



22 
 

The North Wales Corporate Joint Committee  

The North Wales Corporate Joint Committee is a type of joint committee.  

However, unlike other joint committees (which are created by Councils deciding to 

work together), the North Wales Corporate Joint Committee was created by the 

Welsh Ministers.  

The North Wales Corporate Joint Committee is responsible for the following 

functions: - 

 regional transport planning;  

 strategic development planning;]  

 [economic well-being;]   

The Council must work together with other members of the North Wales Corporate 

Joint Committee when it performs these functions.  

Corporate joint committees are established through regulations made by the Welsh 

Ministers. Consequently, many of the rules and standards that apply to corporate 

joint committees are set down in regulations, rather than in the constitution.  

  

 

You can read the regulations that govern the North Wales Corporate Joint 

Committee online <insert hyperlink to legislation.gov.uk> 

 

You can read more about corporate joint committees generally in guidance 

published by the Welsh Government <insert hyperlink>.  

  

Page 153



23 
 

Part 3 Roles and responsibilities  

What roles do Councillors perform?  

In section 19 of the constitution you can find information about the roles that 

Councillors may perform on the Council.  

These include: - 

 Leader; 

 Chair;  

 Member of the Cabinet;  

 Elected Member (Councillor); 

 Chair and / or member of a Committee 

 Chair and / or member of Scrutiny Committee; 

 Leader of the Opposition 

 Member Champion.  

In section 11 of the constitution you will find information about the roles played by 

senior paid officials of the Council, including the Chief Executive, the Monitoring 

Officer, the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Democratic Services.  

This part of the guide provides more information about these important roles.  

  

Page 154



24 
 

Chair 

The Chair and Vice Chair are elected by the Full Council every year. 

 

The procedures that govern the election of the Chair and Vice Chair and 

their resignation or dismissal are set out in section 4.7.3 of the constitution.    

The Chair is responsible for: - 

 promoting and upholding the constitution;  

 presiding over meetings of the Full Council;  

 ensuring that meetings of the Full Council are quorate and conducted in 

accordance with the Council’s procedure rules; and  

 ensuring that decisions are taken in accordance with the constitution. 

The Chair is also the civic leader of the Council. They are responsible for promoting 

the interests and reputation of the Council and for carrying out civic, community 

and ceremonial activities. 

The Vice Chair performs the Chair’s functions in their absence.  

 

You can read more about the role and functions of the Chair and the Vice 

Chair in section 4.7.4 of the constitution.   

 

The role description for the Chair can be found in section 19 of the 

constitution. 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



25 
 

 

 

 

 

Leader and Deputy Leader 

The Leader is elected by the Full Council.  

The Deputy Leader is appointed by the Leader to exercise the Leader’s functions in 

their absence.  

 

The arrangements governing the election of the Leader and the appointment 

of the Deputy Leader are set out in sections 6.1 to 6.4 of the constitution. 

The Leader is responsible for appointing Councillors to the Cabinet and for allocating 

specific policy areas and responsibilities (portfolios) to members of the Cabinet. 

The Leader is also responsible for preparing a scheme describing which functions are 

to be carried out by which members of the Cabinet (this is referred to in the 

constitution as the Cabinet scheme of delegation).  

 
See section 6.5 of the constitution for more information. 

The Leader also chairs meetings of the Cabinet.  

The Leader will act as the Council member of the North Wales Corporate Joint 

Committee and the Council’s representative on the Conwy and Denbighshire Public 

Services Board.  

The Leader may appoint other members of the Council to sit on other outside bodies.  

  

 

The role description for the Leader can be found in section 19 of the 

constitution. 

 

 

Member of the Cabinet 

Page 156



26 
 

Members of the Cabinet are responsible for: - 

 taking decisions regarding issues that fall within their area of responsibility; 

 playing an active role in Cabinet meetings and decision making; 

 contributing to the development of the Council’s forward work programme 

and to policies and procedures in their area of responsibility;  

 providing political leadership to the Council’s paid officers on matters they 

are responsible for; 

 reporting to the Full Council, the Leader, the Cabinet and others on the 

performance of services which they are responsible for; and  

 participating in the Council’s scrutiny processes and procedures, including by 

explaining decisions they have made and the performance of functions within 

their area to the Scrutiny Committees.  

 

You can read more about members of the [Cabinet] [Executive] in section 

5.5 of the constitution. 

 

The role description for members of the Cabinet can be found in section 19 

of the constitution. 

 

What roles do paid officers of the Council perform? 

The elected members of the Council are supported by paid officers of the Council, 

who are accountable to the Council and responsible for delivering services to the 

public in accordance with the policies and procedures agreed by the Full Council, 

the Cabinet and their committees and bodies.  

The Chief Executive has overall corporate and operational responsibility for the 

work of the Council and for all paid officers of the Council.  

 

The Chief Executive’s role and responsibilities are described in sections 

11.1and 11.2 of the constitution. 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring lawfulness and fairness in the 

Council’s decision making, maintaining and upholding the constitution, receiving 

reports of alleged breaches of the Council’s duties and obligations and conducting 

investigations into such allegations.  

Page 157



27 
 

 

The Monitoring Officer’s role and responsibilities are described in section 

11.3 of the constitution. 

The Head of Democratic Services is responsible for advising the Council, its 

committees and individual Councillors, on the proper discharge of the Council’s 

democratic functions and responsibilities.  

 

The Head of Democratic Services’ role and responsibilities are described in 

section 11.5 of the constitution. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Council makes lawful 

and financially prudent decisions. They are also responsible for the administration 

of the Council’s financial affairs and providing advice to Councillors on the Council’s 

budgetary and other financial procedures.  

 

The Chief Finance Officer’s role and responsibilities are described in 

sections 11.4 of the constitution. 

The Council also employs a number of other Chief Officers. 

Chief Officers are each accountable to the Council for the financial management 

and administration of those services and activities allocated to them in accordance 

with the Council’s policies.  

 
The roles and responsibilities of Chief Officers are described in sections 13 

and 16 of the constitution. 

 

The processes by which officers are recruited, appointed, disciplined and 

dismissed are set out in section 11.9 of the constitution. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 158



28 
 

How should Councillors and Officers behave?  

Councillors should comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct 

Councillors are expected to uphold the highest standards of personal and 

professional conduct. Those standards are described in the Code of Conduct for 

Members. 

The Code of Conduct for Members is intended to help and guide Councillors in 

maintaining appropriate standards of conduct when serving their community. In 

turn, it provides reassurance to the public and helps build their trust in, and respect 

for, their local representatives.  

The Code of Conduct for Members is based upon the 7 Principles of Public Life, which 

were first set out in the 1995 Nolan Report on Standards in Public Life. Three 

additional principles were added in the local government principles in Wales.  

The Code of Conduct for Members is consistent with, and provides for the practical 

application of, these principles. 

 Selflessness 

Members must act solely in the public interest. They must never use their 

position as members to improperly confer an advantage on themselves or to 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on others. 

 Honesty 

Members must declare any private interests relevant to their public duties 

and take steps to resolve any conflict in a way that protects the public 

interest. 

 Integrity and propriety 

Members must not put themselves in a position where their integrity is called 

into question by any financial or other obligation to individuals or 

organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance of their 

duties. Members must on all occasions avoid the appearance of such 

behaviour. 

 Duty to uphold the law 

Members must act to uphold the law and act on all occasions in accordance 

with the trust that the public has placed in them. 

 Stewardship 

Page 159



29 
 

In discharging their duties and responsibilities members must ensure that 

their authority’s resources are used both lawfully and prudently. 

 Objectivity in decision-making 

In carrying out their responsibilities including making appointments, awarding 

contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, members 

must make decisions on merit. Whilst members must have regard to the 

professional advice of officers and may properly take account of the views of 

others, including their political groups, it is their responsibility to decide what 

view to take and, if appropriate, how to vote on any issue. 

 Equality and respect 

Members must carry out their duties and responsibilities with due regard to 

the need to promote equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their 

gender, race, disability, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age or 

religion, and show respect and consideration for others. 

 Openness 

Members must be as open as possible about all their actions and those of their 

authority. They must seek to ensure that disclosure of information is 

restricted only in accordance with the law. 

 Accountability 

Members are accountable to the electorate and the public generally for their 

actions and for the way they carry out their responsibilities as a member. 

They must be prepared to submit themselves to such scrutiny as is appropriate 

to their responsibilities. 

 Leadership 

Members must promote and support these principles by leadership and 

example so as to promote public confidence in their role and in the authority. 

They must respect the impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory 

officers and its other employees. 

 

You can read the Code of Conduct for Members in full in section 18 of the 

constitution. 

Councillors are expected to ensure that they understand their obligations under the 

Code and act in a way which shows that they are committed to meeting the high 

standards of conduct that are expected of them. Councillors are provided with 

Page 160



30 
 

training when they are first appointed, and on a regular basis, to support them to 

comply with the Code of Conduct for Members.  

Officers should comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct  

Paid officers of the Council are responsible for serving the council by providing 

advice to Councillors, implementing the Council’s policies, and delivering services 

to the local community. In performing their duties, they must act with integrity, 

honesty, impartiality and objectivity. 

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all those who 

work for the Council.  The Code of Conduct for Officers outlines the rules and 

conditions of service which apply to the Council’s employees. It is designed to 

provide clear guidance to assist them in their day to day work and to allow the public 

to understand what they can expect when they interact with a Council employee.   

 

You can read the Code of Conduct for Officers in full in section 18 of the 

constitution. 

How should Councillors and Officers work together?  

Councillors and Officers have different roles, responsibilities and accountabilities, 

but it is imperative that they work effectively together to perform the Council’s 

functions and to deliver services to residents living in the Council’s area.  

The Protocol on Member and Officer Relations is designed to clarify the respective 

roles and responsibilities of Councillors and Officers and to guide them in their 

dealings with one another.  It explains what Councillors and Officers can reasonably 

expect from one another and how they should work together to achieve their 

common purpose.  

Councillors are entitled to express political views and to support the policies of the 

party or group to which they belong. Conversely, officers are expected to carry out 

the Council’s business in a politically impartial way and many are restricted from 

engaging in political activity. The protocol therefore explains how officers can 

support the policy deliberations by political groupings, while remaining politically 

neutral.  

 

You can read the Protocol on Member and Officer Relations in full in section 

18 of the constitution. 

 

 

Page 161



31 
 

How can I complain about a Councillor?  

Section 3.2.1.(f) of the constitution explains how you can submit comments or 

complaints about the Council’s services.  

If you wish to complain about a Councillor, then you should contact either the 

Council’s Monitoring Officer or the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.  

 

The Council’s complaints process provides more information about how to 

complain. It is available on the Council’s website <insert hyperlink>.  

 

You can find the Monitoring Officer’s contact details on the Council’s 

website <insert hyperlink>. 

 

You can find out more about how to complain to the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales on their website  

<https://www.ombudsman.wales/how-to-complain/> 

How can I complain about an officer?  

If you wish to complain about a paid officer of the Council, you should write to the 

officer concerned or their line manager.  

 

  

Page 162

https://www.ombudsman.wales/how-to-complain/


32 
 

Part 4  Policies and procedures 

The Council’s key plans and strategies (the policy framework) 

Where can I find the Council’s key plans and strategies?  

The Full Council is responsible for setting the Council’s key plans and strategies, 

which together form the Council’s policy framework.  

 

The plans and strategies which form the Council’s policy framework are 

listed in section 4.2 of the constitution. 

 
Individual plans and strategies are published on the Council’s website.  

How is the Council’s policy framework decided?  

The Cabinet is responsible for consulting with relevant stakeholders, considering any 

reports or recommendations made by the Council’s scrutiny committees and working 

with the Council’s Chief Officers to develop a draft policy framework.  

Once the Cabinet has developed a draft policy framework, it will be considered by 

a meeting of the Full Council. The Full Council may decide to adopt the policy 

framework, make changes to it, refer it back to the Cabinet so that further work 

can be done on it, or substitute its own policy framework for the draft prepared by 

the Cabinet.  

If the Full Council decides to adopt the policy framework then it shall take effect 

immediately. If the Full Council amends the policy framework then the Leader has 

an opportunity to object to the amendments and to reconvene the Full Council to 

reconsider the policy framework.  

Once adopted, the Cabinet, their committees, individual Councillors and the 

Council’s paid officers are bound to act in accordance with the policy framework.  

 

The process by which the Full Council adopts a policy framework is described 

in section 15 of the constitution. 

Budget setting and financial management  

How does the Council set its budget?  

The Full Council is responsible for agreeing the Council’s budget, and for agreeing 

changes to the Council’s budget once it has been formally adopted.  

Page 163



33 
 

The Council’s budget is in two parts: - 

 the revenue budget provides for day to day operating costs and expenditure 

like staff salaries, rent, and the ongoing costs of providing services.    

 the capital budget provides for one-off costs like a major road improvement 

scheme, or the purchase or construction of a new car park.  

The Cabinet, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, is responsible for 

developing initial proposals for the Council’s budget and consulting over these.  

Once this consultation has been completed, the Cabinet is responsible for preparing 

a final budget proposal for consideration by the Full Council.  

The Full Council may adopt the budget without making any changes, amend the 

budget, or ask the Cabinet to reconsider it before adopting it.  

 

The process by which the Full Council adopts its budget is described in 

sections 15 of the constitution. 

Decisions outside the budget or policy framework  

Can decisions be taken that do not comply with the budget or policy 

framework?  

The Full Council may decide to make changes to the policy framework.   

Other bodies and individuals may only take decisions that do not comply with the 

policy framework in a limited number of exceptional circumstances, which are set 

out in the constitution. For example, where an urgent decision must be taken to 

safeguard the Council’s interests and it is not possible to arrange a meeting of the 

Full Council in time.  

However, the Council’s overview and scrutiny committee may decide to refer such 

decisions to the Full Council for further consideration (this is referred to in the 

constitution as calling-in the decision).  

 

The Council’s arrangements for urgent decisions which do not comply with 

the policy framework are set out in section 15.3 and 15.4 of the constitution.  

Can money be moved from one budget head to another once the budget 

has been adopted?  

Page 164



34 
 

During the year the Cabinet and Chief Officers may need to transfer budgets from 

one service area to another to reflect changed service needs or priorities in order to 

deliver the Council’s policy framework within the financial limits set by the Council. 

 

The mechanism by which the Cabinet and Chief Officers may move money 

between budget heads is set out in section 16 of the constitution.  

What other policies and procedures govern how the Council manages its 

budget? 

The Council is bound by a number of different financial rules and procedures that 

govern how the Council’s spending is planned, committed, reviewed and audited.  

 

The Council’s detailed financial procedure rules are set out in section 16 of 

the constitution.  

Are there any restrictions on how the Council buys in goods and services?  

The Council can enter into contracts to purchase goods and services in much the 

same way as any other person or organisation. However, the Council must comply 

with the contract procedure rules in the constitution when it does so.  

The purpose of the contract procedure rules are to ensure that the Council complies 

with relevant legal requirements, and secures the most economically advantageous 

(best value) goods and services for taxpayers.  

If you regularly sell goods or services to the Council then you may wish to familiarise 

with these rules and procedures.   

 

The Council’s contract procedure rules are set out in section 17 of the 

constitution.  

How does the Council enter into contracts and agreements?  

The rules and procedures that govern how agreements, contracts and deeds are 

authorised and executed on behalf of the Council are set out in section 12 of the 

constitution.  

  

Page 165



35 
 

Part 5 How can I get involved?   

How can I find out when meetings of the Council and its committees 

and bodies are taking place? 

The Council publishes notices of meetings of the Full Council and its committees.  

 

You can find out more about notice requirements in sections 3.1, 4.14 and 

14.4 of the constitution.  

 

The Council publishes notices of meetings, and a programme of upcoming 

meetings, on its website <insert hyperlink>.  

How can I find out what will be discussed at a particular meeting?  

The Council will publish agendas for meetings, together with any background papers 

and reports in advance of the meeting taking place.  

Hard copies of agendas and background papers and reports will also be available at 

the meeting for those members of the public who wish to attend in person.  

 

You can find out more the information that is made publicly available in 

advance of a Council meeting in sections 14.5 and 14.8 of the constitution.  

 

The Council publishes meetings agendas and supporting documents and 

reports on its website <insert hyperlink>.  

How can I find out when an issue I am concerned about will be 

decided?  

The Council publishes a forward work programme, which sets out what decisions will 

be taken by the Full Council, the Cabinet and what issues the Scrutiny Committees 

will be considering, and when these matters will be discussed.  

 

You can find out more about the Council’s forward work programme in 

sections 3.1 of the constitution.  

 

The Council publishes its forward work programme on its website <insert 

hyperlink>.  

Can I ask a committee or body of the Council to look into a particular 

issue? 

Yes. You can request that an issue be considered for discussion by a Scrutiny 

Committee. You can find more information at section 3.2.1 of the Constitution. 

Page 166



36 
 

You can also submit petitions to the Council, using the Council’s petition scheme. 

The Council is obliged by law to operate a petition scheme, which sets out: - 

 how a petition can be submitted to the Council; 

 how and when the Council will acknowledge receipt of a petition; 

 the steps the Council will take in response to a petition; and 

 how any by when the Council will make available its response to a petition to 

the person who submitted the petition and to the public.  

 

You can read more about submitting a petition to the Council in section 

3.2.1 of the constitution.  

 

The Council publishes details of its petition scheme on its website <insert 

hyperlink>.  

Can I attend meetings of the Full Council? 

Yes, members of the public can come to meetings of the Full Council so long as they 

are being held in public. 

Meetings of the Full Council are also broadcast live on the Council’s website so you 

can watch them in real time remotely if you wish to do so.  

The public must be excluded from meetings when confidential information would 

otherwise be disclosed.  Confidential information means information given to the 

Council by a Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or 

information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

The Council may also exclude the public from a meeting, or part of a meeting, where 

exempt information would be disclosed. Exempt information includes information 

that relates to a particular individual or their financial or business affairs, 

information that is legally privileged or information relating to the prevention, 

investigation or prosecution of a crime, or other information specified in the 

constitution.   

If you interrupt a meeting of the Council, then you are likely to be warned by the 

Chair about causing a disturbance. If you continue to disturb the meeting, then you 

may be removed.  

 

 

The rules around excluding the public from meetings are set out in sections 

14.10 of the constitution.  

Page 167



37 
 

 

The Council’s obligations to broadcast meetings of the Council are set out 

in section 4.18 of the constitution.  

 

The rules around disturbance by members of the public are set out in section 

4.30 of the constitution.  

Can I attend other meetings?  

Yes, members of the public can come to any meeting which the Council has resolved 

should be held in public. 

 

Your right to attend meetings of the Council’s Cabinet, the Council’s 

committees and other bodies are described in section 14.3 of the 

constitution.  

Can I speak at a meeting? 

Members of the public can speak at any meeting which the Council has resolved 

should include participation by members of the public.   

Can I ask a question at a meeting?  

You can ask formal questions of members of the Cabinet at meetings of the Full 

Council.  

However, you may only ask a question if you have given the Head of Democratic 

Services notice in writing (including by email) that you wish to raise a question in 

advance of the meeting taking place. 

You may only ask one question, but if you cannot attend the meeting then you may 

nominate someone to attend the meeting and ask the question on your behalf.  

Time for questions is limited, and questions are permitted in the order in which they 

were notified to the Head of Democratic Services. If time for questions runs out 

before you are able to ask your question, then you will be provided with a written 

answer to your question instead.  

Representations can also be made in specific circumstances, such as objectors to 

planning applications at planning committee.   

 

You can read more about asking a question in section 4.19 of the 

constitution.  

 

Contact information for the Head of Democratic Services are published on 

the Council’s website <insert hyperlink>.  

Page 168



38 
 

How can I find out what the Council decided?  

The Council publishes the agenda, reports and the minutes of meetings once they 

have been agreed. These papers are available for inspection by the public for a 

minimum of six years from the date of the meeting. The background papers are 

available to the public for at least four years.  

The Council also has arrangements in place for publishing written records of 

decisions taken by the Cabinet and the Council’s committees and other bodies.   

 

You can read about the Council’s arrangements for publishing minutes of 

meetings in section 14.7 of the constitution.  

 

You can read about the Council’s arrangements for publishing a written 

record of decisions taken by the Cabinet, the Council’s committees and 

individual members of the Cabinet in section 14.14 of the constitution.  

 

You can read meeting minutes, reports and agendas on the Council’s website 

<insert hyperlink>.  

Can I view the Council’s accounts to understand how my council tax 

is spent?  

Yes. The Council is required to publish its accounts and to make them available for 

inspection by the public. You may raise questions of concerns about the Council’s 

accounts with the Council or with the Council’s extremal auditor.  

 

You can find out more about how to view and comment on the Council’s 

accounts in sections 3.1.1 of the constitution.  

  

Page 169



39 
 

INDEX 

Introduction ............................................................................................. 1 

The constitution ................................................................................... 1 

This guide .......................................................................................... 1 

Part 1  The constitution ............................................................................. 5 

Part 2  The Council’s democratic structures ..................................................... 6 

Structure chart ....................................................................................... 7 

Councillors ............................................................................................ 8 

Full Council .......................................................................................... 10 

The [Cabinet] [Executive] ......................................................................... 14 

Why does the Council have committees and what do they do? .............................. 16 

What do the Council’s regulatory committees do? .......................................... 16 

Governance and Audit Committee .......................................................... 16 

Democratic Services Committee ............................................................ 16 

Licensing Committee ......................................................................... 17 

Planning Committee .......................................................................... 17 

What do the Council’s scrutiny committees do? ............................................. 18 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee .......................................................... 18 

Standards Committee ......................................................................... 18 

What are joint committees? ....................................................................... 20 

The [DN: insert name] Corporate Joint Committee ........................................... 21 

Part 3 Roles and responsibilities .................................................................. 22 

What roles do Councillors perform? .............................................................. 22 

[Mayor] [Chair] [Presiding Member] and [Deputy Mayor] [Vice Chair] [Deputy Presiding 
Member] ........................................................................................... 23 

[Civic Chair and Civic Vice Chair ............................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Leader and Deputy Leader ...................................................................... 24 

Member of the [Cabinet] [Executive] ......................................................... 24 

Assistant to the Executive ................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

What roles do paid officers of the Council perform? .......................................... 25 

How should Councillors and Officers behave? .................................................. 27 

Councillors should comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct .......................... 27 

Special requirements for Councillors who are members of the Council’s planning 
committee ..................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Officers should comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct ............................... 29 

How should Councillors and Officers work together? ....................................... 29 

How can I complain about a Councillor? ...................................................... 30 

How can I complain about an officer? ......................................................... 30 

Part 4  Policies and procedures ................................................................... 31 

Page 170



40 
 

The Council’s key plans and strategies (the policy framework) ............................. 31 

Where can I find the Council’s key plans and strategies? .................................. 31 

How is the Council’s policy framework decided? ............................................ 31 

Budget setting and financial management ...................................................... 31 

How does the Council set its budget? ......................................................... 31 

Decisions outside the budget or policy framework ............................................ 32 

Can decisions be taken that do not comply with the budget or policy framework? .... 32 

Can money be moved from one budget head to another once the budget has been 
adopted? ........................................................................................... 32 

What other policies and procedures govern how the Council manages its budget? .... 33 

Are there any restrictions on how the Council buys in goods and services? ............. 33 

How does the Council enter into contracts and agreements? ............................. 33 

Part 5 How can I get involved? .................................................................... 34 

How can I find out when meetings of the Council and its committees and bodies are taking 
place? ................................................................................................. 34 

How can I find out what will be discussed at a particular meeting? ........................ 34 

How can I find out when an issue I am concerned about will be decided? ................. 34 

Can I ask a committee or body of the Council to look into a particular issue? ............ 34 

Can I attend meetings of the Full Council? ..................................................... 35 

Can I attend other meetings? ..................................................................... 36 

Can I speak at a meeting? ......................................................................... 36 

Can I ask a question at a meeting? ............................................................... 36 

How can I find out what the Council decided? ................................................. 37 

Can I view the Council’s accounts to understand how my council tax is spent? ........... 37 

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Governance and Audit Committee 

Date of meeting 16th March 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer 

Report author Gary Williams, Monitoring Officer 

Title Lay Members of Governance and Audit Committee 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. The report is about the need to recruit lay persons to sit on the Committee 

following the local government election in May 2022. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. The provisions of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 make 

changes to the membership of the Governance and Audit committee that 

require an increased number of lay person members. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the Committee confirms that it will appoint from it’s membership a panel to 

shortlist and interview candidates for the role of lay person on the Committee. 

4. Report details 

4.1. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (s116) requires that one 

third of the membership of the Governance and |Audit Committee should comprise 

of lay persons. ‘Lay persons’ are defined in the Act (s117) as a person who:  

(a) is not a member or an officer of any local authority, 

(b) has not at any time in the period of twelve months ending with the date of that 

person's appointment been a member or an officer of any local authority, and, 

Page 173

Agenda Item 8



 
 

(c) is not the spouse or civil partner of a member or an officer of any local authority; 

4.2. In this context ‘member’ means a Councillor (s171) 

4.3. The current membership of the Committee is comprised of six elected 

members, politically balanced, and one lay member. 

4.4. In order to maintain the number of six councillors on the Committee it will be 

necessary to have three lay persons. 

4.5. The Council has taken part in a recruitment campaign co-ordinated on a 

national basis by Welsh Local Government Association and has received a 

number of applications that will need to be considered and interviews will need 

to be held. 

4.6. In May 2012 Council delegated the task of interviewing applicants for the 

position of lay member to this Committee in order that a recommendation as to 

appointment of a lay member could be made to Council. Council will need to 

make the final appointments. 

4.7. The Committee is therefore asked to provide from within its number a panel of 

members able to conduct the necessary assessment and interviewing of 

applicants. 

4.8. The Committee is reminded that following the elections in May 2022, the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 will require that the Chair of the 

Committee must be a lay person. 

 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. The decision does not have a direct impact upon the corporate priorities.  

Page 174



 
 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

 

6.1. The lay persons who are appointed will be entitled to be paid day rate 

allowances for their attendance at meetings. These rates are set by the 

Independent Remuneration panel for Wales and will be in 2022/2023 as follows, 

• Lay person Chair £268 per day and £134 per half day 

• Lay person member £210 per day and £105 per half day 

 

 

 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. An assessment is not required for this report. 

 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. There have been no consultations with Scrutiny. The provisions of the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 have been the subject of member 

workshops. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. It is currently anticipated that the costs will be maintained within existing resources. 

Any shortfall will be small and will be funded by allocating an element of the in-year 

contingency budget. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. There is a risk that if the lay persons are not appointed, the Committee will not 

be compliant with the relevant legislation. 

Page 175



 
 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. s116 Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

Page 176



 

Report to Governance & Audit Committee  

Date of meeting 16 March 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Cllr Julian Thompson Hill / Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal 

Auditor 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Title Internal Audit Update 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report provides an update for Governance & Audit Committee on Internal 

Audit’s latest progress in terms of its service delivery, assurance provision, 

reviews completed, performance and effectiveness in driving improvement. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. To provide information on the work carried out by Internal Audit since the last 

Committee meeting. It allows the Committee to monitor Internal Audit’s 

performance and progress as well as providing summaries of Internal Audit 

reports so that the Committee can receive assurance on other council services 

and corporate areas. This enables the committee to discharge its 

responsibilities as per its Term of Reference. Delivery of the audit plan will 

assist the committee with obtaining assurance that the Annual Governance 

Statement appropriately reflects the conditions of the Council. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the Committee considers the report content, assesses Internal Audit’s 

progress and performance. 

3.2. That the Committee decides whether in needs further assurance on any of the 

audited areas to follow up progress with implementing the improvement action 

plans. 

Page 177

Agenda Item 9



 
 

4. Report details 

4.1. Appendix 1 provides an update on internal audit work carried out since the last 

update report to the committee in November 2021.  

4.2. Since the last Governance & Audit Committee update report, five audits have 

been completed, none of which received a low assurance rating. One follow-up 

review of a previous low assurance audit was also completed and given a low 

assurance rating. A summary of the follow up is included in the Internal Audit 

Update report for information as it has already been presented to Partnership 

Scrutiny Committee as per the referral from this committee in January 2021. 

4.3. The service continues to make good progress with delivering the Audit Plan for 

2021/22, an update is provided within the Appendix 1 report. The report 

highlights key matters relating to the operation of the internal audit service, to 

include: 

 New Principal Auditor position has been created and filled to replace one of the 

Senior Auditor roles. The appointment has been made from within the team, 

and will commence shortly. 

 The Chief Internal Auditor will be leaving the Council on the 4th April 2022.  

 Interim management arrangements have been put in place due to the imminent 

retirement of the Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation (end of 

March 2022). Reporting lines for Internal Audit has changed as a result. 

4.4. The Internal Audit team continues to progress proactive counter fraud efforts. 

Internal Audit has been involved in investigations arising from Whistleblowing 

concerns raised by employees, which has impacted progress the delivery of 

assurance work. The Chief Internal Auditor continues to review the remaining 

priority projects contained within the Audit Plan 2021-22 to ensure higher 

priority audits are delivered and suitable assurance coverage is provided for the 

Annual Governance Statement. This will consider assurance gained from other 

sources e.g. Audit Wales. 

4.5. Internal audit monitors performance in relation to addressing actions arising 

from audit reviews. It is management’s responsibility to address the actions and 

record progress on the performance management system (Verto). Internal Audit 

Page 178



 
 

continues to perform a ‘follow up’ and reports on progress with implementing 

action plans arising from low assurance audits to ensure that necessary 

improvements are being made. Internal Audit Performance Standards show that 

the percentage of internal audit actions completed on time are still below target. 

Many actions continue to take longer to resolve than originally envisaged by 

services, this is mainly attributed to Covid-19 and/or capacity pressures. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. There is no decision required with this report. There is no direct contribution to 

Corporate Priorities, but some projects in the audit plan will review Corporate 

Priority areas and will provide assurance on their delivery.  

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. Not applicable – there is no decision or costs attached to the report. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. Not applicable – this report does not require a decision or proposal for change. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. Not required 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. There are no financial implications attached to this report. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

Sub-heading (delete as needed) 

10.1. Should insufficient audit work be completed during the year, there is a risk that 

the Chief Internal Auditor is unable to draw on sufficient assurance to issue a 

complete annual opinion in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards. Audits are prioritised to provide coverage of governance, risk 

Page 179



 
 

management and internal controls and scopes for these audits will focus on key 

risks 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. Not applicable – there is no decision required with this report. 

Page 180



 

Issue November 2021 

Internal Audit Update 
 
March 2022  

Page 181



 

 

 

 
2 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Contents 

Contents .............................................................................................................................. 2 

Internal Audit Reports Recently Issued ............................................................................ 3 

Governance & Decision Making – February 2022 ........................................................ 4 

Rhyl High School – December 2021 ............................................................................. 5 

Ysgol Llanfair Dyffryn Clwyd – January 2022 ............................................................... 7 

Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Implementation – February 2022 ............................. 8 

Housing Repairs & Maintenance – March 2022 ......................................................... 10 

Accommodation Provision for the Homeless Follow Up – November 2021 ................ 12 

Progress in Delivering the Internal Audit Assurance ...................................................... 14 

Progress with Counter Fraud Work ................................................................................ 20 

Referrals 2021/22 ....................................................................................................... 21 

Internal Audit Performance Standards ........................................................................... 22 

Appendix 1 – Assurance Level Definition ........................................................................... 23 

  

Page 182



 

 

 

 
3 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Internal Audit Reports Recently Issued 

Since the last Internal Audit Update report in July 2021, Internal Audit has completed: 

 five reviews and a full copy of each report has been circulated to members of the 

committee.  

 one follow-up review of a low assurance audit has also been completed with a 

reassessed assurance rating awarded based on the level of progress made with 

implementing the agreed action plan.  

The assurance given and number of issues raised for each review is summarised below: 

Area of work Assurance 

Level 

Critical 

Issues 

Major 

Issues 

Moderate 

Issues 

Governance & Decision Making Medium  0 0 4 

Rhyl High School High  0 0 2 

Ysgol Llanfair Dyffryn Clwyd High  0 0 1 

Additional Learning Needs (ALN) 

Code Implementation 

High  0 0 0 

Housing Repairs & Maintenance Medium  0 1 3 

Accommodation Provision for the 

Homeless follow up* 

Low  N/a N/a N/a 

* Follow Up of audits previously awarded a low assurance rating. It should be noted that the 

updated opinion is based on the assumption that systems and controls as previously identified 

during the original audit remain in operation and are being complied with in practice. The 

purpose of our follow up exercises is not to retest the operation of controls which have already 

been assessed, but to review how management has responded to the action plans following 

our initial work.  

  

Page 183



 

 

 

 
4 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Governance & Decision Making – February 2022 

Medium Assurance      Number of Risk Issues:  4 Moderate  

This review of the council decision making structure and process considered transparency 

and scrutiny of delegated decisions by lead members and chief officers. It also reviewed 

decision making during the Covid-19 pandemic and emergency response phase. 

While broadly the existing governance arrangements work well, there could be an opportunity 

to learn from the Covid-19 pandemic to balance quicker decision making while maintaining 

transparency and accountability. This could be through reviewing the current governance 

structure, or the templates or reports supplied to democratic meetings. 

Roles and responsibilities could also be clearer. The fundamental measures are in place such 

as documented guidance within the recently updated Constitution and other procedures. 

However, there is still a general lack of awareness particularly in relation to the Chief Officer 

delegated decision process, and maintaining a department delegations list. 

While the Constitution follows the model adopted by other Welsh local authorities, it is a 

lengthy document with decision making responsibilities being difficult to locate within it. 

Reviewing guidance provided and existing terms of reference, or putting in place terms of 

reference where they do not exist, e.g. SLT, will help to strengthen arrangements.  

Sample testing of delegated decisions made by lead members was positive overall. While the 

decision is published on the website, there is not a robust mechanism to provide supporting 

evidence of the process. Chief Officer delegated decisions could not be tested as there is not 

a clear audit trail. This makes it difficult for members to effectively scrutinise these decisions 

and ‘call in’ if required. 

Reviewing a sample of Cabinet meetings identified that these were well attended, members 

received sufficient information to aid decision making, and minutes were sufficiently detailed. A 

decision record was maintained to comply with the Constitution. However, there needs to be 

better planning by services for formal meetings with elected members.  

Page 184



 

 

 

 
5 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Scrutiny Committees have a role in effectively scrutinising key decisions made by the council, 

and there is a good process where Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs Group (SCVCG) review 

requests for items to be scrutinised against agreed criteria. While Scrutiny Committees’ work 

programmes have not decreased, scrutiny requests have reduced during the past two years, 

and there needs to be careful monitoring to ensure that scrutiny are identifying the appropriate 

items for scrutiny and effectively challenging them. The number of requests submitted during 

the last year (2020/21) will have been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. 

During the Covid-19 pandemic emergency response phase (April-July 2020), legislation at the 

time did not allow remote democratic meetings. Decision making was deferred unless required 

urgently, and therefore only two key decisions were made by the Leader, and we were advised 

that Cabinet members were consulted informally prior to the decision being taken. While 

positive results were obtained from our testing, the recording of decisions is held on IBM Notes 

where access is restricted so cannot easily be scrutinised.  

Feedback from the sample of heads of services and lead members that we contacted were 

positive overall on decision making within the council, offering examples of both good practice 

and where lessons can be learnt. It was clear from discussion that there is a good level of 

engagement with members both informally and more formally. We note that Audit Wales 

highlighted in 2018 the limited capacity within the scrutiny function, and the impact of the 

pandemic amongst other issues, has further stretched the resources within Democratic 

Services. This may limit their ability to carry out improvements, although a business case for 

additional resources was being pursued at the time of our review. 

Rhyl High School – December 2021 

High Assurance      Number of Risk Issues:   2 Moderate  

Since the pandemic, the school’s governing body’s priority is to ensure the school remains 

safe for staff and pupils. They have adapted mechanisms and processes where necessary to 

ensure the governing body and operations remains effective. 

Our review identified effective controls in place for the governing body, with good record 

keeping. Examples include: detailed minutes and supporting paperwork, completed DBS 

Page 185



 

 

 

 
6 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

checks, annual declarations of interests completed and statutory committees all have up-to-

date terms of references. Furthermore, the governing body has performed regular skills 

analysis exercises to identify training and development needs. However, not all governors 

have completed the mandatory training.  

The school is in the process of recruiting for four governor vacancies as well as the clerk to the 

governors. The governing body has experienced difficulty in recruiting a clerk due to the salary 

and the level of responsibility involved, which is an issue for a number of schools in the county. 

Governing body meetings are now held virtually, which has proven successful as attendance 

has improved. All the supporting documents, including agendas and minutes, are made 

available to governors in advance of meetings. Regular monitoring of the budget is performed, 

this includes annual reviews of financial limits, staffing costs and the school’s financial 

position. The latter is forecasting a surplus balance until 2023-24. 

All statutory policies are reviewed annually and are accessible to staff and governors in 

electronic and paper format. However, not all reviewed policies have been updated on the 

school’s website. 

The school’s focus has predominantly been on reviewing and monitoring Covid-19 risks to 

ensure compliance with Welsh Government guidelines and maintaining the safety of those 

attending the school. Consequently, this has limited capacity to monitor the school 

development plan The governing body plans to reintroduce regular reviews of the school 

development plan from January 2022, which will now be a two-year plan rather than a three-

year plan as set out previously. 

Financial controls are effective for monitoring of income and expenditure. The school uses 

corporate IT systems and there is appropriate separation of duty in place and regular 

reconciliations being performed. School fund certificates are audited annually and are up to 

date. 

Works required on site are procured through the corporate buildings maintenance team who 

perform relevant checks of approved suppliers. Grant funding received by the school is 

monitored by the school and by the Council’s finance officers to ensure compliance with 

relevant terms and conditions. 

Page 186



 

 

 

 
7 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

There are good security controls in place at the school, including CCTV camera installed, 

regular fire drills performed, and all visitors are required to ‘sign in’ when visiting the school. 

Fire safety and health and safety assessments are also in place. ICT security arrangements 

appear to be effective; staff have individual usernames and passwords and all external 

devices are encrypted and password protected. The school maintain an asset register for all 

ICT equipment purchased. An agreement is in place between the school and Fleet Services, 

who perform regular safety checks of the school vehicle and arrange for appropriate vehicle 

insurance and road tax.  

Corporate carbon targets have been agreed to help the council become a Net Carbon Zero 

and Ecologically Positive Council and to reduce carbon emissions by 2030, which include 

purchasing of goods and services in the council’s supply chain. However, the governing body 

was not aware of the agreed targets. Audit Wales’ recent review of climate change within the 

council highlighted a lack of awareness of the agreed targets within schools. We confirmed 

that actions are already in the process of being implemented. 

Ysgol Llanfair Dyffryn Clwyd – January 2022 

High Assurance      Number of Risk Issues:   1 Moderate  

Our review identified effective controls in place for the governing body, with good record 

keeping i.e. detailed minutes and supporting paperwork, annual declarations of interests 

completed and statutory committees have up-to-date terms of references. The governing 

body are arranging a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check for the clerk to ensure 

everyone has a DBS in place. Although the governing body perform informal skills set 

analysis, a formal record is beneficial in recording any areas where further training and 

development is required. 

The chair and the clerk have completed appropriate training for their roles; however, not all 

governors have completed the mandatory training. 

Governing body meetings are now held virtually, which has proven successful. All 

supporting documents, including agendas and minutes are accessible in advance of 

meetings on SharePoint for governors. The school has continued to review the School 

Development Plan. Regular monitoring of the budget is performed; including annual 

Page 187



 

 

 

 
8 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

reviews of financial limits, staffing costs and the school’s financial position. The school’s 

financial position has changed from having a deficit to a surplus balance as a result 

additional grants received from Welsh Government due to Covid-19. The school is working 

with the School Funding Team to monitor the budget and prevent a future deficit balance. 

All statutory policies are reviewed annually and accessible to staff and governors in 

electronic and paper format and available to parents on the school’s website. Financial 

controls are effective for monitoring of income and expenditure. The school uses corporate 

systems for processing income, purchasing and invoicing including purchasing card and 

petty cash transactions. There is appropriate separation of duty in place and regular 

reconciliations being performed. School fund certificates are audited annually and are up 

to date. 

There are good security controls in place at the school, including CCTV camera installed, 

regular fire drills performed, and all visitors are required to ‘sign in’ when visiting the 

school. Fire safety and health and safety assessments are also in place. ICT security 

arrangements appear to be effective; staff have individual usernames and passwords and 

all external devices are encrypted and password protected. The school maintain an asset 

register for all ICT equipment purchased. 

Corporate carbon targets have been agreed to help the council become a Net Carbon 

Zero and Ecologically Positive Council and to reduce carbon emissions by 2030, which 

include purchasing of goods and services in the council’s supply chain. However, the 

governing body was not aware of the agreed targets. Audit Wales’ recent review of climate 

change within the council highlighted a lack of awareness of the agreed targets within 

schools. We confirmed that actions are already in the process of being implemented. 

Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Implementation – February 2022 

High Assurance      Number of Risk Issues:   0 

This was an early-stage review to provide assurance that the Council is effectively 

implementing the Code and statutory guidance in line with the Additional Learning Needs and 

Page 188



 

 

 

 
9 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Education Tribunal (ALNET) (Wales) Act 2018. The scope covered: roles and responsibilities, 

program delivery, training and engagement, systems and record-keeping and funding. 

At the time of our review, the ALN service was at an early stage in implementing a new system 

as part of the new Act. It was evident that the Service has been proactive in preparing for 

implementation in September 2021, and continues to put in place measures to comply with the 

Act. Due to the delay with the roll-out of clear guidance nationally, the Service has 

endeavoured to ensure that it complies with the Act through regular engagement with Legal 

and documenting the rationale and information available at the time for key decisions taken. 

An action plan has been developed to monitor performance across the various workstreams, 

which is regularly monitored within the Service. 

Dedicated resources are in place within the Service, and there are designated leads for each 

workstream, e.g. Pupil Referral Unit, Looked After Children, etc. Local authorities are working 

regionally with the aim of adopting a consistent approach to ALN, and the Service has been 

engaged as part of this process and with the relevant delivery partners such as the Designated 

Education Clinical Lead Officer (DECLO), responsible for co-ordinating the local health board’s 

functions in relation to children and young people with ALN. 

The Council and schools have been supported by the ALN Regional Transformation Lead for 

North Wales who has provided self-assessments to prepare for implementation along with 

advice and templates. She acts as a conduit between WG and local authorities and other 

delivery partners. Training and engagement with schools has been extensive, and schools 

have been collaboratively working in clusters to prepare for the Act. There has also been 

engagement with elected members on progress at Performance Scrutiny Committee in June 

2021 with a further update due to be provided in Spring 2022. 

A feasibility study was undertaken at an early stage, which confirmed that a new record-

keeping system would need to be procured to comply with the Act and be Welsh Language 

compliant. The system was jointly tendered with three other North Wales councils with ICT and 

procurement having significant involvement. While we were able to locate a signed copy of the 

contract with the system provider, it is not retained on the Proactis procurement system 

(corporate contract register). An issue has been previously raised in our Contract Management 

review to address this corporately. 

Page 189



 

 

 

 
10 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

The ALN Regional Transformation Grant is the main funding stream provided by WG to assist 

with implementation of the Act by both the Council and schools. Action plans have been 

developed and approved by the ALN Regional Transformation Team and WG and are 

reviewed before funding is provided.  

Our review did highlight some measures that need to be developed or clarified further, e.g. 

ALN strategy, provision mapping, data retention periods, etc., which have been discussed with 

the relevant officers. We recognise that the Service has been working under some pressure to 

deliver current priorities, and it is aware of the further work required. While we carried out our 

review at an early stage of implementation, the Service is progressing well and, therefore, we 

provide a High Assurance rating. 

Housing Repairs & Maintenance – March 2022 

Medium Assurance     Number of Risk Issues:  1 Major  3 Moderate  

The repairs and maintenance team has responded well to the challenges it has faced over 

the last eighteen months. The Covid-19 pandemic resulted in the suspension of non-

emergency repair work during the first two lockdown periods. The service took proactive 

steps to ensure tenants were kept informed of the Covid-19 recovery phases and 

implemented revised guidance for operatives and call centre staff including detailed 

procedural controls and guidance for the categorisation of repairs and associated 

response times. The most recent Survey of Tenants and Residents (STAR survey) 

conducted in December 2020, during the third lockdown, presents a mixed view of the 

repairs and maintenance service. While overall satisfaction ratings declined from the 2019 

survey (89% to 71%), individual satisfaction scores of 90% and 81% were given to 

“attitude of staff” and “quality of repair” respectively. This year’s STAR survey is underway.  

There were a number of examples of good practice found including:  

 The proactive revision of procedural guidance during the Covid pandemic;  

 The implementation of additional controls to address the deficiencies with OH;  

 Counter fraud controls restricting user access to amend tenant accounts.  

Page 190



 

 

 

 
11 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

 Where issues were identified during our review, the service was already aware and 

considering or taking action to address them.  

The implementation of the Open Housing system (OH) for repairs and maintenance has 

proved to be extremely challenging. Functionality has not met expectations and its 

implementation has not delivered the outcomes originally sought. Inaccurate and 

unreliable data, caused by both system and user error have resulted in significant officer 

time being diverted to correcting and devising alternative controls to provide accurate 

information.  

The broader strategic aim of modernising the service and delivering efficiencies has not 

been fully met. The outstanding resolution of the current nine-day fortnight working pattern 

for operatives has impeded the modernisation of the service, specifically reducing reliance 

on contractors for responsive and void repairs.  

The magnitude, and often specialist nature, of the void work done by external contractors 

necessitates longer completion time. However, sample testing indicated that contractors 

were frequently taking longer than targeted to complete repairs.  

Compliance with the Contract Procurement Rules is essential. This issue was raised in a 

recent Internal Audit review of Exceptions and Variations from the CPRs. It is important 

that the service can demonstrate robust benchmarking in its procurement decision making. 

In particular, the impending expiry of a large service contract, with the same contractor 

since 2013, will require a rigorous and transparent assessment of both value for money 

and quality of service.  

Currently, there is no formal inspection process to ensure repairs are carried out safely 

and to the expected standard. This also applies to repairs and/or alterations which tenants 

carry out themselves. The latter posing a greater potential risk particularly given restricted 

access to properties during the Covid-19 pandemic.  

The tenant’s handbook currently sets out the repairs for which the tenant will be charged. 

However, these recharges are not being actively pursued. Similarly, there is no process for 

charging former tenants for repair work done as a result of damage or clearance required 

Page 191



 

 

 

 
12 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

at the end of the tenancy. To date, there has been no assessment of potential lost revenue 

from rechargeable repairs.  

We are providing a medium assurance opinion. However, given that we raise a major risk 

issue in relation to the OH system, we plan to conduct a follow up review to assess the 

extent of progress with OH and the results of the current Survey of Tenants and Residents 

(STAR survey).  

Accommodation Provision for the Homeless Follow Up – November 2021 

Low Assurance     Actions fully implemented:     6 (4 Major and 2 Moderate) 

    Actions outstanding:  10 (6 Major and 4 Moderate) 

    Actions not yet due:     2 (2 Moderate) 

At the Governance & Audit Committee meeting in January 2021, members referred the 

follow-up of agreed actions arising from the ‘Accommodation Provision for the Homeless’ 

report to Partnership Scrutiny Committee. An update was presented to Partnership 

Scrutiny committee on 16 December 2021 and its members requested a further update to 

monitor progress in completing the action plan. This summary is provided to Governance 

& Audit Committee for information purposes. 

The original review of ‘Accommodation Provision for the Homeless’ was completed in 

March 2020 giving a low assurance rating because of the number of risks/issues raised.  

The council is taking a more strategic and corporate approach to homelessness. A number 

of departments are involved in this, and relevant heads of service and the Chief Executive 

attend a cross-service management team. There is also the Strategic Housing and 

Homelessness Group (SHHG) attended by the relevant heads of service and several 

Cabinet lead members.  

Strategically, good progress is being made with improved corporate steer enabling better 

engagement amongst services to help those impacted by homelessness. The co-ordinated 

approach by the cross-service management team is pursuing alternative options to 

minimise the use of emergency and temporary accommodation. This includes accessing 

Page 192



 

 

 

 
13 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Welsh Government funding to purchase a property to provide emergency family 

accommodation. Some of these additional in-house accommodation solutions will take 

time to deliver, various other options are also being pursued in consultation with elected 

members.  

Operationally, the Homelessness Prevention Service is mainly responsible with 

Community Housing responsible for managing the leased accommodation.  

The demand for emergency and temporary accommodation has since increased due to 

the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly with single under-35 year olds. 

Consequently, this has increased workload and service demands on the Homelessness 

Prevention Service, and staff vacancies continue to have an impact. Another staffing 

restructure has been implemented, this time to comply with WG’s rapid rehousing model, 

to provide an early prevention and holistic approach through a multi-disciplinary team. 

Several new members of staff have received training although a number of existing 

vacancies remain and has affected continuity. 

Sample testing shows some improvements in record-keeping, however, diary notes are 

not always kept up-to-date, and housing plans are not always in place. There is limited 

documented guidance, and while some quality assurance checks were initially put in 

place, these have now stopped since the administrator has left their post. Due to the 

additional demands on the service and increased caseloads, independent caseload 

reviews have not been possible as yet.  

Management of the responsibility for leased accommodation has transferred to Community 

Housing, and the service level agreement was being finalised at the conclusion of our 

review. An accommodation officer has recently been recruited to fill a vacant post resulting 

from the restructure. They will be responsible for carrying out checks to ensure that the 

correct documentation is in place, e.g. gas and electrical safety certificates, etc.  

Following our review, the low assurance rating remains for now as there has yet to be 

sufficient progress with some of the actions resulting from major risks/issues.  

  

Page 193



 

 

 

 
14 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Progress in Delivering the Internal Audit Assurance  

The reporting lines for the Internal Audit team have temporarily changed due to imminent 

retirement of the Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation at the end of March 

2022. The role of the Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation has been divided in 

two to be managed by two existing managers from the service as Section Heads. Nicola 

Kneale has been appointed as the Section Head with responsibility for the improvement 

team, community development, programme office, internal audit, climate change 

programme and street naming and numbering. Interim leadership to the two Section 

Heads will be provided by Liz Grieve, Head of Customers & Marketing, acting as the link 

with Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and Corporate Executive Team (CET).  

This arrangement is for the interim period while the Chief Executive undertakes a wider 

restructure of the Senior Leader Team, which is due to be completed by the Autumn 2022. 

The Internal Audit Charter will be updated to reflect the change in reporting lines, which 

will be presented to the Governance & Audit Committee at its next meeting in June 2022 

along with the Audit Strategy 2022-23. 

The Internal Audit service continues to carry one vacancy; however, a new Principal 

Auditor position has been created to replace one of the Senior Auditor posts to provide 

support to the Chief Internal Auditor and undertake day-to-day operational oversight and 

steer of the team. This new role also acts as a deputy to the Chief Internal Auditor in the 

event of her absence. As to avoid the risk of a redundancy situation, expressions of 

interest were sought from the existing team and one of our Senior Auditors, Bob 

Chowdhury, has been appointed to the role. He will re-join the team at the start of April 

2022 after working nearly two years leading the Test, Trace & Protect Team.  

After nearly five years in the role, the Chief Internal Auditor will be leaving the Council on 

the 4 April 2022. Meetings with the Principal Auditor, as her deputy, and new Section 

Head have been arranged before her departure to ensure continuity of service until a 

replacement CIA is appointed. Once the role is filled, the Internal Audit team will be back 

to full complement. 

Page 194



 

 

 

 
15 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Due to the vacancy during the year, the Internal Audit service has prioritised its audits to 

focus on areas of greater priority. A majority of the Audit Plan 2021-22 has either been 

completed or is underway. A couple of audits have needed to be postponed due to 

legislative delays or other accepted factors, and a few audits are no longer required due to 

assurance provided by the council’s external regulators. The table on the next page 

provides an update on progress against the Audit Plan for 2021/22.  

Based on the current trajectory, the Chief Internal Auditor is satisfied that internal audit will 

have provided adequate coverage of corporate risks and services areas, together with 

assurances gained from elsewhere e.g. Audit Wales, to enable the Internal Audit Annual 

Report 2021-22 to provide assurance without any limitations. 

Audits due to commence shortly include: 

 Commercial Waste 

 Families First 

 Community Safety Partnership 

 Health & Wellbeing  

Page 195



 

 

 

 
16 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Area of work Current 
status 

Assurance 
level 

Critical 
issues 

Major 
issues 

Moderate 
issues 

Comment 

AONB Grant 2020/21 Complete High  0 0 1 Annual 
accounts audit 

Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards 

Not yet 
started 

- - - - 2021-22. 
Welsh 
Government 
guidance 
delayed 

Pupil Improvement Grant No 
longer 
required 

- - - - Grant 
certification by 
the S151 
Officer. 

Recruitment & Retention Complete High  0 0 2  

School Audit: Ysgol Bro 
Cinmeirch 

Complete Medium  0 0 5  

Housing Support Grant 
2020-21 

Complete High  0 0 0  

Project Management: 
SC2 

Complete Medium   1 2  

Rhuddlan Town Council 
2020-21 

Complete N/a N/a N/a N/a External fee 
earning work 

National Fraud Initiative Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a 2020-21 
exercise 

Revenues & Benefits 
2020/21 

Complete High  0 0 0  

Capital Management Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Treasury Management Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Financial Services 
2020/21: 

- Accounts 
Payable 

- Payroll 

Complete High  0 0 1  

Community Living 
Schemes 

Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Data Protection & 
Freedom of Information 

Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Governance & Contract 
Arrangements with 
Denbighshire Leisure 
Limited 

Complete Medium  0 1 1  

Page 196



 

 

 

 
17 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Area of work Current 
status 

Assurance 
level 

Critical 
issues 

Major 
issues 

Moderate 
issues 

Comment 

ICT Capacity & 
Resilience 

Complete Medium  0 0 4  

Risk Management Complete High  0 0 5  

Governance – Decision 
Making 

Complete Medium  - - -  

Exemptions, Exceptions 
& Variations from CPRs 

Complete Low  0 4 0  

Housing Rent Arrears Complete High  0 0 1  

Housing Repairs & 
Maintenance 

Complete Medium  - - -  

Equalities Draft - - - -  

Rhyl High School Complete High  - - -  

Ysgol Brynhyfryd Draft - - - -  

Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) Code 
Implementation 

Complete High  0 0 0  

Financial Services 2021-
22 

Fieldwork - - - -  

Revenues & Benefits 
2021-22 

Draft - - - -  

Cefndy Healthcare Not 
started 

- - - - Deferred to Q1 
2022/23 

Highways Improvements Scoping - - - -  

Health & Wellbeing Scoping - - - -  

Commercial Waste Scoping - - - -  

Families First Scoping - - - - Review of 
grant to 

replace review 
of Adoption 

Service 

Community Safety 
Partnership 

Scoping - - - -  

Direct Payments for 
Children 1st follow up 

Complete Medium  - - -  

Project Management: 
Queen’s Building 1st 
follow up 

Complete Medium  - - -  

Page 197



 

 

 

 
18 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Area of work Current 
status 

Assurance 
level 

Critical 
issues 

Major 
issues 

Moderate 
issues 

Comment 

Contract Management 1st 
Follow Up 

Complete Low  - - -  

Contract Management 
2nd Follow Up 

Complete Low  - - -  

Support Budgets & 
Direct Payments: Adults 
1st Follow Up 

Complete Medium  - - -  

Support Budgets & 
Direct Payments: Adults 
2nd Follow Up 

Fieldwork - - - -  

Provision of Homeless 
Accommodation 1st 
Follow Up 

Complete Low  - - - Partnership 
Scrutiny in 
December 

2021 

Housing Tenancy 2nd 
Follow Up 

Complete Medium  - - -  

PCI-DSS 2nd Follow Up Complete Medium  - - -  

General Fraud Enquiries Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Whistleblowing 
Investigation 

Fieldwork N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Follow up audits Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

School fund audits Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Corporate Governance 
Framework 

Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Corporate Working 
Groups 

Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Consultancy & Corporate 
Areas 

- UK Community 
Renewal Fund 

- GAC Lay Member 
vacancies 

- Counter Fraud 
Strategy & Plan 

Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Team Meetings /1:1s Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Management Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Training & Development Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

 

Page 198



 

 

 

 
19 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

A few audits included in the Audit Plan 2021-22 are no longer required as alternative 

assurances are available which internal audit can use or other key factors have arisen 

which require the review to be put on hold temporarily: 

- Wellbeing Impact Assessments - reviewed by Audit Wales as part of its national 

studies programme. Also, coverage in Internal Audit of Equalities. 

- Workforce Planning – reviewed by Audit Wales as part of Springing Forward 

performance audit 

- Property Management - reviewed by Audit Wales as part of Springing Forward 

performance audit 

- Liberty Safeguards – national review by CIW & HIW. New Liberty Protection 

Safeguards (LPS) legislation will be replacing DoLS, these changes have been 

postponed to April 2022. Include in 2022-23 Audit Strategy. 

- Adoption Service – on hold due to coordinating the review with Wrexham CBC 

Internal Audit Services as the host authority for North Wales Adoption Service. 

  

Page 199



 

 

 

 
20 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Progress with Counter Fraud Work 

Counter fraud work carried out since the last internal audit update includes: 

1. Providing advice on counter fraud to officers on request. This has included the 

emergency Covid-19 related grants for businesses and setting up of the Levelling 

Up Fund processes. 

2. National Fraud Initiative (NFI) update - Data matches for the 2020-21 exercise. 

Internal Audit plans has reviewed the additional Covid-19 related business rates 

grants data matches as part of the Revenues & Benefits audit. No fraudulent 

matches were found; however, the service’s own checking measures have 

identified potential fraudulent which they were able to mitigate. 

3. Assist Education Support with ensuring that schools continue to complete school 

fund certificates promptly.  

4. The Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud, Corruption and Bribery and 

Fraud Response Plan was endorsed by Cabinet in September 2021. This will now 

available on the Council’s website. E-learning is being developed to advise staff on 

what to do should they suspect fraud.  

5. A template Counter Fraud Policy and procedural guidance is being drafted for 

schools with training being arranged in conjunction with Education Support. 

6. Alerts from the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) reviewed with the relevant 

service and response taken accordingly. 

7. Responding to Whistleblowing concerns which involve allegations of potential fraud. 

This involved an investigation to concerns raised by an employee and concluded 

that no fraud had taken place. 

8. Attending the newly formed North & Mid Wales Audit Partnership sub-group 

focusing on taking action to address the matters raised in the Audit Wales report 

‘Raising Our Game – Tackling Fraud in Wales’ 

https://www.audit.wales/publication/raising-our-game-tackling-fraud-wales  

9. Senior Auditor has passed the CIPFA Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist training. 

Page 200

https://www.audit.wales/publication/raising-our-game-tackling-fraud-wales


 

 

 

 
21 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Referrals 2021/22 

While it is not Internal Audit’s role to identify or investigate fraud, as this responsibility rests 

with management, Internal Audit keeps abreast of potential fraud from a view of ensuring 

that any governance, risk management or control weaknesses are addressed in line with 

Financial Regulations and the Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud, Bribery 

& Corruption.  

Three allegations relating to potential fraud have been referred to Internal Audit during the 

financial year 2021/22: all three investigations have been concluded. The outcome the 

investigations involved disciplinary action, one employee dismissed, and 

recommendations for internal controls to be put in place or strengthened. 

Whistleblowing concerns are reported separately to Committee as part of the Annual 

Whistleblowing Report but are detailed above should there be an element relating to 

potential fraud.   

Page 201



 

 

 

 
22 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Internal Audit Performance Standards 

The table below shows Internal Audit’s performance to date for 2021/22.  

Performance Measure Target Current 
Performance 

Send a scoping document before the start of 
every audit 

100% 100% 

Issue draft report within 10 days of the closing 
meeting 

Average days less 
than 10 

5.7 days 

Issue final report within 5 days after agreeing 
the draft report and action plan 

Average days less 
than 5 

3.8 day 

Percentage of audit agreed actions that have 
been implemented by services 

75% 53% 

The audit agreed actions that have been implemented figure is lower than expected at this 

time of year as certain services continue to prioritise resources on responding to the 

pandemic and other pressures.  

Internal Audit are prioritising the completion of assurance work and continue to follow up 

previous reviews awarded a low assurance to ensure that necessary improvements are 

being made. While many actions are taking longer to resolve than originally envisaged by 

services, we are satisfied that progress is still being made to implement the requisite 

change.  

  

Page 202



 

 

 

 
23 

Internal Audit Update – March 2022  

Appendix 1 – Assurance Level Definition 

Assurance Level Definition Management Intervention 

High Assurance  Risks and controls well 

managed and objectives 

being achieved 

Minimal action required, easily 

addressed by line management 

Medium Assurance  Minor weaknesses in 

management of risks and/or 

controls but no risk to 

achievement of objectives. 

Management action required 

and containable at service level. 

Senior management and SLT 

may need to be kept informed. 

Low Assurance  Significant weaknesses in 

management of risks and/or 

controls that put achievement 

of objectives at risk. 

Management action required 

with intervention by SLT. 

No Assurance  Fundamental weaknesses in 

management of risks and/or 

controls that will lead to 

failure to achieve objectives. 

Significant action required in a 

number of areas. Required 

immediate attention from SLT. 

 

Risk Issue Category Definition 

Critical  Significant issues to be brought to the attention of SLT, Cabinet 

Lead Members and Governance and Audit Committee. 

Major  Corporate, strategic and/or cross-service issues potentially 

requiring wider discussion at SLT. 

Moderate  Operational issues that are containable at service level. 

 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Governance and Audit Committee 

Date of meeting 16 March 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Cllr Huw Hilditch-Roberts /Ann Lloyd – Community Support 

Services 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove, Chief Internal Auditor and Kevin Roberts, 

Statutory and Corporate Complaints Officer 

Title Annual Complaints Report 2020-21 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report aims to provide assurance on the complaints handling process. The 

report also highlights the number of complaints received by the Council and the 

Public Services Ombudsman Wales (PSOW) during 2020-21. In order to meet 

the needs and concerns of members of the public, monitoring of complaints is a 

valuable resource to aid continuous improvement of services. Complaints are 

taken seriously and offer valuable customer insight. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. The monitoring of complaints handling process forms part of the Terms of 

Reference of the Governance and Audit Committee in keeping with the 

requirements of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

Performance scrutiny reviews complaints performance through a different lens 

to Governance and Audit Committee, the former considers performance in more 

detail, whereas the latter seeks assurance on whether the council has an 

effective complaints handling process. The annual PSOW letter goes to Cabinet 

at the request of the Ombudsman. 

Page 205

Agenda Item 10



 
 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. The committee considers the contents of the report regarding the process and 

performance of the council’s complaints handling and agrees whether further 

information is required to assure itself that the council has robust system in 

place for dealing with customer complaints. 

4. Report details 

4.1. In May 2021, the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 introduced 

a requirement for Governance and Audit Committee to: make reports and 

recommendations in relation to the council’s ability to handle complaints 

effectively. This is the first report to the committee and provides an overview of 

how the council manages complaints and the annual report on the council’s 

performance in 2020/21. This information is used in the development of the 

Annual Governance Statement. 

4.2. The Ombudsman’s Principles of Good Administration and Good Records 

Management focus on six principles:  

 Getting it right: In accordance with the law and authority’s policy and 

guidance. Providing appropriately trained and competent staff  

 Being customer focused: ensuring people can access services easily. 

Informing customers what they can expect. Responding to customers’ needs 

flexibly, including, where appropriate, coordinating a response from other 

service areas  

 Being open and accountable: Be clear about policies and procedures, 

provide clear and accurate advice. Taking responsibility  

 Acting fairly and proportionately: Treat people with respect and courtesy 

without unlawful discrimination, ensuring no conflict of interests  

 Putting things right: Acknowledge mistakes and apologise. Put things right 

quickly and effectively with information on how to appeal  

 Seeking continuous improvement: Review policies and procedures regularly 

to ensure they remain effective. Asking and utilising feedback to improve 

services and improvement  

Page 206



 
 

4.3. The new powers created under the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 

2019 include.  

 accepting complaints verbally, not just in writing  

 investigating complaint handling when a patient’s National Health Service 

(NHS) care is inextricably linked with private healthcare  

 the ability to undertake ‘own initiative’ investigations when the Ombudsman 

considers them to be in the public interest  

 gathering complaints data from public services in Wales on a quarterly basis 

(Complaints Only) 

4.4. Appendix 1, report provides a summary of the council’s complaints handling 

process and information on the number of Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints 

received, response times, number of compliments received. Key matters 

highlighted by the PSOW in its letter to the council is shown in Appendix 2. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. No decision required. Effective complaints handling arrangements contributes to 

the council’s aim of being an excellent council, close to the community. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. Any costs relating to complaints handling are accommodated for within existing 

budgets. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. Not applicable as this is an information item. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. Reporting to Senior Leadership Team and Performance Scrutiny Committee. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. There are no obvious financial implications arising from the report. 

Page 207



 
 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. By not dealing with complaints effectively, the reputation of the council could be 

impacted negatively. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. Not applicable, no decision associated with this report. 

Page 208



Page | 1 

 

Appendix 1   
Annual Complaints Report 2020-21 
 

1. The key stages for handling a complaint made to the council are described below. 

1.1. Stage 1 informal: these are dealt with by the relevant service areas. When a 

complaint spans several different service areas, the complaints officer 

coordinates the handling of the complaints and provides a single, substantive 

response. All Stage 1 complaints should be responded to within 10 working 

days. If additional time is required, the council will contact the complainant to 

explain why and inform then when they can expect a response. Details of the 

number of Stage 1 complaints received in 2020-21 and response times are 

shown in Table 1 and Chart 2. 

1.2. Stage 2 formal: If a complainant is dissatisfied with the outcome of a Stage 1 

complaint, they can escalate the complaint to Stage 2. The matter will be 

generally investigated by Head of Service responsible but could also be 

passed to another Head of Service for response when appropriate. This stage 

requires a more detailed investigation which can take up to 20 working days. 

If additional time is needed, the council will contact the complainant to let 

them know and to explain when they can expect a response. The 

investigation involves a review of all relevant correspondence and often 

incorporates separate discussions with both the complainant and relevant 

officers from the service department(s) concerned. Complainants who remain 

unhappy with the outcome of the Stage 2 investigation can refer their 

complaint to the PSOW. Details of the number of Stage 2 complaints received 

in 2020-21 and response times are shown in Table 2 and Chart 2. 

2. The PSOW publishes the annual letters to all Councils on its website. The letter 

highlights activities undertaken by the Ombudsman’s office during the year and 

the Council’s performance (see Appendix 2 for a copy of the Ombudsman’s 

letter). The Council submits quarterly returns of complaints data to the 

Ombudsman’s office, which inform elements of this report.  

3. The council takes complaints seriously and attempts to learn from any mistakes. 

Senior Management considers a summary of complaints quarterly and the 

Page 213



Page | 2 

 

Performance Scrutiny Committee also considers the council’s response to 

complaints. Key outcomes and lessons learned are summarised in Appendix 1. 

4. Within the C360 database, specifically for complaints, there is a section where 

Lessons Learned would be recorded. Especially in the case of complaints upheld 

it follows the request of the Ombudsman to quantify service improvements. This is 

part of the complaints process that can be improved across the authority. 

5. Further to 1.1 and 1.2 Service Departments would be able to improve their 

performance in relation to complaint responses by utilising the extension facility 

within the Complaints Policy. 

6. Details of the number of compliments received are shown in Table 3 and Chart 4 

 
  

Page 214



Page | 3 

 

Your Voice information 
 

Your Voice reporting periods 

 
The following periods are used for reporting data: 
 

Quarter 1: 1-Apr to 30-Jun 
Quarter 2: 1-Jul to 30-Sep 
Quarter 3: 1-Oct to 31-Dec 
Quarter 4: 1-Jan to 31-Mar 

 

Complaint response timescales 

 

The ‘Your Voice’ feedback policy states that the following timescales should be 
adhered to when responding to complaints: 
 

Stage 1: 10 working days 
Stage 2: 20 working days 
 

Please note: Community Support Services and Children and Family Services 
complaints usually follow statutory timescales. 
 

Your Voice performance measures 
 
A traffic light system is used to highlight performance in relation to response 
timescales to complaints. Performance is rated according to:  
 

Red 
 

less than 90% of complaints responded to within timescale 

Amber when more than 90% but less than 95% of complaints are 
responded to within timescale 

Green 95% or more of complaints responded to within timescale 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         

Page 215



Page | 4 

 

Table 1: Overall complaint response times for stage 1 complaints – Q4 2020/21 

 
 
Chart 1: Stage 1 complaint response times  

 

 
 

 

 

Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within %

Business Improvement & 

Modernisation 0 0 - 0 0 - 0 0 - - 0 0 -

Legal, HR and Democratic 

Services 0 0 - 0 0 - 1 1 100% 1 1 100% 2 2 100%

Customers, Communication 

and Marketing 1 1 100% 7 7 100% 1 1 100% 1 1 100% 10 10 100%

Finance - including Revs and 

Bens (Civica) 7 7 100% 5 5 100% 10 10 100% 7 7 100% 29 29 100%

Highways, Facilities and 

Environmental Services 35 35 100% 43 43 100% 37 37 100% 35 35 100% 150 150 100%

Planning, Public Protection 

and Countryside 3 3 100% 6 6 100% 18 17 94% 3 3 100% 30 29 97%
Community Support 

Services 2 2 100% 3 3 100% 2 2 100% 0 0 - 7 7 100%

Education and Childrens 

Services 1 1 100% 5 5 100% 3 3 100% 0 0 - 9 9 100%

Corporate Total 49 49 100% 69 69 100% 72 71 99% 47 47 100% 237 236 99%

Service

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total Stage 1

100% 100% 100% 100%

98%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

99%

100%

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%

97%

98%

99%

100%

Timescale performance
stage 1

Target 95% -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 216



Page | 5 

 

Table 2:  Overall complaint response times for stage 2 complaints – Q4 20/21 

 
 

Chart 2: Stage 2 complaint response times  

 

 

 

 

  

Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within % Rec'd Within %

Business Improvement & 

Modernisation 0 0 - 0 0 - 0 0 - - 0 0 -

Legal, HR and Democratic 

Services 0 0 - 0 0 - 1 1 - - 1 1 100%

Customers, Communication 

and Marketing 0 0 - 0 0 - 2 2 - 1 1 100% 3 3 100%
Finance - including Revs and 

Bens (Civica) 1 1 100% 0 0 - 0 0 - 1 1 100% 2 2 100%

Highways, Facilities and 

Environmental Services 4 4 100% 1 1 100% 1 1 100% 1 1 100% 7 7 100%

Planning, Public Protection 

and Countryside 1 1 100% 0 0 - 3 1 33% 2 2 100% 6 4 67%

Community Support 

Services 0 0 - 1 1 100% 2 2 100% 0 0 - 3 3 100%
Education and Childrens 

Services 1 1 100% 0 0 - 1 1 100% 1 1 100% 3 3 100%

Corporate Total 7 7 100% 2 2 100% 10 8 80% 6 6 100% 25 23 92%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Service

Total Stage 2

100%

89%

100% 100% 100%

92%

100% 100% 100% 100%

80%

100%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 18/19Q2 18/19Q3 18/19Q4 18/19Q1 19/20Q2 19/20Q3 19/20Q4 19/20Q1 20/21Q2 20/21Q3 20/21Q4 20/21

Timescale performance
stage 2

Target 95% ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 217



Page | 6 

 

Chart 3: Total number of Stage 1 complaints received  

 

 
 

Table 3:  Compliments received during 2020/21 

 

Compliments 
2020/21           

Service Area Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
  

Total 

Business 
Improvement and 
Modernisation 

   1           1 

Legal HR and 
Democratic 
Services 

1       1 

Customers, 
Communication 
and Marketing 

19  24  19  20 82 

Finance and 
Property (Inc Revs 
and Bens) 

1  2 3    6 

Education and 
Children’s Services 

19  13  14 35  81 

Highways Facilities 
and Environmental 
Services 

54  48  41  45 188 

Planning, Public 
Protection and 
Countryside 

2  6 2   2 12 

Community 
Support Services 

39 38  27  28 132 

  
      
       
135 

  
 
132 

  
 
106 

 
 
130 

  

 
503 

        

76

88

103

70
64 61 58

79

49

69 72

47

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Q1
18/19

Q2
18/19

Q3
18/19

Q4
18/19

Q1
19/20

Q2
19/20

Q3
19/20

Q4
19/20

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

Q4
20/21

Total number of complaints received

Page 218



Page | 7 

 

 

Chart 4: Compliments received  

 
 
Example Compliment  - Community Support Services 
 
to: Sophie Vaughan. 
 
Hi Sophie I'm not sure if you are off for Christmas or not yet, but my wife and I have 
finally been able to get home.  This has been a tough year and especially so for 
mum, but I have seen the work your team has done and I am very grateful.  Mum 
continues to struggle with the stairs. Less so due to the new rail etc, naturally. A 
discussion over what more we can do might be worth a visit but that's not my point 
tonight.  My point tonight is that whilst I am sure you and your team are well 
accustomed to delivering this work, most of us are not accustomed to being in a 
position of needing it.  On behalf of my family can I please thank you unreservedly for 
your help at this time and ask you extend our thanks to the team for helping a 
dignified lady retain that dignity that bit longer.  Your continued support is invaluable 
and we also wish you and your team a very happy seasons greetings.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

127

197

147

121

139

96

135 132

106

130

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Q1 19/20 Q2 19/20 Q3 19/20 Q4 19/20 Q1 20/21 Q2 20/21 Q3 20/21 Q4 20/21

Compliments received

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Page 1 of 9 
 

  
 

 
RRRRRRRR 

  Ask for: Communications 

          01656 641150 

Date: 
  

September 2021       communications@ombudsman.wales 

 
Cllr. Hugh Evans 
Denbighshire County Council 
 
By Email only: hugh.evans@debighshire.gov.uk 
 
Annual Letter 2020/21 
 
Dear Councillor Evans 
 
I am pleased to provide you with the Annual letter (2020/21) for Denbighshire 
County Council. 
 
This letter discusses information from a year unlike any other in recent memory, 
and as such may not be useful for establishing trends or patterns.  Information 
received during this remarkable year will, however, bring insights on how public 
services reacted in the face of unprecedented demand and the most difficult of 
circumstances. 
 
During the past financial year, we have intervened in (upheld, settled or resolved 
at an early stage) the same proportion of complaints about public bodies, 20%, 
compared with 2019/20.  
 
Regarding new complaints received relating to Local Authorities, the overall 
number decreased by 12.5% compared with last year.  This reflects the reduction 
in complaints being reported by Local Authorities during the Covid-19 pandemic.  
My office intervened in a similar proportion of the cases closed as in the previous 
year (13%). 
  
However, we referred a higher proportion of Code of Conduct complaints to a 
Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales: 3.4% compared to 2% 
in the previous year.  This higher referral rate was also accompanied by a sharp 
increase in the number of Code of Conduct complaints received. 
 
During 2020/21, despite challenges caused by the pandemic, my office made 
great strides in progressing work related to Complaints Standards and Own 
Initiative Investigations. The theme and consultation period of the first wider Own 

Page 221



Page 2 of 9 
 

Initiative Investigation – into Local Authority Homelessness Assessments - was 
launched in September 2020 and the report is due in the coming months.  We 
also commenced 4 extended Own Initiative Investigations, where we extended 
the scope of our work on a complaint already under investigation. 
 
Last year, my office also pushed ahead with two new publications – ‘Our 
Findings’ and our first Equality Report. 
 
‘Our Findings’ will be accessed via the PSOW website and replaces the quarterly 
casebooks.  Our Findings will be updated more frequently and will be a more 
useful tool in sharing the outcomes of investigations.  Our first Equality Report 
highlights the work done to improve equality and diversity, and to ensure that our 
service is available to people from all parts of society. 
 
Local Authorities in Wales continued to submit data about the complaints they 
handled to the Complaints Standards Authority (CSA) during 2020/21, as well as 
receiving a model complaints procedure and accessing 76 virtual training 
sessions.  
 
The data submitted for 2020/2021 shows:  
 

• Nearly 12,000 complaints were recorded by Local Authorities 
• This equates to 3.77 for every 1000 residents.  
• Nearly half (44%) of those complaints were upheld. 
• About 75% were investigated within 20 working days.  
• About 9% of all complaints closed were referred to PSOW.  

 
The CSA will publish data to the PSOW website for the first time in the coming 
year, marking a key achievement in the progress of this work. Training sessions 
have been delivered to almost all Local Authorities in Wales, and our offer of 
training remains open ended and will be delivered free of charge. 
 
A summary of the complaints of maladministration/service failure received 
relating to your Council is attached.  
 
Also attached is a summary of the Code of Conduct complaints relating to 
members of the Council and to the Town & Community Councils in your area. 
 
I ask that the Council takes the following actions:  
 
• Present my Annual Letter to the Cabinet to assist members in their scrutiny of 
the Council’s complaints performance and any actions to be taken as a result.  
• Engage with my Complaints Standards work, accessing training for your staff 
and providing complaints data.  
• Inform me of the outcome of the Council’s considerations and proposed actions 
on the above matters by 15 November.  

Page 222



Page 3 of 9 
 

This correspondence is copied to the Chief Executive of your Council and to your 
Contact Officer. Finally, a copy of all Annual Letters will be published on my 
website.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
 
Nick Bennett  
Ombudsman 
 
cc.Judith Greenhalgh, Chief Executive, Denbighshire County Council 
By Email only: judith.greenhalgh@denbighshire.gov.uk 
  

Page 223



 

 
 

Page 4 of 9 
 

  
 

Factsheet 
 
 

Appendix A - Complaints Received 
 

Local Authority Complaints 
Received 

Received 
per 1000 
residents 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 15 0.21 
Bridgend County Borough Council 31 0.21 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 46 0.25 
Cardiff Council* 96 0.26 
Carmarthenshire County Council 27 0.14 
Ceredigion County Council 32 0.44 
Conwy County Borough Council 32 0.27 
Denbighshire County Council 32 0.33 
Flintshire County Council 59 0.38 
Gwynedd Council 30 0.24 
Isle of Anglesey County Council 18 0.26 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 15 0.25 
Monmouthshire County Council 20 0.21 
Neath Port Talbot Council 19 0.13 
Newport City Council 31 0.20 
Pembrokeshire County Council 28 0.22 
Powys County Council 38 0.29 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 40 0.17 
Swansea Council 73 0.30 
Torfaen County Borough Council 12 0.13 
Vale of Glamorgan Council 39 0.29 
Wrexham County Borough Council 43 0.32 
Total 776 0.25 

   
* inc 2 Rent Smart Wales   

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 224



 

 
 

Page 5 of 9 
 

  
 

Appendix B - Received by Subject 
 

Denbighshire County Council 

Complaints 
Received 

% 
Share 

Adult Social Services 1 3% 
Benefits Administration 2 6% 
Children's Social Services 6 19% 
Community Facilities, Recreation and Leisure 0 0% 
Complaints Handling 5 16% 
Covid19 2 6% 
Education 2 6% 
Environment and Environmental Health 4 13% 
Finance and Taxation 1 3% 
Housing 1 3% 
Licensing 0 0% 
Planning and Building Control 3 9% 
Roads and Transport 2 6% 
Various Other 3 9% 
Total 32  

 
 
 

P
age 225



Page 6 of 9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Appendix C - Complaint Outcomes 
(* denotes intervention) 

 
 

County/County Borough Councils Out of 
Jurisdiction Premature 

Other cases 
closed after 

initial 
consideration

Early 
Resolution/ 
voluntary 

settlement*

Discontinued
Other 

Reports- 
Not Upheld

Other 
Reports 
Upheld*

Public 
Interest 
Report*

Total

Denbighshire County Council 7 13 9 2 0 0 0 0 31
% Share 23% 42% 29% 6% 0% 0% 0% 0%

P
age 226



 

 
 

Page 7 of 9 
 

  
 

 
Appendix D - Cases with PSOW Intervention 
 

  
No. of 
interventions 

No. of 
closures 

% of 
interventions 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 1 17 6% 
Bridgend County Borough Council 2 30 7% 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 3 45 7% 
Cardiff Council 26 100 26% 
Cardiff Council - Rent Smart Wales 0 2 0% 
Carmarthenshire County Council 6 29 21% 
Ceredigion County Council 4 31 13% 
Conwy County Borough Council 5 31 16% 
Denbighshire County Council 2 31 6% 
Flintshire County Council 11 62 18% 
Gwynedd Council 5 27 19% 
Isle of Anglesey County Council 1 17 6% 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 0 14 0% 
Monmouthshire County Council 1 19 5% 
Neath Port Talbot Council 1 17 6% 
Newport City Council 5 29 17% 
Pembrokeshire County Council 3 26 12% 
Powys County Council 4 47 9% 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 2 43 5% 
Swansea Council 9 67 13% 
Torfaen County Borough Council 0 11 0% 
Vale of Glamorgan Council 5 38 13% 
Wrexham County Borough Council 6 48 13% 
Total 102 781 13% 

Page 227



 

 
 

Page 8 of 9 
 

  
 

 
Appendix E - Code of Conduct Complaints 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix F - Town/Community Council Code of Complaints 

 

County/County Borough Councils Discontinued No evidence 
of breach

No action 
necessary

Refer to 
Adjudication 

Panel

Refer to 
Standards 
Committee

Withdrawn Total

Denbighshire County Council 0 3 0 0 1 0 4

Town/Community Council Discontinued No evidence 
of breach

No action 
necessary

Refer to 
Adjudication 

Panel

Refer to 
Standards 
Committee

Withdrawn Total

Llanferres Community Council 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
Llangollen Town Council 0 2 0 0 0 1 3
Rhuddlan Town Council 0 0 0 0 0 1 1
Ruthin Town Council 0 3 0 0 0 0 3

P
age 228



 

 
 

Page 9 of 9 
 

  
 

Information Sheet 
 
Appendix A shows the number of complaints received by PSOW for all Local Authorities in 2020/2021. These complaints are 
contextualised by the number of people each health board reportedly serves. 
 
Appendix B shows the categorisation of each complaint received, and what proportion of received complaints represents for 
the Local Authority. 
 
Appendix C shows outcomes of the complaints which PSOW closed for the Local Authority in 2020/2021. This table shows 
both the volume, and the proportion that each outcome represents for the Local Authority. 
 
Appendix D shows Intervention Rates for all Local Authorities in 2020/2021. An intervention is categorised by either an upheld 
complaint (either public interest or non-public interest), an early resolution, or a voluntary settlement. 
 
Appendix E shows the outcomes of Code Of Conduct complaints closed by PSOW related to Local Authority in 
2020/2021.This table shows both the volume, and the proportion that each outcome represents for the Local Authority. 
 
Appendix F shows the outcomes of Code of Conduct complaints closed by PSOW related to Town and Community Councils 
in the Local Authority’s area. This table shows both the volume, and the proportion that each outcome represents for each 
Town or Community Council. 
 
 

P
age 229



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Governance and Audit Committee 

Date of report 16th March 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill / Steve Gadd, Head of Finance 

and Property 

Report author Steve Gadd, Head of Finance and Property 

Title Annual Audit Summary, from Audit Wales  

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1  The Annual Audit Summary for Denbighshire County Council produced by Audit 

Wales and sent to the Leader and Chief Executive of the Council.  

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1  To introduce for information the Annual Audit Summary for Denbighshire County 

Council, from Audit Wales (Appendix 1). The Annual Audit Summary shows the work 

completed since the last Annual Audit Summary, which was issued in February 2021. The 

audit summary forms part of the Auditor General for Wales’ duties. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1  It is recommended that CGC note the Annual Audit Summary for Denbighshire County 

Council, from Audit Wales. 

4. Report details 

4.1  The report is to introduce the Annual Audit Summary to the Committee. Audit Wales 

will be present at the meeting to present the findings and central messages. DCC 

welcomes the summary and looks forward to continue the excellent working relationship 

we have with our External Auditors. 

Page 231

Agenda Item 11



5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1  The provision of timely and accurate financial information contributes to the 

modernising of the council to deliver efficiencies and allows residents to scrutinise the 

Council’s activities. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1  There are no additional cost implications as a result of this report.   

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1  It is the professional judgement of the Head of Education and Section 151 Officer that 

a Well-being Impact Assessment is not required for this report.  

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1  Audit Wales work closely with DCC throughout the audit process and DCC are kept 

fully up to date with any issues that arise from Audit Wales audit work.   

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1  The production of the Annual Audit Summary is the final part of providing assurance 

that the Statement of Accounts for the preceding year provides a true and fair view of 

financial position of the Council. It’s pleasing to note again that the audit was unqualified.  

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1  The ultimate risk is that the Statement of Accounts are not produced on time, or that 

they are produced with material and/or significant errors in them which would result in 

WAO qualifying the accounts. Such an outcome would have severe adverse reputational 

impact on DCC. 

10.2 The report itself helps minimise the risk that the Council fails in its responsibilities to 

ensure continuous improvement, value for money, sustainable development and proper 

accounting for money by reporting any concerns that Audit Wales have on an annual 

basis. 

Page 232



11. Power to make the decision 

The report summarises the key messages arising from WAO’s statutory responsibilities 

under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and their reporting responsibilities under the 

Code of Audit Practice. In particular the 2004 Act requires WAO to  

• provide an audit opinion on the accounting statements; 

• review the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources; and 

• issue a certificate confirming that they have completed the audit of the accounts. 

 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

About the Council 

Some of the services the Council provides 

 

Key facts 

The Council is made up of 47 councillors who represent the following political parties: 
• Welsh Conservatives 15 
• Independent 11 
• Labour 11 
• Plaid Cymru – The Party of Wales 10 

The Council spent £203 million on providing services1 during 2020-21, the 16th highest 
spending of the 22 unitary councils in Wales. 

 
1 We define spending on services as the cost of services charged to the general fund from the 
Expenditure Funding Analysis, less any Housing Revenue Account cost of services, plus 
precepts, levies and debt interest. 

Denbighshire County Council 
Annual Audit Summary 2021 

This is our audit summary for Denbighshire County Council. 
It shows the work completed since the last Annual Audit Summary, 
which was issued in February 2021. Our audit summary forms part 
of the Auditor General for Wales’ duties. 

 
More information about these duties can be found on our website. 
 

Page 235

https://www.audit.wales/


 

Key facts 

As at 31 March 2021, the Council had £48.9 million of useable financial reserves2. This is 
equivalent to 24.1% of the Council’s annual spending on services, the 12th highest percentage 
of the 22 unitary councils in Wales3. 

Denbighshire County Council has seven (12%) of its 58 areas deemed the most deprived 10% 
of areas in Wales, this is the seventh highest of the 22 unitary councils in Wales 4. 

The population of Denbighshire is projected to increase by 2.8% between 2020 and 2040 from 
95,655 to 98,365, including a 9.1% decrease in the number of children, a 4.8% decrease in the 
number of the working-age population and a 29.4% increase in the number of people aged 65 
and over5. 

The Auditor General’s duties 

We completed work during 2020-21 to meet the following 
duties 
• Continuous improvement 

The Council had to put in place arrangements to make continuous improvements, 
including related plans and reports, and the Auditor General had to assess whether the 
Council met these requirements during 2020-21. 

• Audit of Accounts 
Each year the Auditor General audits the Council’s financial statements to make sure 
that public money is being properly accounted for. 

• Value for money 
The Auditor General examines whether the Council has put in place arrangements to 
get value for money for the resources it uses, and he has to be satisfied that it has done 
this. 

• Sustainable development principle 
Public bodies need to comply with the sustainable development principle when setting 
and taking steps to meet their well-being objectives. The Auditor General must assess 
the extent to which they are doing this. 

 
2 We define useable financial reserves as reserves usable for revenue costs, where the 
purpose is not protected by law. This is the total of the general fund, earmarked reserves and 
schools balances. It excludes Housing Revenue Account reserves, capital receipts and capital 
grants unapplied.  
3 Source: 2020-21 Statement of Accounts 
4 An area in this context is defined as a ‘Lower Super Output Area’. Source: Stats Wales 
5 Source: Stats Wales Page 236



 

We continue to recognise the huge strain on public services 
and to work in a way that seeks to reduce the impact on public 
bodies’ response to COVID-19, while still meeting our statutory 
duties. 

What we found 
Audit of Denbighshire County Council’s 2020-21 Accounts 
Each year we audit the Council’s financial statements. 

For 2020-21: 
• the Auditor General gave an unqualified true and fair opinion on the Council’s group 

financial statements on 29 November 2021. 
• the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report were prepared in line 

with the CIPFA Code and relevant guidance. They were also consistent with the 
financial statements prepared by the Council and with our knowledge of the Council. 

• the quality of the draft statements presented for audit on 2 August 2021 was generally 
good. 

• a number of uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements arising from our 
audit work were reported to the Governance and Audit Committee in our Audit of 
Financial Statements Report in November 2021. 

• in addition to the Auditor General’s responsibilities for auditing the Council’s financial 
statements, he also has responsibility for the certification of a number of grant claims 
and returns. Our work to date has not identified any significant issues. 

• the Auditor General issued the certificate confirming that the audit of accounts for 2020-
21 has been completed.  

Our work in response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we changed the approach and focus of our 
performance audit work in local government and other bodies. Below is a summary of some of 
the work we have undertaken in response to the pandemic across a number of sectors, much 
of which is of relevance to local government.  

 
To meet the Auditor General’s duties we complete specific 
projects, but we also rely on other audit work, and the work 
of regulators such as Care Inspectorate Wales and Estyn 
(the education inspectorate). We take the findings of our 
audit work into account when assessing whether the Council 
has put in place arrangements to secure value for money. 
Our findings and conclusions are summarised below. 

Page 237



 

We undertook a project to support public sector efforts by sharing learning through the 
pandemic. The project aims to help prompt some thinking, and practise exchange. Further 
information is available on our website.  
In March 2021, we published a national report setting out an overview of progress to date on 
Test, Trace, Protect in Wales. In December 2020, we also published some observations of the 
Auditor General on procurement and supply of PPE during the COVID-19 pandemic, followed 
by a report in April 2021. In June 2021, we also published our report on the rollout of the 
COVID-19 vaccination programme in Wales.  

Continuous improvement 
The Auditor General certified that the Council had met its remaining Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009 duties for the financial year 2020-21, as saved by an order made under 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 
As part of our examination of councils’ performance assessments covering the 2020-21 
financial year, we noted a reduced reference to comparative performance information although 
we recognise that the pandemic led to the suspension of some national data collection. The 
ability to compare data and performance with other organisations will continue to be an 
important element of arrangements to secure value for money and will be a challenge for 
councils to consider particularly as they continue to implement the requirements relating to 
self-assessment set out in the Local Government and Elections Act (Wales) 2021. 

Financial sustainability 
During 2020-21, we examined the financial sustainability of each council in Wales. In 
Denbighshire County Council we concluded that the Council is well placed to maintain its 
financial sustainability over the medium term – it has a good track record of managing its 
budget and continues to work to further improve its financial position. 
We also published two national summary reports: the first report in October 2020 and the 
second report in September 2021. Financial sustainability report for 2021. 

Recovery planning 
Denbighshire County Council’s recovery from the impact of the pandemic benefited from 
proactive engagement at both a regional and local level and the Council’s planning and 
decision-making processes showed strong and consistent collective leadership. The Council’s 
approach to recovery benefited from positive officer/member relations and addressed the 
challenges posed by the pandemic. Some actions taken during the response to the crisis, 
such maintaining a focus on its climate change ambitions and well-established financial 
reporting arrangements were particularly positive.   
North Wales Economic Ambition Board – Progress Review of the North Wales Growth Deal: 
During 2020-21, we sought to answer the question: ‘In delivering its overall goals, is the North 
Wales Economic Ambition Board (NWEAB) ready and able to adjust to meet the changing 
economic circumstances?’ The NWEAB is made up of representatives from the six North 
Wales councils. We concluded in our report that the NWEAB has clear and established 
governance arrangements and is supported by a developing Portfolio Management Office; 
external factors may impact on the planned ambitions and NWEAB is adapting to 
accommodate these.  Page 238

https://www.wao.gov.uk/our-work/covid-19
https://www.wao.gov.uk/our-work/covid-19
https://www.audit.wales/publication/test-trace-protect-wales-overview-progress-date
https://www.audit.wales/publication/procurement-and-supply-ppe-during-covid-19-pandemic
https://www.audit.wales/publication/procuring-and-supplying-ppe-covid-19-pandemic
https://www.wao.gov.uk/publication/rollout-covid-19-vaccination-programme-wales
https://www.audit.wales/publication/financial-sustainability-local-government-result-covid-19-pandemic
https://www.audit.wales/publication/financial-sustainability-local-government-covid-impact-recovery-and-future-challenges
https://www.audit.wales/publication/denbighshire-county-council-financial-sustainability-assessment-1
https://www.audit.wales/publication/north-wales-economic-ambition-board-progress-review-north-wales-growth-deal


 

Delivering Environmental Ambitions 
During 2020-21, we reviewed whether the Council was making clear progress on delivering its 
environmental ambitions to become a net carbon zero and ecologically positive Council by 
2030. We concluded in our report that the Council is making excellent progress in embedding 
its environmental ambitions. We noted that the Council has moved quickly to embed its 
environmental ambitions in its strategic planning frameworks, it is communicating its ambitions 
well and has put baseline measures in place using an established performance framework. 
The full cost of the ambition is not yet known, more comprehensive stakeholder mapping 
would further strengthen engagement, and reporting over the next year will help the 
environmental ambitions to embed and the measures to evolve. 

Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements  
During 2020-21, we examined whether North Wales councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board (the Health Board) as partners in the Regional Partnership Board were 
collaborating effectively in the strategic commissioning of older people’s care home 
placements. We concluded in our report that partners are working individually and collectively 
to provide care home placements for vulnerable service users. This is made more difficult by 
complex national processes, resulting in a significant focus on costs, which causes division 
amongst partners and has the potential to impact adversely on service users and their 
families. Strengthening accountability and developing a regional strategy and delivery plan 
have the potential to drive positive change and better partnership working, especially in 
relation to complex and more specialist care. 
In concluding this work, we recognised that responsibility for the current challenges in the 
commissioning arrangements was widespread. The Welsh Government sets the national 
framework which is complex, and local partners have responsibility for the way that national 
policy and guidance are implemented. We have therefore reported locally to councils and the 
Health Board, and nationally to the Welsh Government, recommending actions that these 
bodies should take.  

Other inspectorates 
We also took into account Assurance Check findings undertaken by Care Inspectorate Wales 
(CIW) and Estyn reports as well as any subsequent actions taken by the Council in response. 
CIW and Healthcare Inspectorate Wales published their joint National review of the use of 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) in Wales. They identified a number of key findings 
and recommendations in their report. In November 2021, CIW also published its national 
overview report of assurance checks in Wales and Let me flourish, a national review of early 
help, care and support and transition for disabled children in Wales. 
In November 2021, CIW published its Assurance Check letter for the Council which 
summarises the findings of the CIW assurance check carried out in June and July 2021.The 
purpose of this assurance check is to review how well the Council’s social services continue to 
help and support adults and children with a focus on safety and well-being. CIW have 
identified strengths and areas for priority improvement and they will review the progress of 
these areas through their performance evaluation review meetings with the Council’s heads of 
service and director. CIW expects the areas of improvement they have identified to be 
included in the Council’s improvement plans. There were no other Denbighshire County 

Page 239

https://www.audit.wales/publication/denbighshire-county-council-delivering-environmental-ambitions
https://www.audit.wales/publication/north-wales-councils-and-betsi-cadwaladr-university-health-board-commissioning-older
https://careinspectorate.wales/deprivation-liberty-safeguards-annual-monitoring-report-health-and-social-care-2018-19
https://careinspectorate.wales/national-overview-report-assurance-checks
https://careinspectorate.wales/national-overview-report-assurance-checks
https://careinspectorate.wales/211129-we-have-published-let-me-flourish-our-national-review-early-help-care-and-support-and-transition
https://careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2021-11/211104-denbighshire-en.pdf


 

Council inspections in this period, but Estyn has resumed its inspection of local schools in 
Denbighshire, and services that are registered with CIW in Denbighshire are subject to regular 
review. 

Local government studies 
As well as local work at each council, each year we also carry out studies across the local 
government sector to make recommendations for improving value for money. Since the last 
annual improvement report, we have published the following reports:  

Discretionary services (April 2021) 
Financial pressures have led to councils reducing spending and cutting services, but the 
pandemic has shown local government services are essential to keeping people safe and 
healthy. We focussed on how councils define services, the systems and processes they have 
used to review services and how robust these are. Demand for some essential services is 
continuing to increase and councils are not confident that they can continue to deliver these 
services in the face of this rising and complex demand. Councils need to take the opportunity 
to refresh, revaluate and reset what they do and to learn from the pandemic to build a better 
future. Our report was published in April 2021. 

Regenerating town centres in Wales (September 2021) 
Between 1950 and 1980, local authorities prioritised regeneration of town centres creating 
new and greater retail space. However, past policy choices, changing consumer expectations 
and technological advances are now adversely affecting many Welsh town centres. And the 
pandemic has created challenges for local government and central government, with one in 
seven shops on Welsh high streets now empty, despite the Welsh Government investing and 
levering in £892.6 million in the last seven years. Local authorities do not have the capacity to 
respond to this situation and are not always using the powers they have to help regenerate 
towns. To deliver the best local outcomes, policies and joint working need to be aligned and 
integrated, and resources prioritised on town centres. Our report was published in September 
2021.  

Planned work for 2021-22 
We also looked at the key challenges and opportunities facing the Council. These could have 
an effect on the Council’s ability to meet its legal obligations in relation to the sustainable 
development principle and the use of its resources. 
The most significant risk and issue facing councils and the wider public sector during 2021-22 
continues to be the COVID-19 pandemic. We have shaped our work to provide assurance and 
challenge in a way which helps to support the Council through this period. Our planned work 
for 2021-22 includes: 

• Assurance and risk assessment including a focus on: 
‒ The Local Government and Elections Act (Wales) 2021 
‒ Recovery planning 
‒ Carbon reduction plans 

Page 240

https://audit.wales/publication/your-discretion-local-government-discretionary-services
https://www.audit.wales/publication/regenerating-town-centres-wales


 

‒ Self-assessment arrangements 
‒ Financial position 

• Springing Forward – as the world moves forward, learning from the pandemic, 
this review looks at how effectively councils are strengthening their ability to 
transform, adapt and maintain the delivery of services, including those delivered 
in partnership with key stakeholders and communities. 

• Driving sustainable improvement – this review looks at whether the Council’s 
performance management arrangements are supporting the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities, with opportunities to strengthen arrangements in 
some areas. 

• Improvement reporting. 
  

Page 241



 

 

 

 
The Auditor General is independent of government, and is appointed by Her Majesty the Queen. 
The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales 
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the 
Auditor General. The Wales Audit Office is held to account by the Senedd. 
The Auditor General audits local government bodies in Wales, including unitary authorities, police, 
fire and rescue authorities, national parks, and community councils. He also conducts local 
government value for money studies, assesses compliance with the remaining requirements of the 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and may undertake special inspections under the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 
Beyond local government, the Auditor General is the external auditor of the Welsh Government 
and its sponsored and related public bodies, the Senedd Commission, and National Health 
Service bodies in Wales. 
Audit Wales is the non-statutory collective name for the Auditor General for Wales and the 
Wales Audit Office, which are separate legal entities with their own legal functions, as described 
above. Audit Wales is not a legal entity. 
We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh 
will not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni 
fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

This document is also available in Welsh. 

Page 242



Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – contact officer 

 

27 April 22 
Cancelled 

1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny 
Committees (if any) 

To receive and issues 
raised at Scrutiny 

 
Rhian Evans – Scrutiny Co-
ordinator 

 2 Recent External Regulatory Reports 
Received (if any) 

To consider any reports 
received 

 
Head of Business 
Improvement & 
Modernisation– Alan Smith 

 3 Forward Work Programme 
  

Democratic Services 

  
    

  Reports 
   

      

 

8 June 22 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny 
Committees (if any) 

To receive and issues 
raised at Scrutiny 

 
Rhian Evans – Scrutiny Co-
ordinator 

 2 Recent External Regulatory Reports 
Received (if any) 

To consider any reports 
received 

 
Head of Business 
Improvement & 
Modernisation– Alan Smith 

 3 Internal Audit Update To update committee 
on Internal Audit’s 
latest progress 

 
Cllr Julian Thompson Hill / 
Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

 4 Forward Work Programme   Democratic Services 

  Reports     
5 Council Performance Self-

Assessment 
To consider a report on 
the Council’s 
Performance , Self- 
Assessment 

 
Strategic Planning & 
Performance Team Leader - 
Iolo McGregor 

 6 Internal Audit Annual report To receive the annual 
Internal Audit report 

 
Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

 7 Draft Annual Governance Statement To consider the draft 
Governance Statement 

 Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

P
age 243

A
genda Item

 12



Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – contact officer 

 8 Internal Audit Strategy 2022/23 To receive the annual 
audit strategy report.  

 Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

 9 CIW Inspection Report – Children’s 
Services 

To receive an update 
report 

 Rhiain – Morrlle – Head of 
Children’s Services 

 10 Care Inspectorate Wales – 
Assurance Check 2021- Update 

To receive an update 
report on the actions 
(Confirm if ready) 

 Nicola Stubbins – Corporate 
Director  

 11 2020-21 Certification of grants and 
returns 

To receive the 
summary of the key 
outcomes from WAO’s 
certification work on the 
Council’s 2020/21 
grants and returns. 

 Head of Finance – Steve 
Gadd 

 12 Annual Plan 2022   Head of Finance – Steve 
Gadd 

 13 Delivering Sustainable Improvement    Nicola Kneale – Strategic 
Planning Team Manager 

      

27 July 22 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny 
Committees (if any) 

To receive and issues 
raised at Scrutiny 

 Rhian Evans – Scrutiny Co-
ordinator 

 2 Recent External Regulatory Reports 
Received (if any) 

To consider any reports 
received 

 Head of Business 
Improvement & 
Modernisation– Alan Smith 

 3 Forward Work Programme   Democratic Services 

      

  Reports    

 4 Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22 To receive an overview 
of the draft Statement 
of Accounts 2021/22  

 Head of Finance – Steve 
Gadd 

P
age 244



Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – contact officer 

 

 5 Treasury Management ( TM Review 
Report 2021/22 /TM Update Report 
2022/23) 

The receive the annual 
Treasury Management 
Report 2021/22 

 Head of Finance – Steve 
Gadd 

 6 Follow up report – Internal Audit 
Contract Management 

To receive an update 
following a low 
assurance Internal 
Audit review 

 Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

 7 Follow up report – Internal Audit- 
Exceptions and Exemptions 

To receive an update 
following a low 
assurance Internal 
Audit review 

 Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

 8 Annual RIPA report To receive the annual 
RIPA report 

 Gary Williams, Head of Legal, 
HR & Democratic Services 

 9 Update report on the uptake of 
Proactis 

To receive a service 
update report on the 
use of Proactis. 

 Lisa Jones –Legal Services 
Manager 

21 Sept 22 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny 
Committees (if any) 

To receive and issues 
raised at Scrutiny 

 Rhian Evans – Scrutiny Co-
ordinator 

 2 Recent External Regulatory Reports 
Received (if any) 

To consider any reports 
received 

 Head of Business 
Improvement & 
Modernisation– Alan Smith 

 3 Internal Audit Update To update committee 
on Internal Audit’s 
latest progress 

 Cllr Julian Thompson Hill / 
Lisa Lovegrove – Chief 
Internal Auditor 

 4 Forward Work Programme   Democratic Services 

  Reports    

 5 Annual Corporate Health and Safety 
report  

To consider the Health 
& Safety management 

 Corporate Health and Safety 
Manager – Gerry Lapington 

P
age 245



Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – contact officer 

within DCC during 
2021-2022. 

 6 Fire Safety Report  To receive the annual 
report  on the Fire 
Safety programme and 
performance. 

 Fire Safety Manager – Dawn 
Jones 

 7 Approval of the Statement of 
Accounts 2021/22 

To receive the audited 
accounts  
 

Yes Head of Finance – Steve 
Gadd 

 8 Audit of Accounts Report 2021-22   Head of Finance – Steve 
Gadd 

 9 Follow up – Project Management of 
Queen’s building Rhyl 

To receive a follow up 
report following a low 
assurance Internal 
Audit review.  

 Lisa Lovegrove - Chief 
Internal Auditor 

23 Nov 22 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny 
Committees (if any) 

To receive and issues 
raised at Scrutiny 

 Rhian Evans – Scrutiny Co-
ordinator 

 2 Recent External Regulatory Reports 
Received (if any) 

To consider any reports 
received 

 Head of Business 
Improvement & 
Modernisation– Alan Smith 

 3 Forward Work Programme   Democratic Services 

      

  Reports    

 4 Corporate Risk Register To receive a review of 
the Corporate Risk 
Register. 

 Strategic Planning & 
Performance Team Leader - 
Iolo McGregor 

      

      

 

P
age 246



 

FUTURE ITEMS 
1 

Updated Action plan from the Whistleblowing 
Report 

Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 

 2 The Local Government Act Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 

    

 
 
NB The exact date of publication of occasional reports by for example Wales Audit Office or Annual Reports by the Ombudsman 
are not presently known.  They will be assigned a meeting date as soon as practicable. 
 
 
Date Updated : 22/02/2022 SJ 
 

P
age 247



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Delivering Sustained Performance 
Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 
Audit year: 2021-22 

Date issued: January 2022 

Document reference: 2784A2022-23 

 

Page 249

Agenda Item 13



 

 

This document has been prepared for the internal use of Denbighshire County Council as part of work 
performed/ in accordance with Section 17 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and Section 15 of the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015. 

No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General or the staff of Audit Wales in relation to any member, 
director, officer or other employee in their individual capacity, or to any third party. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention is 
drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  
The section 45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 
General for Wales and Audit Wales are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding disclosure or 
re-use of this document should be sent to Audit Wales at info.officer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.  

 
 

Page 250

mailto:info.officer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

The Council’s performance management arrangements are supporting the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities, with opportunities to strengthen arrangements in some 
areas.  

Summary report 4 

Detailed report 7 

The Council’s performance management arrangements are supporting the delivery of  
the Council’s corporate priorities, with opportunities to strengthen arrangements in  
some areas 7 

The Council has an effective performance management framework in place 7 

The Council’s arrangements for measuring and reporting performance are  
effective with some opportunities for improving its performance management 
software 8 

The Council has good arrangements for reporting on performance against its 
priorities but could improve its performance reporting in non-priority areas and 
report financial and performance data together 9 

 

Page 251



Summary report 

Page 4 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

Summary 

What we reviewed and why 
1 Performance management provides an opportunity to plan for improvements, 

measure success, learn from the experience and drive improvement. Done well it 
is a positive experience – done badly it can promote blame and a culture where 
poor performance is hidden and kept from those who can support and drive 
improvement. 

2 The Council’s performance management framework aims to help managers and 
councillors deliver improvement, demonstrate that they are delivering efficient and 
effective services and use resources effectively. Performance management is an 
integral part of the Council’s approach to driving sustainable improvement.  

3 In December 2019, an Internal Audit report on performance management gave a 
rating of high assurance overall. The report concluded that the performance 
management framework within the Council was managed well, and appropriate 
support was available. No major or critical risks were identified in the report. 

4 Although the Council has a good track record of managing performance, it does 
face some significant challenges. The Council’s Annual Performance Review 2020-
21 shows that delivery against performance indicators is mixed with some rated as 
‘good’ or ‘acceptable’ and many shown as being ‘priorities for improvement’. A lack 
of data in some areas makes comparisons difficult. Whilst officers have prioritised 
dealing with the recent COVID-19 pandemic (the pandemic), which will affect 
performance in many service areas, it is important that the performance 
management arrangements continue to provide assurance and alert managers 
about variations around delivery of core services and outcomes.  

5 The impact on the Council’s ‘business as usual’ because of the pandemic has 
been considerable. Many services changed and adapted in response to the 
pandemic. The Council has been redefining, ‘business as usual’ recognising that 
the pandemic may also have changed demand for services and the ways in which 
the Council delivers them.  

6 The Council has reviewed its priorities because of the pandemic but decided they 
remain unchanged. The Council also established a separate set of COVID 
recovery priorities which it has now either achieved or will form part of its New 
Ways of Working project.  

7 Our review took place between June 2021 and September 2021, and involved 
document reviews, interviews and focus groups with officers and councillors, and 
virtual meeting observations. The review focussed on the Council’s corporate 
performance management arrangements and examined Environmental and Young 
People’s services as tracers to evidence how the corporate arrangements were 
being deployed in service areas.  

Page 252



 

Page 5 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

What we found 
8 Our review sought to answer the question: Are the Council’s performance 

management arrangements robust and likely to support continuous and 
sustainable improvement as it rebalances from the impact of COVID-19?  

9 Overall, we found that: The Council’s performance management arrangements 
are supporting the delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities, with 
opportunities to strengthen arrangements in some areas. We reached this 
conclusion because: 
• The Council has an effective performance management framework in place 
• The Council’s arrangements for measuring and reporting performance are 

effective with some opportunities for improving its performance management 
software 

• The Council has good arrangements for reporting on performance against its 
priorities but could improve its performance reporting in non-priority areas 
and report financial and performance data together 

Recommendations 

Exhibit 1: recommendations 

The table below sets out the recommendations that we have identified following this 
review. 

Recommendations 

R1 The Council should consider how it can better support staff to use the Verto 
system. It needs to: 
• review the content and frequency of the training and support available to 

staff; and 
• consider whether the new Verto contract allows it to make the system 

more user friendly.  

R2 The Council needs to present financial and performance information 
simultaneously, to provide elected members and officers with greater 
understanding and context of the links between performance and spend/cost.  

Page 253



 

Page 6 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

Recommendations 

R3 The Council should ensure it has a consistent corporate approach to 
monitoring performance in areas that are not covered by Corporate Plan and 
Service Plan priorities.  

R4 The Council needs to ensure that staff one-to-one meetings are taking place 
as planned and are being accurately recorded in a timely manner.  

 

Page 254



Detailed report 

Page 7 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

The Council’s performance management 
arrangements are supporting the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities, with opportunities 
to strengthen arrangements in some areas  

The Council has an effective performance management 
framework in place 
10 The Council’s priorities are set out in its Corporate Plan 2017-2022. Each priority is 

supported by defined actions and expected outcomes. The five priorities are: 
• Everyone is supported to live in homes that meet their needs 
• Communities are connected and have access to goods and services locally, 

online and through good transport links  
• The Council works with people and communities to build independence and 

resilience 
• The environment is attractive and protected, supporting wellbeing and 

economic prosperity 
• Younger people want to live and work here and have the skills to do so 

11 The Council has a clear and transparent process to set targets for each priority 
area which considers all-Wales performance data. If the Council’s performance is 
in the upper quartile compared to other councils in Wales it is categorised as 
‘excellent’. If the Council’s performance is between median and upper quartile it will 
be categorised as either ‘good’ or ‘acceptable’ performance and if the Council’s 
performance is below the all-Wales median it is categorised as a ‘priority for 
improvement’. However, the publication of fewer national data sets in recent years 
has challenged this methodology. Where national comparator data is not available, 
targets are set following discussions between heads of service and performance 
officers about what represents an acceptable level of performance. Inevitably, this 
process is more subjective. Councils will need to ensure that a suitable range of 
comparator information is available, if not nationally then regionally in the future, as 
it is an important component of self-evaluation/self-assessment. 

12 Each service has a service plan that supports delivery of the corporate plan 
priorities. Service plans are agreed annually and rarely change significantly from 
year to year because they are linked to the corporate priorities, which are set for a 
five-year period. Service plans set out an overview of the service and the outcomes 
the service is aiming to achieve. The plans include the performance indicators, 
measures and activities that will be used to assess progress against achievement 
of the objectives. Each outcome is allocated a red, amber, or green (RAG) rating, 
which indicates the level of improvement needed, and these are updated when the 
service plans are reported each quarter. Service plan reports are considered as 

Page 255



 

Page 8 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

part of the service challenge process, although this has not taken place in the 
usual way during the pandemic. 

13 The Council’s Strategic Planning Team supports managers with the development 
of service plans. The process takes account of intended outcomes, indicators, and 
targets for performance. This process typically begins in December, with the plan 
being agreed by the Head of Service and lead portfolio members by the beginning 
of the next financial year.  

14 Both the Education and Children’s Services plan and the Highways and 
Environmental Services plans support delivery of their relevant corporate priority 
although the links could be clearer. The Highways and Environmental Services 
plan references the Corporate Plan priorities but does not explicitly set out how the 
service plan objectives link to the Corporate Plan. The Education and Children’s 
Services plan does not explicitly reference the Corporate Plan, although it is 
apparent that the service priorities are linked to the Corporate Plan objective 
‘Younger people want to live and work here and have the skills to do so’. 

15 Targets for the service plans are reviewed annually, in June or July by Senior 
Leadership Team and Cabinet, supported by performance officers. If a target has 
been met easily, or if a target is no longer achievable, it can be revised as part of 
this process. 
To link delivery of performance of corporate and service priorities to individual staff, 
the Council uses monthly one-to-one meetings, instead of an annual appraisal 
process. Officers we spoke to during this review were positive about this 
methodology, as the monthly one-to-one meetings were said to be more effective 
in terms of managing staff and their performance. However, in Education and 
Children’s Services and Highways and Environmental Services, the percentage of 
staff who had at least three one-to-one meetings in the last 12 months was 
assessed as ‘red’. Officers believed this was a recording issue rather than an 
actual reflection of the frequency of one-to-one meetings.  

The Council’s arrangements for measuring and managing 
performance are effective with some opportunities for 
improving its performance management software 
16 Where performance is below the Welsh median, as noted above, it is categorised 

as red and triggers higher levels of scrutiny at a senior level. If performance is 
above the median or in the first quartile, it is categorised as amber or green and no 
further consideration is required.  

17 The Council collates and records performance data using a bespoke performance 
management software system, called Verto which has many advantages over 
more generic software. For example, Verto can generate reports directly, and has 
greater stability when dealing with large data sets. However, many managers told 
us that they found Verto difficult to use. Internal Audit also identified difficulties 

Page 256



 

Page 9 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

using and navigating the system as a risk in their December 2019 report on 
performance management.  

18 Many staff only use Verto quarterly to provide the data used to report on 
performance to Senior Leadership Team and Cabinet. As a result, they have 
limited opportunities to become familiar with the system. Staff we spoke to did not 
consider Verto to be intuitive and described needing to take several steps to 
access the relevant section, which can be difficult for users to remember. The 
Council has provided staff training and made user guides available. The guides are 
available on Verto and also bilingually on the Council’s intranet. We spoke to 
officers who had attended training, but still found the system difficult to use. 
Corporate performance officers are available to assist, but clearly it is more 
efficient if users can do their work independently.  

19 Due to the length of time that Verto has been in place, (approximately seven years) 
the Council recently completed a tendering exercise for performance management 
software. The Council concluded that Verto continues to offer the Council the best 
functionality and value for money. The Council will therefore continue to use Verto, 
with some additional developer time incorporated into the new contract. 

20 Having decided to continue to use Verto, the Council has an opportunity to reflect 
on the experience of staff using the system. By engaging with staff, the Council will 
better understand what additional support officers might benefit from and whether 
this can be accommodated with the additional developer time in the new contract. 
This could result in performance data being added to the system and accessed 
more easily and efficiently.  

The Council has good arrangements for reporting on 
performance against its priorities but could improve its 
performance reporting in non-priority areas and report 
financial and performance data together 
21 Performance against the corporate plan and service plan priorities is reviewed 

quarterly by Senior Leadership Team, by Cabinet and by the Performance Scrutiny 
Committee. The reports are publicly available as part of the scrutiny committee and 
Cabinet agenda papers. The reports provide a narrative update on progress 
against the priorities and report performance on specific measures. The reports 
include whether current performance indicates the measures should be a priority 
for improvement, acceptable, good or excellent. Whilst the information provided is 
comprehensive, it could be presented in a more visual way, for example, with the 
use of charts, tables, and colour coding to highlight variations between the target 
and actual performance.  

22 The Council’s Performance Scrutiny Committee meets every six weeks. The 
Committee considers the performance reports prior to their consideration by 
Cabinet. It also looks at items such as the Director of Social Services’ Annual Plan, 

Page 257



 

Page 10 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

the corporate risk register, Library standards and other service specific strategies 
and plans.  

23 Where cabinet and scrutiny committee members request further clarification as 
part of the quarterly performance reporting process, the explanation for poor 
performance and remedial action can be discussed at the time. Where further 
clarity or detail is required, but cannot be provided immediately in the meeting, it 
can be reported back to members following the meeting, through the committee 
support officers. Councillors also have the option to add items to the scrutiny 
forward work programme.  

24 The processes the Council has in place to manage and report performance are 
mostly effective but are clearly focussed on Corporate and Service Plan priorities. 
Historically, performance of corporate health areas such as sickness absence, or 
payment of invoices within agreed timescales, has not been reported to Cabinet or 
scrutiny committees and was therefore not accessible to the public. In June 2021, 
the Council added a new set of measures to its Annual Performance Report, which 
included performance in areas such as financial health, customer service, member 
attendance, gender pay and sickness absence. The Council intends that 
subsequent quarterly reports will continue to present this data.  

25 The Council has established an annual service challenge process, where officers, 
Cabinet members and scrutiny chairs consider the performance of a particular 
service area. These service challenge sessions cover all council services and 
provide managers with an opportunity to share important information about their 
services and to be challenged about recent, current, and planned performance. At 
the service challenge sessions, attendees receive an overview of the whole 
service.  

26 For this year, the information provided to councillors was less detailed as the 
intention was to focus on the impact of and response to the pandemic. This means 
that there was less information provided about service level performance. 
Feedback from attendees about the revised approach was positive, as under the 
previous format, some attendees found the level of detail and volume of 
information challenging to absorb and understand.  

27 It is understandable and appropriate that the Council’s response to the pandemic 
will have meant less focus on business as usual. However, when arranging future 
service challenge sessions, the Council will want to consider what information will 
help to facilitate effective challenge and ensure this opportunity to focus on the 
Council’s broader performance is not lost. 

28 Whilst officers report quarterly performance reports to Cabinet alongside finance 
updates and the Annual Performance Report contains some high-level financial 
information, the Council does not effectively align financial and performance 
information in its reporting. Internal Audit identified this as a risk and the Council 
accepts Internal Audit’s findings, although it has not yet acted on the 
recommendation. Demonstrating the link between spending/costs and impact can 
be complex, but that should not prevent the Council from taking a more pragmatic 

Page 258



 

Page 11 of 12 - Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County 
Council 

approach to presenting budget/spend and performance information simultaneously. 
That would allow officers and councillors to see the connection between output/ 
activity and spend and would be a useful step forward from the current situation in 
terms of providing additional context for performance data. 

 

Page 259



 

 

 Audit Wales 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 
Textphone: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 
We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 
galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. 

Page 260

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/


Document is Restricted

Page 261

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes

	5 REVIEW OF COMMISSIONING OLDER PEOPLE'S CARE HOME PLACEMENTS
	220204 Appendix 1
	Project Brief – Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
	Background to the review
	Purpose of the review
	Focus of the review
	Legislative basis for the review
	Main review questions
	Output
	Timetable
	Fieldwork schedule
	Interviews
	Workshops and focus groups
	Meeting observations

	Document request
	Audit Wales contacts
	Fair Processing Notice: Auditor General for Wales


	220204 Appendix 2
	Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements – North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
	Background
	About this report
	Key messages and overall conclusions
	Partners are working together to provide care for vulnerable service users but are carrying significant risks associated with market stability, workforce, and pre-placement agreements, along with a reliance on spot purchasing
	The Regional Partnership Board’s 2018 Market Shaping Statement set out some aspirations for care home commissioning which were added to by the RPB’s response to ‘A Heathier Wales’ in 2019, however, neither of these have driven the development of a cle...
	As previously reported, the current pooled fund arrangement does not provide value for money or any of the intended benefits associated with the pooled fund model
	Whilst the RPB network brings partners together to ‘think regionally’, its structures, largely set out by the Welsh Government, are extensive and complex, and lines of accountability need to be strengthened
	Nationally set fee structures are complex and result in a significant focus on cost which causes division amongst partners and has the potential to impact adversely on service users and their families
	The fees paid for care home placements fluctuate depending on the service user’s own resources, which public body makes the placement and contractual arrangements with providers, and fee rates do not necessarily reflect the complexity of residents’ ca...
	Providers consider the fees paid to be unfair and inequitable
	Commissioners consider they have little control over the fees they pay

	Partners need to do more to demonstrate they are meeting their statutory responsibilities around the Welsh language, and the Well-being of Future Generations Act, when commissioning care homes provision and making individual placements
	The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is not fully embedded in practice
	Service user language requirements are sometimes not protected, leading to communication difficulties

	Recommendations
	Regional Partnership Board structure chart


	220204 Appendix 3
	220204 Appendix 4
	Contents
	Summary report
	Current arrangements for commissioning older people’s care-home placements are not resolving some l

	Recommendations
	Appendices
	Spending on commissioned care-home placements across Wales



	6 CONSTITUTION UPDATE
	App1
	App 2
	APP 3
	APP4.
	APP5
	APP6
	App 7
	App8
	App9
	App10
	App11

	7 CONSTITUTION GUIDE
	Draft Constitution Guide - March 2022

	8 LAY MEMBERS OF GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
	9 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE
	V2Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Update March 2022

	10 ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT 2020-21
	Appendix 1 Complaints & Compliments - Your Voice 2020-21
	Appendix 2 - 2021 Public Ombudsman for Wales' letter to Denbighshire CC

	11 ANNUAL AUDIT SUMMARY
	2760A2021-22_Denbighshire_AAS_2021_Eng
	About the Council
	Some of the services the Council provides

	Denbighshire County Council
	Annual Audit Summary 2021
	The Auditor General’s duties
	We completed work during 2020-21 to meet the following duties

	What we found
	Audit of Denbighshire County Council’s 2020-21 Accounts
	For 2020-21:

	Our work in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
	Continuous improvement
	Financial sustainability
	Recovery planning
	Delivering Environmental Ambitions
	Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements
	Other inspectorates
	Local government studies
	Discretionary services (April 2021)
	Regenerating town centres in Wales (September 2021)
	Planned work for 2021-22



	12 GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT  COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
	13 FOR INFORMATION - AUDIT WALES REPORT
	Delivering Sustained Performance Improvement – Denbighshire County Council
	Summary
	What we reviewed and why
	What we found

	The Council’s performance management arrangements are supporting the delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities, with opportunities to strengthen arrangements in some areas
	The Council has an effective performance management framework in place
	The Council’s arrangements for measuring and managing performance are effective with some opportunities for improving its performance management software
	The Council has good arrangements for reporting on performance against its priorities but could improve its performance reporting in non-priority areas and report financial and performance data together



	14 CYBER SECURITY UPDATE



